Defining local and systemic pathways that influence allergic lung inflammation

A thesis submitted to The University of Manchester for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health

2021

Rossana Azzoni

School of Biological Sciences Division of Infection, Immunity and Respiratory Medicine

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	6
LIST OF TABLES	
ABBREVIATIONS	9
ABSTRACT	13
DECLARATION	14
COPYRIGHT STATEMENT	15
AKNOWLEDGEMENTS	17
CHAPTER 1 – GENERAL INTRODUCTION	18
1.1 The IMMUNE SYSTEM	18
1.1.1 Haematopoiesis	18
1.1.2 Innate and adaptive immunity	20
1.2 EOSINOPHILS	22
1.2.1 Eosinophil development	
1.2.2 Eosinophil trafficking	25
1.2.3 Eosinophil functions	27
1.3 IMMUNITY IN THE LUNG	29
1.3.1 The immune response in allergic asthma	30
1.3.2 Animal models of allergic asthma	34
1.3.3 Eosinophils in allergic asthma	36
1.3.4 Eosinophil-targeted therapies	39
1.4 HOMEOSTATIC FUNCTIONS OF EOSINOPHILS.	41
1.5 THE GUT-LUNG AXIS	44
1.5.1 The gut-lung axis in allergic asthma	44
1.5.2 Manipulation of the gut microbiota for the treatment of allergic asthma	47
1.6 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	52
1.7 EXPECTED OUTCOMES OF RESEARCH	52
CHAPTER 2 – MATERIALS AND METHODS	53
2.1 MICE	53
2.2 IN VIVO TREATMENTS AND INFECTIONS	53
2.2.1 House dust mite (HDM)	53
2.2.2 Sodium butyrate and niacin	53
2.2.3 IL-33	53
2.2.4 Heligmosoides polygyrus bakeri	53
2.2.5 Nippostrongylus brasiliensis	54
2.2.6 Schistosoma mansoni	54

2.2.7 Influenza	54
2.2.8 Generation of shield chimeras	54
2.2.9 Intravascular staining	54
2.2.10 Euthanasia and tissue harvesting	55
2.3 MURINE TISSUE PREPARATION AND CELL ISOLATION	55
2.3.1 Lung, spleen, eyes and lymph nodes	55
2.3.2 Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL)	55
2.3.3 Blood	55
2.3.4 Bone-marrow	55
2.3.5 Small intestine and colon lamina propria and muscularis	55
2.4 FLOW CYTOMETRY	56
2.4.1 Surface marker staining	56
2.4.2 Intracellular marker staining	56
2.4.3 Sample acquisition	57
2.4.4 Fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS)	57
2.5 HISTOLOGY	57
2.5.1 Cytospin preparation and staining	57
2.5.2 Tissue processing and sectioning	58
2.5.3 Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E)	58
2.5.4 Periodic acid Schiff (PAS) and Alcian-blue	58
2.5.5 Immunofluorescence	58
2.5.6 Image acquisition	59
2.6 QUANTITATIVE POLYMERASE CHAIN REACTION (PCR)	59
2.6.1 RNA and DNA extraction	59
2.6.2 cDNA synthesis	60
2.6.3 Quantitative PCR (qPCR) and analysis	60
2.7 SUPERNATANT ANALYSIS	62
2.7.1 Preparation of supernatant from tissues	62
2.7.2 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	62
2.8 In vitro assays	63
2.8.1 Seahorse extracellular flux analysis	63
2.8.2 L-amino acid transport	64
2.8.3 Glucose transport	64
2.8.4 Stimulation of cell suspensions	64
2.8.5 Eosinophil stimulation	64
2.9 HUMAN TISSUE PREPARATION AND CELL ISOLATION	65
2.9.1 Human samples	65
2.9.2 Lung	65

2.9.3 Blood	65
2.9.4 Cell freezing	65
2.9.5 Flow cytometry	65
2.9.6 Eosinophil isolation and stimulation	66
2.9.7 Cytospin preparation and staining	66
2.10 ANALYSIS	66
2.10.1 Images	66
2.10.2 Flow cytometry	66
2.10.3 qPCR	67
2.11 STATISTICS	67
CHAPTER 3 – PAPER 1	68
3.1 ABSTRACT	68
3.2 INTRODUCTION	68
3.3 RESULTS	70
3.3.1 Levels of Siglec-F ^{hi} CD11b ^{hi} eosinophils are increased following HDM administ	ration
and may be generated locally	70
3.3.2 (i)EOS express high levels of CD98 and are more activated than (r)EOS	74
3.3.3 Factors enriched in the lung environment support upregulation of Siglec-F and	I
expression of CD98 on eosinophils	78
3.3.4 CD98 expression on (i)EOS correlates with increased nutrient uptake and	
metabolic activity	81
3.3.5 (i)EOS and CD98 expression are a common feature of lung inflammation	84
3.3.6 Lung (i)EOS express high levels of GPR109a	86
3.3.7 Oral administration of butyrate ameliorates BM and lung eosinophilia following	I
exposure to HDM	90
3.3.8 Intranasal administration of butyrate ameliorates lung eosinophilia following	
exposure to HDM in a GPR109a-dependent manner	93
3.3.9 Agonism of GPR109a is effective in reducing inflammation in a mouse model	of
neutrophilic asthma	96
3.3.10 Asthmatic patients also have two populations of eosinophils in the lung and b	blood
with a similar phenotype to mouse eosinophils	98
3.4 DISCUSSION	101
3.5 SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES	108
CHAPTER 4 – PAPER 2	114
4.1 ABSTRACT	114
4.2 INTRODUCTION	114
4.3 RESULTS	115

4.3.1 Allergen inhalation triggers Th2 responses in the gut
4.3.2 Allergen inhalation increases eosinophils and their activation in the SI 119
4.3.3 Th2 responses in the gut are indirectly induced by HDM
4.3.4 Intranasal administration of IL-33 does not induce Th2 responses in the gut 123
4.3.5 T cells in the lung, blood and MED LNs upregulate gut-homing receptors 125
4.3.6 HDM-induced Th2 responses in the gut affect the whole intestinal environment. 128
4.3.7 HDM-induced structural changes in the LI may be correlated with alterations in the
composition of the gut microbiota130
4.4 DISCUSSION
CHAPTER 5 – GENERAL DISCUSSION
CHAPTER 6 – REFERENCES

WORD COUNT: 43,450

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1.1: CURRENT MODEL FOR HAEMATOPOIESIS	19
FIGURE 1.2: CELLS OF THE INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNE SYSTEM	20
FIGURE 1.3: EOSINOPHIL DEVELOPMENT IN THE BM IN HUMANS AND MICE	23
FIGURE 1.4: THE IMMUNE RESPONSE IN ALLERGIC ASTHMA	33
FIGURE 1.5: EOSINOPHILS IN ALLERGIC ASTHMA	36
FIGURE 1.6: EOSINOPHIL TARGETED THERAPIES	40
FIGURE 1.7: HOMEOSTATIC FUNCTIONS OF EOSINOPHILS	42
FIGURE 1.8: THE GUT-LUNG AXIS IN ALLERGIC ASTHMA	46
FIGURE 1.9: SCFAS MECHANISMS OF ACTION	49
FIGURE 3.1: LEVELS OF SIGLEC-F ^{HI} CD11B ^{HI} EOSINOPHILS ARE INCREASED FOLLOWING HDM	
ADMINISTRATION AND MAY BE GENERATED LOCALLY	73
FIGURE 3.2: (I)EOS EXPRESS HIGH LEVELS OF CD98 AND ARE MORE ACTIVATED THAN (R)EOS 7	77
FIGURE 3.3: THE LUNG ENVIRONMENT SUPPORTS ACTIVATION OF (I)EOS AND EXPRESSION OF CDS	98
	80
FIGURE 3.4: CD98 EXPRESSION ON (I)EOS CORRELATES WITH INCREASED NUTRIENT UPTAKE AND	
METABOLIC ACTIVITY	83
FIGURE 3.5: (I)EOS AND CD98 EXPRESSION ARE A COMMON FEATURE OF LUNG INFLAMMATION	86
FIGURE 3.6: LUNG (I)EOS EXPRESS HIGH LEVELS OF GPR109A	89
FIGURE 3.7: ORAL ADMINISTRATION OF BUTYRATE AMELIORATES BM AND LUNG EOSINOPHILIA	
FOLLOWING EXPOSURE TO HDM	92
FIGURE 3.8: INTRANASAL ADMINISTRATION OF BUTYRATE AMELIORATES LUNG EOSINOPHILIA	
FOLLOWING EXPOSURE TO HDM IN A GPR109A-DEPENDENT MANNER	95
FIGURE 3.9: AGONISM OF GPR109A IS ALSO EFFECTIVE IN REDUCING INFLAMMATION IN A MOUSE	
MODEL OF NEUTROPHILIC ASTHMA	97
FIGURE 3.10: ASTHMATIC PATIENTS ALSO SHOW TWO POPULATIONS OF EOSINOPHILS IN THE LUNG	
AND BLOOD WITH SIMILAR PHENOTYPE TO MOUSE EOSINOPHILS	01
FIGURE 3.11: SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1	08
FIGURE 3.12: SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2	09
FIGURE 3.13: SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 3	10
FIGURE 3.14: SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 4	10
FIGURE 3.15: SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 5	11
FIGURE 3.16: SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 6	12
FIGURE 3.17: SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 7	13
FIGURE 4.1: TH2 CELLS ARE INCREASED AND ACTIVATED IN THE GUT	18
FIGURE 4.2: EOSINOPHILS ARE INCREASED AND ACTIVATED IN THE SI AND PPS	20
FIGURE 4.3: TH2 RESPONSES IN THE GUT ARE INDIRECTLY INDUCED BY ALLERGEN INHALATION 12	22

FIGURE 4.4: IL-33 I.N. DOES NOT INDUCE GUT INFLAMMATION	124
FIGURE 4.5: T CELLS MAY MEDIATE THE LUNG-GUT CROSS TALK	127
FIGURE 4.6: EFFECTS OF TH2 INFLAMMATION ON THE GUT ENVIRONMENT	129
FIGURE 4.7: HDM INHALATION INDUCES CHANGES IN GOBLET CELLS AND MICROBIAL DYSBIOSIS	IN
THE GUT	133
FIGURE 4.8: SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1	140
FIGURE 4.9: SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2	141
FIGURE 5.1: INTER-ORGAN COMMUNICATION BETWEEN THE LUNG AND THE GUT DURING ALLERG	ЭЮ
ASTHMA AND ITS EFFECTS ON EOSINOPHILS	147

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 2.1: PCR PRIMER SEQUENCES.	. 61
TABLE 2.2: ANTIBODIES AND STANDARD CONCENTRATIONS USED FOR ELISA.	. 63

ABBREVIATIONS

(i)EOS	Inflammatory eosinophils
(r)EOS	Resident eosinophils
5-HT	5-hydroxytryptamine
ACK	Ammonium-chloride-potassium
ADCC	Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity
ADRB2	β2 adrenergic receptor
AGM	Aorta gonads mesonephros
AHR	Airway hyperresponsiveness
AM	Alveolar macrophage
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
APC	Antigen presenting cell
APRIL	A proliferation-inducing ligand
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BAL	Bronchoalveolar lavage
BCH	2-aminobicyclo-(2,2,1)-heptane-2-carboxylic acid
BCR	B cell receptor
BLD	Blood
BM	Bone marrow
C/EBPa	CCAAT-enhancer-binding proteins alpha
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CCL	C-C chemokine ligand
CCR	C-C chemokine receptor
CD	Chron's disease
CD	Cluster of differentiation
cDNA	Complimentary deoxyribonucleic acid
CLP	Common lymphoid progenitor
CMP	Common myeloid progenitor
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder
CXCL	C-X-C chemokine ligand
CXCR	C-X-C chemokine receptor
CysLT	Cysteinyl leukotriene
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DC	Dendritic cell
ECP	Eosinophil cationic protein
EDN	Eosinophil derived neurotoxin
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

EET	Eosinophil-derived extracellular trap
elF3	Eukaryotic initiation factor 3
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
EoP	Eosinophil progenitor
EoPre	Eosinophil precursor
EPX	Eosinophil peroxidase
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinases
ES	Excreted/secreted products
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FCS	Foetal calf serum
FFAR	Free fatty acid receptor
FFPE	Formalin fixed and paraffin embedded
ES	Excreted/secreted products
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FL	Foetal liver
Foxp3	Forkhead box P3
Fuc	Fucose
Gal	Galactose
GalNAc	Galactosamine
GATA1	GATA-binding factor 1
GF	Germ-free
GI	Gastrointestinal
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor
GMP	Granulocyte macrophage progenitor
GPR	G protein-coupled receptor
H&E	Haematoxylin and Eosin
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
HDM	House dust mite
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HIF-1α	Hypoxia inducible factor 1 alpha
HSC	Haematopoietic stem cell
i.n.	Intranasal
i.t.	Intratracheal
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule 1
IDO	Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase
IE	Intraepithelial
IF	Immunofluorescence

IFN-γ	Interferon gamma
lg	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
IL-1RacP	IL-1 receptor accessory protein
ILC	Innate lymphoid cell
IL-Rα	Interleukin receptor alpha
IM	Interstitial macrophage
LAT1	Large amino acid transporter 1
LI	Large intestine
LP	Lamina propria
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LT	Leukotriene
MAMP	Microbial-associated molecular pattern
MBP	Major basic protein
MCh	Methacholine
MDP	Macrophage and dendritic cell precursor
MED LN	Mediastinal lymph node
MEP	Megakaryocyte erythrocyte progenitor
MES LN	Mesenteric lymph node
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MIP	Macrophage inflammatory protein
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
Muc2	Mucin 2
NK	Natural killer
NLRP3	NOD-, LRR- and pyrin domain-containing protein 3
o.g.	Oral gavage
ORF	Open reading frame
OVA	Ovalbumine
PAF	Platelet activating factor
PAMP	Pattern associated molecular pattern
PAS	Periodic acid schiff
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PD-L1	Programmed death-ligand-1
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PG	Prostaglandin
PKC	Protein kinase C
PFA PG PKC	Paraformaldehyde Prostaglandin Protein kinase C

PL	Peritoneal lavage
PNA	Peanut agglutinin
PP	Payer's patch
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
RA	Retinoic acid
Relm-α	Resistin-like molecule alpha
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SBA	Soybean agglutinin
SCFA	Short chain fatty acid
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SFB	Segmented filamentous bacterium
SI	Small intestine
Siglec-F	Sialic acid-binding immunoglobulin-like lectin F
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
SPF	Specific pathogen free
SPINK5	Serine peptidase inhibitor Kazal type 5
ST2	Suppression of tumorigenicity 2
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
TGF	Transforming growth factor
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
Th	T helper
TLR	Toll like receptor
TNF-α	tumour necrosis alpha
Treg	T regulatory cell
TSLP	Thymic stromal lymphopoietin
UC	Ulcerative colitis
VCAM-1	Vascular adhesion molecule 1
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VLA-4	Very late antigen 4
XBP-1	X-box binding protein 1

ABSTRACT

Asthma is one of the most common chronic inflammatory disorders in the world, resulting in significant disability, poor quality of life and healthcare costs. The inflammatory response in asthma primarily involves aberrant Th2 responses and eosinophil infiltration in the airways. However, patients also show evidence of non-Th2-mediated asthma, characterised by airway neutrophilia and Th1/Th17 responses. Current treatment for the disease can induce long-term side effects and patients lack more tailored and effective therapies. Moreover, there is increasing evidence for asthmatic patients developing concomitant chronic inflammation of the gut. There is therefore the necessity to further investigate the mechanisms underlying the development of asthma and whether inter-organ communication may be relevant in its etiology with the aim of finding alternative therapeutic targets.

Using a murine model of acute allergic asthma, the results presented in this thesis describe a system in which different immune compartments can be interconnected with each other. Focussing on eosinophils, we show that these cells can adapt to the characteristics of the tissue microenvironment where they reside by acquiring features that may be correlated with homeostatic or pro-inflammatory properties. Pro-inflammatory features of eosinophils were associated with a metabolic reprogramming of these cells, which was supported by factors enriched in the lung environment, such as IL-33, GM-CSF and IL-5. We found that lung pro-inflammatory eosinophils and neutrophils expressed GPR109a and that agonists of this receptor, including the metabolite butyrate and the vitamin niacin, had anti-inflammatory effects in both eosinophilic and neutrophilic asthma. Eosinophil and lymphocyte populations in the gut were also affected by the ongoing lung inflammatory responses. Eosinophil heterogeneity and acquisition of pro-inflammatory features was present in the small intestine, whereas T cell- and type-2 innate lymphoid cell-mediated Th2 responses dominated the large intestine. We provide evidence for T cell recirculation as well as structural, biochemical and microbial changes in the large intestine, that may rewire the gut metabolic machinery to restore body homeostasis.

In summary, this work highlights GPR109a as a potentially exciting target for the treatment of Th2 and non-Th2 asthma and provides additional mechanistic insights into inter-organ communication. These findings may inform unappreciated therapeutic interventions that could impact treatment of asthma.

DECLARATION

No portion of the work referred to in the thesis has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification of this or any other university or other institute of learning. Rossana Azzoni 31/03/2021

COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The author of this thesis (including any appendices and/or schedules to this thesis) owns certain copyright or related rights in it (the "Copyright") and s/he has given The University of Manchester certain rights to use such Copyright, including for administrative purposes.

Copies of this thesis, either in full or in extracts and whether in hard or electronic copy, may be made only in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (as amended) and regulations issued under it or, where appropriate, in accordance with licensing agreements which the University has from time to time. This page must form part of any such copies made.

The ownership of certain Copyright, patents, designs, trademarks and other intellectual property (the "Intellectual Property") and any reproductions of copyright works in the thesis, for example graphs and tables ("Reproductions"), which may be described in this thesis, may not be owned by the author and may be owned by third parties. Such Intellectual Property and Reproductions cannot and must not be made available for use without the prior written permission of the owner(s) of the relevant Intellectual Property and/or Reproductions. Further information on the conditions under which disclosure, publication and commercialisation of this thesis, the Copyright and any Intellectual Property and/or Reproductions described in it may take place is available in the University IP Policy

(see http://documents.manchester.ac.uk/DocuInfo.aspx?DocID=24420), in any relevant Thesis restriction declarations deposited in the University Library, The University Library's regulations (see http://www.library.manchester.ac.uk/about/regulations/) and in The University's policy on Presentation of Theses.

EXPERIMENTAL CONTRIBUTIONS

All experiments were designed, performed and analysed by myself with the input of my supervisors, Dr. John Grainger¹, Dr. Joanne Konkel¹, Dr. Tara Sutherland¹, Prof. Tracy Hussell¹, Dr. Yashaswini Kannan² and Dr. Edith Hessel³. Hayley Bridgeman, Dr. Kara Filbey, Dr. Tovah Shaw and Dr. Kelly Wemyss assisted with sample processing. Dr. Ian Prise analysed the microarray gene sequencing from Mesnil et al. (2016). Seahorse extracellular flux analysis was performed by Dr. Maria Zancanaro-Krauss (Hepworth lab). Cell sorting was carried out by Michael Jackson within the Flow Cytometry Core Facility (University of Manchester).

¹Lydia Becker Institute of Immunology and Inflammation, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK ²Adaptive Immunity Research Unit, Glaxosmithkline, Stevenage, UK ³Mestag Therapeutics, London, UK

AKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank GSK for funding the project and all my supervisors for all their advice over the last 3.5 years, with John in particular. John, thank you for all your advice and guidance throughout the duration of this PhD, in good and bad times. This last year has been especially tough, but you have always been there to support and help me. Your genuine excitement and passion for your research has always made me feel privileged and excited to share ideas with you and work in your lab. This has made me feel enthusiastic about my research and has pushed me to work hard every day.

To all members of the Grainger lab, thank you for both your scientific chats and your friendship. Kara, thank you so much for your help over the last year, it has been invaluable and I will be forever grateful. Tovah, thank you for all your help and advice over this entire PhD, it has been a pleasure to get to know you and learn from you. Verena, Tom and Ian, thank you for making even the worst day in the lab more enjoyable by sharing a drink and a laugh at the pub! Hopefully we can start to socialise again soon.

My biggest thank you goes to my husband-to-be Jack and to my family and friends. Jack, thank you so much for being my soul mate and for sharing life with me. You have made me go through even the worst days thanks to your love and support. You make every day special and I do not know what I would do without you! Susy, mum and dad, thanks for always being there for me despite the distance. You have always loved, encouraged and believed in me much more than I have ever done. I cannot wait to finally visit and hug you all. To my friends Greta, Chiara and Sara and Karan, thanks for always being in touch from all over Europe! It has always been important for me to know that you have been thinking and caring for me over all these years.

CHAPTER 1 – GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 The immune system

The immune system is composed of a complex network of cellular and soluble elements that interact to respond to both infectious and non-infectious agents affecting the body. Specialised lymphoid organs, such as the spleen and lymph nodes, are the sites where specific immune responses are mounted and are distributed throughout the body to provide ample protection (Parkin and Cohen, 2001).

1.1.1 Haematopoiesis

Blood cells are generally distinguished into two separate lineages: lymphoid and myeloid. As shown in Fig. 1.1, the lymphoid lineage consists of T, B, natural killer (NK) cells and innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) (Serafini, et al., 2014). The myeloid lineage includes granulocytes (neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils and mast cells) in addition to monocytes, macrophages, erythrocytes and megakaryocytes (lwasaki and Akashi, 2007). Dendritic cells (DCs) are unique as they can derive both from the myeloid or the lymphoid lineage (Manz et al., 2001). Lymphoid and myeloid cells are generated through the process of haematopoiesis. Haematopoiesis consists of a cascade of finely regulated events leading to differentiation of totipotent stem cells into all cells present in the blood. Firstly, stem cells lose their self-renewing capability and differentiate into cells with limited differentiation potential. Secondly, those cells committed to a specific lineage undergo terminal differentiation (i.e. maturation). Haematopoiesis can be divided in two phases: a primitive phase, which takes place in the yolk sac (YS) and is restricted to myeloid development, and a definitive phase, which takes place in the aorta–gonads–mesonephros (AGM).



Figure 1.1: Current model for haematopoiesis (created with BioRender.com)

YS-derived progenitors spread following development of the circulation and colonize the whole embryo to give rise to foetal primitive macrophages. Concomitantly, definitive haematopoiesis results in the generation of haematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) with multi-lineage haematopoietic potential. These give rise to progenitors that colonize the foetal liver (FL) (Wynn et al., 2013). Other haematopoietic organs, such as the spleen and the bone-marrow (BM), are then colonized via the circulatory system by haematopoietic progenitors that will ultimately undergo differentiation. Coincident with the formation of bone, FL haematopoiesis declines and is replaced by BM haematopoiesis (Wynn et al., 2013).

In the BM, multipotent activity is retained by a small fraction of cells that lack expression of lineage-associated surface markers (Lin) but expresses high Sca-1 and c-Kit, hence defined LSKs (Spangrude et al., 1988). Based on their reconstituting activity, LSKs have been further subdivided into long-term haematopoietic stem cells (LT-HSCs) that are CD34⁻CD38⁺ or Thy1.1^{lo}, and short-term (ST)-HCSs, also known as or multipotent progenitors (MPPs), that are CD34⁺CD38⁻ or Thy1.1⁻ (Randall et al., 1996). MPPs can give rise to common lymphoid progenitors (CLPs), which express the receptor for IL-7 (IL-7R), a cytokine essential for lymphocyte development. Indeed, CLPs generate all lymphocytes but not myeloid cells (Kondo et al., 1997). MPPs can also give rise to common myeloid progenitors (CMPs), which do not express IL-7R and generate all myeloid cell types. CMPs can be further subsetted based on expression of CD34, FcγRII and FcγRIII into megakaryocyte-erythrocyte progenitors (MEPs) and granulocyte-macrophage progenitors (GMPs) (Akashi et al., 2000) (Fig. 1.1).

1.1.2 Innate and adaptive immunity

Immune cells are traditionally subdivided into two arms depending on the speed and specific nature of the resulting immune response. These systems, defined as innate and adaptive, are separate but interaction between them is essential to allow body homeostasis (Janeway Jr et al., 2001).

Innate immunity includes physical, chemical, and microbiological barriers. Further action of immune system elements occurs when these barriers are not sufficient to counteract pathogenic agents or tissue injury (Chaplin, 2010). Innate immune cells include monocytes, macrophages, DCs, neutrophils, NK cells, ILCs, mast cells, basophils and eosinophils, and provide immediate host defence (Fig. 1.2). Innate immune responses involve both soluble and cell surface molecules, such as complements, cytokines and pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that recognize a fixed set of molecular patterns associated with certain pathogens and tissue damage.



Figure 1.2: Cells of the innate and adaptive immune system (created with BioRender.com).

These are also known as pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). Since innate immune responses are not antigen specific they lack 'immunological memory', thus innate responses are not enhanced upon repeated exposure to the same antigen. Innate immunity is present even in the simplest animals, confirming its conserved nature and importance in survival (Parkin and Cohen, 2001).

Adaptive immunity is what distinguishes more advanced animals, as it involves antigen-specific reactions mediated by T and B lymphocytes (Marshall et al., 2018) (Fig. 1.2). These cells can somatically rearrange their receptor genes to confer specific recognition of antigens or epitopes. Moreover, they can also generate amplified and more rapid responses upon secondary antigen exposure, resulting in the ability to build immunological memory to specific challenges. T lymphocytes are distinguished into two main subtypes by the presence of cell surface molecules known as cluster of differentiation (CD)8⁺ and CD4⁺ and by contact with innate antigen presenting cells (APCs) through binding of T-cell receptors (TCRs) to peptide antigens loaded on molecular histocompatibility complex class I or II (MHC-I or -II) respectively (Nicholson, 2016).

CD8⁺ T-cells are very important for immune defence against intracellular pathogens, including viruses and bacteria, and for tumour surveillance (Nicholson, 2016). They induce direct cell lysis through secretion of cytotoxic granules clustered at the point of cell contact, including perforin, granzymes and granulysin and secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interferon- γ (IFN- γ) and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), which have anti-tumour and anti-viral microbial effects (Berger, 2000).

CD4⁺ T cells further differentiate into helper T-cells (Th), with these regarded as being the most prolific cytokine producers (Romagnani, 2000). This subset can be further subdivided into Th1, Th2, Th17 and T regulatory (Treg) cells, depending on the cytokine stimulation they receive (Broere and van Eden, 2019). Th1 cells differentiate in the presence of the pro-inflammatory cytokines interleukin-12 (IL-12) and IFN-y, upregulate expression of the transcription factor Tbet and produce pro-inflammatory factors responsible for killing intracellular parasites through further production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and consequent increased MHC-I expression and CD8⁺ T-cell activity (Zhang and Bevan, 2011). Conversely, Th2 cells differentiate in the presence of IL-4, upregulate the transcription factor GATA3 and further produce IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13, which are associated with the promotion of B-cell proliferation, antibody class switching to IgE, eosinophilic responses to extracellular pathogens and suppression of Th1 differentiation, which is mediated by IL-4 antagonistic activity on IFN-y (Luckheeram et al., 2012). Th17 cells have been discovered more recently when IL-23 was found to induce the generation of IL-17Aproducing CD4⁺ T cells (Murphy et al., 2003). These T cells have been implicated in protection from extracellular bacteria and fungal pathogens, but also in the development of autoimmune diseases in animals and humans (Wei et al., 2007). More recently, Th17-derived IL-17A has also been found to regulate Th2 immunity in the lung, by balancing protective versus excessive Th2 responses to nematode infection (Ajendra et al., 2020). Tregs are a subset of CD4⁺ T cells with potent immunosuppressive features that are crucial for maintenance of immune homeostasis. High amounts of TGF- β and the vitamin A metabolite retinoic acid (RA) favours differentiation of these cells, which are characterised by expression of the transcription factor Forkhead box P3 (Foxp3) and the IL-2 receptor α -chain (CD25) (Plitas and Rudensky, 2016).

B cells express B-cell receptors (BCRs), which are cell surface immunoglobulins that recognise whole antigens without the need to be trimmed into peptides and presented on MHCs, through T-cell-dependent or T-cell-independent interactions (LeBien and Tedder, 2008). Following activation, B-cells differentiate into plasma cells producing antibodies, which can mediate a variety of responses, such as neutralisation of toxins and viruses, opsonisation of pathogens to promote phagocytosis, activation of the complement cascade which helps to fight pathogens, and antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity, mediated via NK cell activation (Hoffman et al., 2016).

Although it is clear that generation of tailored adaptive immune responses is essential to protect the host, cells of the innate system are vital mediators for the initiation of such responses. Particularly granulocytes, which are the most abundant leukocytes, are the very first responders during inflammatory responses and play an essential role in host protection from infections and in wound healing (Wang, 2018).

1.2 Eosinophils

Eosinophils are primitive myeloid cells found in all vertebrate species (Klion, 2017). They typically measure $10-16 \mu m$ in diameter, show characteristic bi-lobed nuclei and can be easily recognised by staining with acidophilic dyes (McBrien and Menzies-Gow, 2017).

Eosinophils represent a minor component of circulating leukocytes, but higher proportions can be found in tissues outside the circulatory system, such as the small intestine (Weller and Spencer, 2017). Traditionally, eosinophils have been considered as effector cells mainly involved in fighting parasite infections and in allergic responses. Their defensive response has largely been associated with the secretion of potent cytotoxic granule proteins, which can be detrimental to the host by contributing to the ongoing inflammatory response and tissue damage (Ramirez et al., 2018). Despite this, increasing evidence suggests that eosinophils contribute to vital body processes, including antibody production, metabolic homeostasis, and tissue regeneration (Klion, 2017; Ramirez et al., 2018). It is now clear that eosinophils have a broader tissue distribution than previously appreciated and are more than just terminally differentiated effector cells (Weller and Spencer, 2017). As such, there is significant interest in the manipulation of eosinophils for therapeutic benefit by identification of novel biomarkers and characterisation of various phenotypes.

1.2.1 Eosinophil development

Eosinophils are terminally differentiated granulocytes that develop in the BM under the control of the key transcription factors GATA-binding factor 1 (GATA1), CCAAT-enhancer-binding proteins (C/EBP) α, PU.1, and X-box binding protein (XBP) 1 (Bochner, 2018). They derive from CD34⁺ GMPs through intermediate eosinophil lineage-committed progenitors (EoPs) in mice, whereas human EoPs are derived from CMPs or their upstream multipotent progenitors (Fig. 1.3). EoPs differentiation depends on the appearance of the IL-5 receptor (IL-5R α) on their surface. It consists of a specific α -chain (CD125), which is also found on basophils, and a β chain common to the IL-5 receptor (CD131), with the latter also part of the receptors for IL-3 and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (Bochner, 2018; Kouro et al., 2009). EoPs are therefore identified as CD34⁺IL-5Rα⁺ cells also expressing low levels of c-Kit (CD117), which is a tyrosine kinase receptor for stem cell factor (SCF). c-Kit is crucial to support haematopoietis as well as cell survival and expansion (Lennartsson and Rönnstrand, 2012). Although mature mast cells and melanocytes express c-Kit, its expression is normally lost during cellular maturation. In fact, dysregulated c-Kit expression and function in mature cells leads to development of diseases such as cancer (Frumento et al., 2019). EoPs reside in small numbers primarily in the BM, and lower levels can be found in peripheral blood and in human umbilical cord blood (Fulkerson et al., 2014).



Figure 1.3: Eosinophil development in the BM in humans and mice (created with BioRender.com).

Recently, Doyle et al., 2013, have also shown that expression of the genes encoding for the granule proteins major basic protein-1 (MBP-1) and eosinophil peroxidase (EPX) is not a consequence of commitment to the eosinophil lineage but is essential for normal eosinophilopoiesis. This was demonstrated by complete loss of peripheral eosinophils and EoPs in the BM of mice deficient in both MBP-1 and EPX.

EoPs differentiate into eosinophil precursors (EoPre), which express IL-5Rα and sialic acidbinding immunoglobulin-like lectin F (Siglec-F) on their surface. EoPre further differentiate into mature eosinophils identified by surface expression of IL-5Rα, Siglec-F, and C-C chemokine receptor type 3 (CCR3) (Fulkerson et al., 2014). Although IL-3, IL-5, and GM-CSF have been shown to induce eosinophil-containing colonies from BM progenitors, only IL-5 selectively produces eosinophils (Fulkerson et al., 2014).

These findings have enabled the generation of genetically modified mice to improve the study of eosinophil biology. Transgenic (Tg) mice overexpressing IL-5 have been created to induce systemic eosinophilia (Kouro et al., 2009), whereas eosinophil deficiency has been achieved in different ways. IL-5 deficient mice have been generated by gene targeting in C57BL/6 embryonic stem cells by homologous recombination (Kopf et al., 1996). These mice do not develop blood and tissue eosinophilia following helminth infection or allergen challenge but still show basal eosinophil production in the BM. This suggested that IL-5 is essential for parasite- and allergeninduced eosinophilia but not for homeostatic generation of all eosinophils, implying that eosinophils may rely on factors other than IL-5 for their development, as explained later on in this chapter (Kopf et al., 1996; Matthaei et al., 1997). Although the transcription factor GATA1 is necessary for generation of eosinophils, as well as megakaryocytes and mast cells from immature myeloid cells, a high-affinity GATA-binding site, named double GATA-site (Δ dblGATA), within the GATA1 gene was found to be required for eosinophil development only. This discovery led to generation of eosinophil-deficient mice by deletion of the ΔdblGATA from the promoter region of the transcription factor GATA1 (Yu et al., 2002). In contrast to IL-5 deficient mice. ΔdblGATA mice show complete eosinophil ablation from the BM at steady-state and following allergen challenge, demonstrating the requirement of this site for eosinophil lineage specification (Yu et al., 2002; Humbles et al., 2004). Eosinophil-deficient mice named PHIL were also created by targeting the eosinophil-specific EPX promoter, which was used to drive expression of the cytocidal protein diphtheria toxin A chain (Lee et al., 2004). PHIL mice are specifically devoid of eosinophils and show reduced inflammatory responses in the lung following allergen exposure (Lee et al., 2004). Similar to PHIL mice, inducible PHIL (iPHIL) mice have been created by insertion of the diphtheria toxin receptor into the EPX gene locus (Jacobsen et al., 2014). Importantly, compared to PHIL mice, iPHIL mice allow 'on demand' eosinophil elimination by addition of exogenous diphtheria toxin, which has enabled assessment of the specific role of eosinophils in allergic lung inflammation without the issues associated with congenital eosinophil deficiency. Notably, eosinophil ablation during each stage of the immune response to allergen exposure showed that eosinophils are not essential contributors to the inflammatory response during sensitisation, but that eosinophil ablation during challenge led to neutrophil-mediated and steroid-resistant airway inflammation (Jacobsen et al., 2014). The EPX promoter was also targeted to generate knock-in eosinophil-targeting Cre recombinaseexpressing (EoCre) mice, by inserting an open reading frame (ORF) encoding a mammalianised Cre recombinase at the endogenous AUG start codon of the EPX gene (Doyle et al., 2013). In these mice, Cre expression was shown to be limited to eosinophil-lineage committed cells with no evidence of Cre-mediated toxicity. Importantly, this novel approach enables eosinophilspecific gene deletion or overexpression, allowing to further explore eosinophil characteristics and functions in a gene-specific manner (Doyle et al., 2013).

As mentioned previously, overexpression of IL-5 in mice results in profound eosinophilia, suggesting that IL-5 not only regulates differentiation, but also enhances EoP proliferation (Fulkerson et al., 2014). However, overexpression of IL-5R α in GMPs does not increase the frequency of EoPs, suggesting that IL-5 does not promote eosinophil lineage commitment (Kouro et al., 2009). The discovery that IL-5 deficient mice do not show complete eosinophil depletion in the BM suggested that other mediators can promote eosinophil development in the absence of IL-5 (Fulkerson et al., 2014). In fact, the cytokine IL-33 was then reported to have important roles in eosinophil development upstream of IL-5 (Johnston et al., 2016 and 2017). IL-33 was shown to specifically expand the EoPre pool and to upregulate IL-5R α to allow responsiveness of these precursors to IL-5, which is released by type-2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) in the BM (Tsuzuki et al., 2017). Mice deficient in IL-33 or its receptor are almost completely devoid of eosinophil populations, suggesting that IL-33 is not only involved in disease pathogenesis but may promote homeostasis (Johnston et al., 2016 and 2017). Importantly, many of the transcription factors and cytokines involved in eosinophilopoiesis are also necessary for the development of basophils and mast cells. This is important when considering the development of eosinophil-targeted therapies as they may have non-selective effects (Klion, 2017).

1.2.2 Eosinophil trafficking

Under steady-state, eosinophils survive for approximately 24 hours in the circulation. Some eosinophils migrate to the liver and spleen, but they predominantly reach the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. Normally there are very few eosinophils in the upper and lower airways or in the oesophagus (Klion, 2017). Eosinophil migration is achieved by two processes: cell adhesion molecules present on the endothelium and epithelium, and chemotactic signals triggered by chemokines and chemo-attractant receptors (Simson and Foster, 2000).

Intravascular eosinophils do not adhere to the non-inflamed endothelium as it does not normally express high levels of adhesion molecules. Inflammatory stimuli, such as IL-1, TNF-α, IL-13 and IL-4 induce the expression of adhesion molecules, such as vascular adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1, intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1, P- and E-selectin (Broide and Sriramarao, 2001). Eosinophils interact with adhesion molecules through their expression of L-selectin

(CD62L), P-selectin glycoprotein ligand (PSGL)-1, as well as integrins, particularly the β 1 integrin very late antigen (VLA)–4 (Broide and Sriramarao, 2001).

Expression of CCR3 on mature eosinophils allows early eosinophil-specific recruitment from the BM through binding of the chemokines C-C motif chemokine 11 (CCL11), CCL24 and CCL26, also known as eotaxin 1, 2 and 3 respectively (Klion, 2017). Eotaxins are secreted in the lung by several cell types, including epithelial cells, smooth muscle cells, vascular endothelial cells, macrophages, as well as eosinophils themselves, in response to the Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 (Conroy and Williams, 2001). CCL11 is secreted at early time points and is followed by CCL24 and CCL26. CCL11 and CCL24 have been shown to promote eosinophil accumulation into tissues together with IL-5, whereas CCL26 is involved in maintaining prolonged eosinophil recruitment (Rosenberg et al., 2007). IL-5, together with IL-3 and GM-CSF, act as a chemokinetic agent that prime eosinophils to amplify their migratory responses to chemoattractants (Simson and Foster, 2000). The importance of eotaxins in eosinophil recruitment has been demonstrated by using mice deficient in CCR3 or eotaxin-1 or treated with anti-eotaxin-1 antibodies, that show reduced eosinophilia and airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) in the lung (Humbles et al., 1997; Gonzalo et al., 1998; Campbell et al., 1998). However other studies have shown no differences in eosinophil recruitment to the lung between WT and eotaxin-1 deficient mice following allergen exposure (Yang et al., 1998; Tomkinson et al., 2001). The role of eotaxin-1 in eosinophil recruitment has been found to depend on the animal strain and species, the challenge and sensitization protocol and the phase of the response (Conroy and Williams, 2001). Moreover, eosinophil recruitment can also be eotaxin-independent as other chemokines, such as CCL5, CCL12 and CCL3, contribute to the process (Broide and Sriramarao, 2001), together with other non-chemokine mediators, as explained below.

The complement anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a can also enhance eosinophil chemotaxis. These are small cationic activation peptides released from components C3 and C5 by the action of C3/5 convertases. C5a can induce chemotaxis of both eosinophils and neutrophils, whereas C3a is eosinophil specific. Engagement of several eosinophil-expressed integrins is shown to be required for complement-induced eosinophil adhesion on the endothelium (DiScipio et al., 1999).

Chemotaxis of eosinophils, as well as neutrophils, macrophages and mast cells, can be promoted by other mediators abundantly released during inflammatory responses, such as the lipids platelet activating factor (PAF), leukotriene B₄ (LTB₄), prostaglandin-D₂ (PGD₂) (Gomes et al., 2013) and the neurotransmitter 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) also known as serotonin. Although 5-HT is mostly present in the central nervous system, it is known to have multiple functions in the periphery. One of these includes eosinophil chemotaxis, which is dependent on

the 5-HT_{2A} receptor by increasing intracellular Ca^{2+} levels, thereby promoting actin polymerization and cytoskeletal changes (Kang et al., 2013).

1.2.3 Eosinophil functions

In 1879, the name eosinophil was firstly coined by Paul Ehrlich, who discovered that these cells contained granules that heavily stained with the acidic dye eosin (Gleich and Adolphson, 1986). Further examination of eosinophils revealed that these cells contained four different types of crystalloid granules: major basic protein (MBP), eosinophil peroxidase (EPX), eosinophil cationic protein (ECP) and eosinophil-derived neurotoxin (EDN) (Hogan et al., 2008). These proteins were then purified and characterised to investigate eosinophil associated diseases (Slifman et al., 1986; Peterson et al., 1988).

Peripheral blood eosinophilia with concomitant release of cytotoxic granule proteins was firstly identified in helminth infections. These parasites are large multicellular organisms that require several phases to fully develop during infection (Klion and Nutman, 2004). Helminth infection is typically associated with the induction of Th2 responses, characterised by increased levels of IL-13, IL-4 and immunoglobulin (Ig)E (Allen and Sutherland, 2014). However, each developmental stage of helminths can be antigenically diverse, thereby inducing distinct immune responses that occur at different times and vary in a tissue-dependent manner (Maizels and Yazdanbakhsh, 2003).

In vitro studies firstly revealed that eosinophils provided protection during such infections by killing parasitic larvae through release of EPX and reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Buys et al., 1981; Capron et al., 1979). The identification of IL-5 as an essential factor for eosinophil development further enabled the evaluation of eosinophil functions *in vivo*. Eosinophilia and high levels of circulating IgE were found to depend on IL-4 and IL-5 produced by Th2 cells. IL-5 especially was determined to be sufficient for the development of eosinophilia and eosinophil activation, as shown by injection of neutralizing anti-IL-5 monoclonal antibodies (Coffman et al., 1989), whereas IL-4 and IL-13 induced expression and release of eotaxins by fibroblasts, resulting in tissue recruitment of eosinophils (Mochizuki et al., 1998; Gurish et al., 2002). Activated eosinophils from the blood of helminth-infected patients and mice showed upregulation of surface receptors, decreased density, increased survival and release of cytotoxic mediators (Mawhorter et al., 1996; Sugaya et al., 2001). The transcription factor GATA3, which regulates expression of IL-5, was also found to directly control helminth-induced eosinophilia and IgE levels, as demonstrated by GATA3 transgenic mice (Watanabe et al., 2003).

The availability of transgenic and eosinophil-deficient mice led to further understanding of the role of eosinophils in helminth infection. Despite their role in protection, eosinophils can also have detrimental effects on the host during helminth infection by contributing to tissue damage or by promoting parasite survival (Cadman et al., 2014). For example, mice infected with *Brugia malayi, Toxocara canis* or *Ascaris suum* develop AHR in an IL-5 dependent manner along with increased levels of eosinophils and IgE (Hall et al., 1998; Pinelli et al., 2005; Enobe et al., 2006). Although the release of eosinophil granule proteins has been correlated with parasite killing, these proteins are also toxic to tissues and cells both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Gleich et al., 1979; Ackerman et al., 1990; Shin et al., 2009). Other mediators released by activated eosinophils, such as leukotrienes, PAF and ROS may also contribute to the ongoing inflammatory response and tissue damage (Klion and Nutman, 2004).

It is now known that eosinophil-mediated host protection depends upon the species of infecting helminth. For example, systemic eosinophilia present in IL-5 Tg mice enhanced resistance during the early stages of primary infection with Nippostrongylus brasiliensis, but did not promote clearance of *T. canis* larvae (Dent et al., 1999). Eosinophils mediated their protective effect by trapping *N. brasiliensis* larvae in the skin during the first few hours of primary infection. In contrast, T. canis, which remains in the host for longer periods of time, is thought to have evolved strategies to eliminate susceptibility to eosinophils (Dent et al., 1999). The results obtained with IL-5 Tg mice were confirmed with the use of eosinophil deficient mice, showing that resistance to N. brasiliensis was impaired in either IL-5 deficient or Δ dblGATA mice in the intestinal phase of primary infection and in the early pre-lung phase of secondary infection (Knott et al., 2007). Other studies demonstrated that infection with Schistosoma mansoni or Trichinella spiralis increased worm burdens in IL-5 Tg mice compared to WT controls (Dent et al., 1997; Behm and Ovington, 2000). Gebreselassie et al. (2012) showed that, in mice infected with T. spiralis, eosinophils can dampen macrophage-induced pro-inflammatory responses whilst promoting Th2 polarisation, which resulted in reduced parasite death. In fact, low levels of Th2 responses, that are not sufficient to trigger effector mechanisms but downregulate Th1 inflammation, can enhance parasite survival during long-term infections (Maizels et al., 2004). Enhanced protection against the parasite Entamoeba histolytica, which causes diarrhoea in poor countries with low hygiene standards, was found to depend on IL-4 produced by eosinophils recruited to the intestine in an IL-25-dependent manner (Noor et al., 2017). Eosinophils can also be exploited by filarial parasites as a cue to alter their reproduction in response to IL-5 and IL-4, for it to be maximised before Th2 responses can clear the infection (Babayan et al., 2010). These studies importantly demonstrated that eosinophils can either mediate host protection or aid parasite survival in a parasite-dependent manner.

Several helminth and hookworm parasites migrate to the lung during their life-cycle and this is associated with significant airway eosinophilia and generation of Th2 responses (Culley et al., 2002; Cheepsattayakorn, 2014). Eosinophil recruitment to the airways of mice infected with Necator americanus was shown to occur as a result of parasitic larvae remaining trapped in the pulmonary vasculature after entering the circulatory system, which induced the release of eosinophil chemoattractants and IL-5 (Culley et al., 2002). In the 1980's, Th2 allergic inflammation of the airways was also found to involve blood and lung eosinophilia (De Monchy et al., 1985; Durham et al., 1989) and eosinophils have since been implicated in the pathogenesis of allergic disease (Kay et al., 1997). Considering the similarity in the nature of the inflammatory response triggered by parasites and allergens in the airways, several studies aimed to investigate the relationship between helminth infections and allergies (Cooper, 2009). This led to the discovery that some but not all parasites may enhance Th2 inflammation during allergic responses (Fallon and Mangan, 2007 and references therein). For instance, infection with Ascaris lumbricoides, has been associated with increased incidence of allergic reactions in humans and primates (Sugane, 1988; Dold et al., 1998; Richards et al., 1983). Mouse models also showed that infection with Ascaris triggers airway eosinophilia, IgE production and Th2 lung pathology (Enobe et al., 2006; Weatherhead et al., 2018), and that pre-sensitization with Ascaris antigens accelerates IgE release upon HDM inhalation (Suzuki et al., 2016). Conversely, other studies showed that helminths may dampen allergic responses by promoting a regulatory environment, characterised by high levels of IL-10, TGF- β and IL-10 producing Tregs or B cells that counteract Th2 responses, therefore protecting against asthma (Stock et al., 2006; Doetze et al., 2000; van den Biggelaar et al., 2000; Wilson et al., 2005; Mangan et al., 2006). Despite the regulatory responses that helminths can induce in the host, these may not be sufficient to counteract allergic Th2 responses, suggesting that a tight balance between proand anti-allergenic responses is required to maintain homeostasis (Santiago and Nutman, 2016). In fact, a study analysing the effect of pre-existing asthma on helminth infection showed that HDM-induced inflammation induced a strong Th2 response in the lung involving eosinophilia, M2 macrophage polarisation and mucus hyperproduction, which impaired Ascaris migration and development, resulting in reduced parasite burden. Importantly, this effect was dependent on eosinophils, since parasite development was not altered in eosinophil deficient mice (Gazzinelli-Guimaraes et al., 2019).

1.3 Immunity in the lung

The lungs are the site of gas exchange in the body, which is essential for survival and health, but also results in the constant exposure to inhaled particulates, including pathogens. Moreover, only recently the lungs have been found to contain their own microbiota (Moffatt and Cookson, 2017). Rapid and effective immune responses are therefore required to protect the host without initiating aberrant inflammatory responses against harmless components (Hasenberg et al.,

2013). Innate immune cells are the main providers of local protection within the lung, but if dysregulated, their responses can be detrimental to the host and cause disease, such as asthma (Hartl et al., 2018).

Macrophages predominantly provide protection under steady state conditions in the lung, but other cell types including DCs, NK cells and ILCs may also initiate defence mechanisms. Macrophages in the lung can be broadly divided into alveolar macrophages (AMs) and interstitial macrophages (IMs) (Ardain et al., 2019). AMs are the main phagocytic and antigen-presenting cell in the respiratory tract and are also the most abundant cellular population within bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluids (Hartl et al., 2018). They are located closely to alveolar epithelial cells and can be easily distinguished from IMs due to their unusual expression of specific markers: they express low levels of CD11b but elevated CD11c, normally expressed by DCs, as well as Siglec-F, usually expressed by eosinophils (Hussel and Bell, 2014). Compared to IMs, AMs are self-renewing long-lived resident cells that do not require replenishment from the BM (Guilliams et al., 2013). Phagocytosis of dead cells and foreign particles by AMs plays an essential role in the defence against invading pathogens and in the resolution of inflammation (Nagre et al., 2019). AMs express a variety of PAMP receptors that allow them to detect microbial- and host-derived signals leading to the release of pro- or anti-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1- β , IL-6, IL-10, or TNF- α . They can also produce TGF- β , which induces differentiation of CD4⁺T cells into Tregs with associated anti-inflammatory responses (Coleman et al., 2013). However, AMs may lose the ability to induce immune tolerance when they encounter a mixture of harmless antigens and allergens able to trigger toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-mediated responses (Mathie et al., 2015).

Whilst there are low levels of leukocytes present at steady state, their levels rise dramatically under acute or chronic inflammatory conditions. Eosinophils, and to a lesser extent neutrophils, accumulate in the airways and play a major role in contributing to inflammatory responses (Goyal et al., 2019).

1.3.1 The immune response in allergic asthma

Allergic asthma is one of the most common chronic inflammatory diseases in the world. Although asthma-related mortality has declined by ~18% over the past 20 years, the number of diagnoses has increased by 20-30% (Mattiuzzi and Lippi, 2020).

Allergic asthma affects the airways and involves aberrant Th2 inflammatory responses and AHR to innocuous inhaled antigens. Clinically, asthma presents itself in attacks or episodes, although the inflammation underlying asthma is chronic in most cases. These episodes are the result of airway narrowing, which is caused either by swelling, mucus plugging or bronchoconstriction.

This leads to development of symptoms including wheezing, breathlessness, chest tightness and cough (Finn and Bigby, 2009). Many asthma episodes resolve following minor treatment, whereas others require hospitalisation and may lead to death (Mims, 2015).

Exposure to inhaled allergens is not the only factor responsible for the development of allergic asthma; a combination of genetic predisposition and environmental factors, including birth mode, birth order, antibiotic intake and diet, may promote susceptibility to the disease (van Tilburg Bernardes and Arrieta, 2017).

It has long been recognised that asthma-associated traits can be inherited and several regions of the chromosome with genes that are highly replicated during asthma have been established (Subbarao et al., 2009). Most of these genes have been identified through analysis of gene variants, such as single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), in the main signalling pathways that influence allergic inflammation and asthma (Vercelli, 2008). For example, the genes encoding for IL-4, IL-13, CD14, the β 2 adrenergic receptor (ADRB2) and serine peptidase inhibitor Kazal type 5 (SPINK5) are some of the most replicated in allergic inflammation (Ober and Hoffjan, 2006). SNPs of genes associated with eosinophils, such as IL-5, IL-5R and GM-CSF have also been shown, although not as prominent as in other Th2 genes (Kabesch et al., 2007). Although the role of epigenetics in the pathogenesis of asthma is still not fully understood, there is evidence for changes in methylation to be associated with eosinophilia and asthma susceptibility genes, such as IL-5, EPX, IL-13 and IL-4 (Boorgula et al., 2019).

The last few decades have seen a dramatic increase in the global prevalence of asthma and allergies, especially in industrialised countries (Brooks et al., 2013). This is correlated with improved hygiene, medical treatments and vaccinations, resulting in the decreased prevalence of infectious diseases. In contrast, fewer cases of asthma or other atopic diseases are encountered in poorer countries where unhygienic conditions and overcrowding prevail (Brooks et al., 2013). The concept by which increased cleanliness is one of the factors that has caused a rapid rise in allergic disorders has been defined as the "hygiene hypothesis" (Weber et al., 2015). This has also been correlated with alterations of the infant gut microbiome, now considered as one of the main factors driving asthma pathogenesis (Liu, 2015). The fact that the environment has powerful effects on the onset and prevalence of asthma has also been evidenced by migration studies. People migrating from countries with low incidence of asthma to countries with high incidence were shown to acquire the higher rates of the disease in a time and age-dependent manner (Cabieses et al, 2014). Although the incidence and prevalence of asthma are indeed higher in children, hospitalisation and mortality are higher in adults. Moreover, incidence and prevalence of asthma differs by sex across the lifespan. Before puberty, male individuals are more affected by asthma, whereas after puberty females show a

higher burden of the disease, suggesting that hormonal changes play a role in the pathogenesis of asthma (Dharmage et al., 2019).

The main features of the inflammatory response include significant infiltration of the bronchial mucosa by lymphocytes and granulocytes, goblet cell hyperplasia and increased serum IgE levels (Nathan et al., 2009).

Although Th2 cells are recognised to have key roles in the initiation of the inflammatory response, it has become evident that a crosstalk between the innate and adaptive immune system plays a critical role in the initiation and development of Th2-biased responses (Nathan et al., 2009). In fact, allergic asthma has been determined to be a heterogeneous disease with several distinct pathologic phenotypes. Clinically, these are distinguished according to symptoms, concomitant comorbidities and identifiable triggers, as well as identification of whether the inflammatory infiltrate is eosinophilic or neutrophilic (Borish, 2016; Brussino et al., 2018). More recently asthma has also been classified into high or low Th2 endotypes with the aim of defining the specific biological mechanism underlying a given phenotype. The identification of different asthma endotypes has been useful for the development of more tailored therapies aimed at targeting specific inflammatory mediators (Brussino et al., 2018).

Although eosinophilic asthma is more prevalent, there is evidence for neutrophils being the predominant cellular infiltrate in cases of severe and persistent asthma, asthma exacerbations and corticosteroid-resistant asthma (Wang et al., 2016). The mechanisms underlying neutrophilic asthma are still unclear, but there is evidence for increased levels of IL-8 in the airways, which is a chemotactic factor for neutrophils, and that IL-17A produced by Th17 cells may be responsible for upregulation of IL-8 (Nakagome et al., 2012). Increased levels of other pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-12 and TNF- α , in addition to changes in the lung microbiota, have been associated with neutrophilic asthma compared to non-neutrophilic asthma (Yang et al., 2018). Neutrophilic asthma has also been correlated with 'occupational' asthma, since exposure to bacterial endotoxins, particulate air pollution and ozone have been shown to induce non-allergic neutrophilic airway inflammation. This suggests a common mechanism in the generation of chemokine release and neutrophil influx both in occupational and non-occupational asthma, involving activation of innate immune responses in the general population (Douwes et al., 2002).



Figure 1.4: The immune response in allergic asthma (created with Biorender.com).

As shown in Fig. 1.4, the first stages of the allergic response typically involve allergens directly stimulating airway epithelial cells to secrete cytokines and chemokines, such as IL-33, IL-25, thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) and CCL20. IL-33 is constitutively expressed by endothelial cells and epithelial cells of barrier sites, such as the lung, intestine and skin. IL-33 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine released upon cell death and its expression is tightly regulated at the level of transcription, translation, and receptor signalling in order to avoid detrimental effects. The IL-33 receptor consists of the suppression of tumorigenicity 2 (ST2) protein and the IL-1 receptor accessory protein (IL-1RACP), which is expressed on several adaptive and innate cells in the lung, such as eosinophils, basophils, mast cells, macrophages, ILC2s, Th2 cells and Tregs (Johansson and McSorley, 2019). IL-33 expression and signalling is highly upregulated during allergic responses in the airways and induces ILC2 proliferation and production of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13, M2 macrophage polarisation, and mast cell, eosinophil and basophil activation

(Amin et al., 2016). Together with IL-33, TSLP and CCL20 bind to TLSPR and CCR6 respectively expressed on immature DCs, which undergo maturation and activation (Liu et al., 2018). Release of the chemokines CCL17 and CCL22 by DCs promotes ILC2 recruitment to the airways and coordinates their co-localisation with naïve CD4⁺ T cells in the local lymph nodes where DCs act as APCs. TSLP promotes expression of the co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD80 and CD86 on DCs, which induce CD4⁺ T cell differentiation and activation into antigen-specific Th2 cells. These cells migrate back to the lung mucosal tissue, where they release IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 (Grinnan et al., 2006). Production of IL-13 and IL-5 can also be triggered by IL-33 binding to ST2 expressed on differentiated Th2 cells (Chen et al., 2017). These cytokines play key roles in the onset and amplification of allergic inflammation in asthma: IL-4 promotes the production of IgE by B cells, which in turn further promote degranulation of eosinophils, mast cells and basophils; IL-5 triggers eosinophil differentiation, recruitment and activation; IL-13 acts on many cell types and promotes mucus hyper-production and tissue remodelling (Elias et al., 2005).

In addition to Th2 effector cells, Th17 and Tregs are involved in the pathogenesis of asthma (Song et al., 2008). Th17 cells mainly produce IL-17A, which induces the recruitment of both neutrophils and eosinophils into the airways (Zhang et al., 2017), as well as tissue remodelling by promoting fibroblast proliferation (Bellini et al., 2012). On the other hand, Tregs have an essential role in promoting tolerance to innocuous environmental antigens, such as allergens, by controlling Th2 immune responses to prevent the development of allergic disorders (Rivas and Chatila, 2016). However, there is evidence for disrupted Treg activity in asthma (Lambrecht and Hammad, 2015). For example, ST2-expressing Tregs may lose their suppressive properties and upregulate expression of Th2 cytokines and GATA3 (Chen et al., 2017).

1.3.2 Animal models of allergic asthma

Animal models have been widely used to study the pathophysiology of allergic airway inflammation seen in humans. Mice, like the majority animals, do not naturally develop periodic lung inflammatory responses similar to asthma, therefore murine models need to be firstly exposed or 'sensitised' to an allergen and subsequently re-exposed or 'challenged' to the same allergen to trigger an allergic response (Chapman et al., 2014).

Ovalbumin (OVA) administration has long represented the standard protocol to induce murine models of allergic airway inflammation. Although this model reproduces many characteristics of the inflammatory responses seen in asthma, it does not appropriately mimic the human condition. Firstly, humans are generally not allergic to chicken egg protein (OVA) unless caused by a food allergy. Secondly, OVA is systemically administered to animals (intraperitoneally)

together with the Th2 skewing adjuvant aluminium hydroxide, whereas sensitisation to allergens in humans occurs via the airways. Finally, prolonged exposure to OVA may lead to tolerance in mice, which does not allow reproducibility of chronic disease (Chapman et al., 2014).

For these reasons, murine models of allergic airways disease have more recently switched from the use of OVA to inhaled house dust mite (HDM) extract (Gregory and Lloyd, 2011; Buday and Plevkova, 2014). HDM is one of the most prevalent aeroallergens worldwide, with up to 85% of asthmatics showing allergic reactions to HDM and affecting people of all ages (Buday and Plevkova, 2014). HDM extract contains many allergenic components, including faecal matter, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), chitin and proteolytic enzymes, all of which are directly relevant to human allergic responses (Nathan et al., 2009). A major advantage of the HDM model is its topical administration (intranasal), which allows allergic disease to rely on local mucosal sensitization within the lungs, as it occurs in humans. Moreover, HDM-challenged mice do not normally show induction of tolerance even over prolonged exposures (Buday and Plevkova, 2014).

For decades, fungi have been associated with the pathogenesis of asthma. Among the fungi, *Aspergillus fumigatus* is the most prevalent cause for allergic asthma in atopic people and has been used to generate mouse models of allergic lung inflammation. *A. fumigatus* is a source of 23 listed allergens that have been shown to promote a Th2 response in the murine lung associated with recruitment of both eosinophils and neutrophils, tissue damage and mucus hyperproduction, without the need of sensitisation or adjuvants (Pandey et al., 2013; Chaudhary and Marr, 2011).

To assess airway function in mice models of allergic lung inflammation both non-invasive and invasive analysis methods have been used. Whole-body plethysmography is a non-invasive method that measures airway function with pause (Penh), with enhanced pause being correlated to increased bronchoconstriction. Although this method is simple and does not require anaesthesia or surgery, pause is argued to be a measure of breathing rather than an indicator of mechanical lung function. Moreover, with this method animals experience stress, which may affect physiological measurements (Verheijden et al., 2014). Invasive lung resistance measurement (R_L) is a more reliable method to measure lung function. Administration of bronchoconstrictor agents through a cannula inserted in the trachea, such as methacholine (MCh), is often performed with this method. Increased sensitivity to MCh reflects the presence of AHR in the airways, the degree of which was found to depend on the number of allergen challenges mice are exposed to (Zosky et al., 2004). Nevertheless, this method requires anaesthesia, surgery and artificial ventilation, procedures that can all affect physiological parameters (Verheijden et al., 2014).

Histopathological analysis of paraffin-embedded lung sections is also routinely used to assess the level of airway inflammation. The histopathology of asthma is characterized by several structural changes, including inflammatory cell infiltrate, epithelial detachment, goblet cell hyperplasia, fibrosis, bronchial smooth muscle hypertrophy and thickening of the airway wall. These changes are observed in both central and peripheral airways (Hamid, 2003; Saetta and Turato, 2001). The most common staining techniques used to identify such changes are Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) and Periodic Acid Schiff (PAS) together with Alcian-Blue. In H&E, Hematoxylin is used to stain cellular nuclei in blue, whereas Eosin is a pink dye used as a counterstain to distinguish between the cytoplasm and nuclei of cells (Zhou and Moore, 2017). PAS and Alcian-Blue identify goblet cells by staining mucins containing neutral and acidic glycoproteins respectively (McManus, 1948; Yamabayashi, 1987).

1.3.3 Eosinophils in allergic asthma

It is accepted that high levels of eosinophils in the airways, blood and BM are a characteristic feature of allergic asthma and that this correlates with severity of disease (Fahy, 2009).



Figure 1.5: Eosinophils in allergic asthma (created with BioRender.com)
Degranulation of eosinophils is one of the most pathogenic functions of these cells in allergic asthma (Fig. 1.5). As mentioned previously (section 1.2.3), eosinophils contain four types of crystalloid granule proteins, MBP, EPX, ECP and EDN. MBP is toxic to the airway epithelium, induces airway smooth muscle contraction, and stimulates mast cell and basophil degranulation (Frigas et al., 1980), as well as IL-8 secretion by neutrophils (Page et al., 1999), which induces recruitment and activation of both neutrophils and eosinophils (Ulfman et al., 2001; Norzila et al., 2000). EPX promotes ROS production and enhances macrophage phagocytosis (Lefkowitz et al., 1997), whereas ECP is bactericidal and induces fibrosis by acting on fibroblasts (Amin et al., 2016). EDN, whose expression is also detected on mononuclear cells, promotes DC activation (McBrien and Menzies-Gow, 2017) but also has antiviral activity (Rosenberg and Domachowske, 2001). In addition to crystalloid granules, eosinophils have been found to contain other granules, named primary, small and secretory vesicles (Hogan et al., 2008). The primary granules appear during the promyelocytic stage of eosinophil development and are enriched in Charcot-Leyden crystal (CLC) protein. Small secretory vesicles and small granules contain pre-formed cytokines, chemokine and growth factors in humans, however it is still not fully clear whether all cytokines are pre-formed in mice (Weller and Spencer, 2017).

Granule proteins are mainly released via piecemeal degranulation or cytolysis. Piecemeal degranulation involves the release of vesicles from granules within the cytoplasm, which reach the plasma membrane where they release their content into the extracellular space. Cytolysis, or cell lysis, occurs when the plasma membrane is ruptured and eosinophils release all of their contents, including intact granules, into the extracellular space (McBrien and Menzies-Gow, 2017).

Similarly to neutrophils, eosinophils have also been found to secrete extracellular traps, named eosinophil-derived extracellular traps (EETs) (Yousefi et al., 2008) (Fig. 1.5). These consist of mitochondrial DNA released in less than one second, which has been associated with protection against bacteria but also with the development of pathologies, including allergic diseases (Hwang et al., 2019). Eosinophil influx in the airway has been correlated with production of EETs that stain positive for DNA and MBP, and EET⁺ eosinophils have been negatively correlated with lung function (Mukherjee et al., 2018). EETs contribute to eosinophil degranulation and ROS production in an autocrine fashion and have been associated with epithelial detachment, epithelial cell activation and pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion (Choi et al., 2018).

Eosinophils have been shown to secrete both Th1 and Th2 cytokines (Fig. 1.5). Although Th2 cells and ILC2s are the main IL-5-producing cells, eosinophils can also release IL-5 and GM-CSF, which promote their own survival in an autocrine fashion (Wen and Rothenberg, 2017). Eosinophil activation is also correlated with enhanced glycolysis as well as mitochondrial

respiration, both triggered by IL-5 and GM-CSF (Jones et al., 2019). Eosinophils can also release IL-4 (Chen et al., 2004), which simulates the proliferation of B cells and IgE production, and IL-6, which enhances survival of plasma cells (McBrien and Menzies-Gow, 2017).

Eosinophils also enhance airway remodelling and fibrosis (Wen and Rothenberg, 2017). Eosinophils are indeed a source of several fibrogenic and growth factors, including TGF- β , vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9 (Hogan et al., 2008) and cysteinyl leukotrienes (cysLTs) (Thompson-Souza et al., 2017) (Fig. 1.5). In fact, subjects with eosinophilic asthma show increased thickness of the subepithelial basement membrane, not detected in patients with non-eosinophilic asthma (Fahy, 2009). Eosinophils also produce several chemokines, in particular the CCR1-binding C10, MIP-1 γ and MIP-1 α , as well as CCL11, that may altogether contribute to the recruitment of DCs and other inflammatory cells (Rose et al., 2010). The Th1 cytokine IFN- γ can also be produced by eosinophils and may contribute to lung inflammation by enhancing eosinophil-effector functions via IFN- γ R1 in an autocrine manner (Kanda et al., 2009) (Fig. 1.5).

It is clear that eosinophils are key contributors to the inflammatory response in allergic asthma. However, recent studies suggest that the role of eosinophils may be more complex than previously realised (Weller and Spencer, 2017). Mesnil et al. (2016) identified two populations of eosinophils in the airways and blood of allergic mice, defined as resident (r) and inflammatory (i)Eos. (r)Eos were identified both at steady-state and following administration of HDM, whereas (i)Eos only in allergic mice. These two populations showed different phenotypes and morphology, as (r)Eos were Siglec-F^{int}IL-5R^{int}CD62L⁺ cells with a ring-shaped nucleus, whereas (i)Eos were Siglec-F^{hi}IL-5R^{int}CD101⁺ cells with a segmented nucleus. (i)Eos were also found to be localised in the peribronchial areas of the lung, whereas (r)Eos in the parenchyma. In this study, the presence of (i)Eos was dependent on IL-5 since treatment with anti-IL-5 antibodies did not affect numbers of (r)Eos but reduced (i)Eos. Microarray analysis showed that (r)Eos expressed genes associated with homeostatic responses in the lung, including Anxa1, Runx3, Serpinb1a, and Ldlr, that have been implicated in the negative regulation of lung Th2 responses, whereas (i)Eos expressed pro-inflammatory genes, such as Slc3a2, Tlr4, C3ar1, II13ra1, and II6. Functionally, (r)Eos were shown to inhibit the development of Th2 responses in the lung by suppressing expression of costimulatory molecules on allergen-loaded BM-derived DCs, therefore also T cell activation.

Eosinophils are also reported to have immunomodulatory functions in allergic lung inflammation. They have been shown to express MHC Class II and costimulatory molecules, such as CD80 and CD86, that are required to present exogenous antigens to naïve T cells and trigger their activation (Akuthota et al., 2010; Farhan et al., 2016) (Fig 1.5). Eosinophils may act as professional APCs, as they can traffic to lymph nodes where they physically interact with T cells and bias their differentiation into Th2 cells. Eosinophils could therefore help traditional APCs in amplifying the adaptive immune response to inhaled allergens (Shi et al., 2000).

Respiratory viruses are considered as an additional causative factor in asthma exacerbations. Despite the reported increases in eosinophil levels following virus exposure, eosinophils can be directly activated through TLR-7 binding and provide antiviral activity toward single-stranded RNA viruses via release of cytotoxic granule proteins (Phipps et al., 2007) (Fig. 1.5).

Mice exposed to *A. fumigatus* also showed that eosinophils can eliminate the spores of the fungus via secretion of IL-23 and IL-17, whereas absence of eosinophils led to enhanced susceptibility to fungal infection. Eosinophils may therefore contribute to fungal clearance but at the same time their release of IL-17 and IL-23 may contribute to lung damage (Guerra et al., 2017) (Fig. 1.5).

1.3.4 Eosinophil-targeted therapies

Glucocorticoids are the most frequently used therapy for allergic asthma. They decrease eosinophilia by suppressing the transcription of the genes for IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, GM-CSF, and various chemokines, including eotaxins (Hogan et al., 2008). Although short-term treatment with glucocorticoids is safe and effective, long-term therapy causes significant side effects (Dunlap and Fulmer, 1984) such as impaired growth and suppression of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal-axis (Dahl, 2006). Despite administration of high doses of glucocorticoids, some patients are also resistant to the drugs and airway eosinophilia cannot be reduced (Barnes and Adcock, 1995). Glucocorticoid-resistant patients may be treated with myelosuppressive drugs (e.g. hydroxyurea or vincristine) or IFN- α , which inhibits eosinophil degranulation and effector functions (Aldebert et al., 1996). Treatment with lidocaine was also shown to be effective in reducing eosinophil survival similarly to glucocorticoids but without their cytotoxicity (Hunt et al., 2004). Drugs that inhibit eosinophil cheomotaxis and activation are in use and include inhibitors of the synthesis and receptor binding of cysLTs (Ogawa and Calhoun, 2006), and nedocromil sodium or sodium cromoglicate that inhibit eosinophil degranulation (Gonzalez and Brogden, 1987).

The identification of different asthma phenotypes has led to development of more tailored treatments, such as biologic therapies to target specific inflammatory mediators (Bussino et al., 2018). Antibodies blocking IL-13, such as Lebrikizumab and Tralokinumab, have been developed since the cytokine is a key mediator in the pathogenesis of asthma. Despite showing promise in pre-clinical trials, they were found to provide little clinical benefit in patients with refractory asthma (Blanchard et al., 2005). Alternatively, Dupilumab has been developed to

block IL-4Ra, the common receptor for IL-4 and IL-13, and has shown more efficacy than IL-13 blockade in improving symptoms. However, it is not clear whether the benefits are correlated with decreased eosinophil levels or activation (Barnes, 2017).

Omalizumab, which binds IgE, has shown more efficacy in reducing symptoms and has been approved for the treatment of severe allergic asthma. IgE binding prevents activation of $Fc\epsilon RI$, predominantly leading to inhibition of mast cell, basophil and DC activation. Although the function of $Fc\epsilon RI$ on eosinophils is not fully understood, treatment with anti-IgE also decreases eosinophilia, eosinophil activation and promotes apoptosis without inducing cell lysis (Matucci et al., 2018).



Figure 1.6: Eosinophil targeted therapies (created with BioRender.com).

The above-mentioned treatments have beneficial effects in reducing eosinophilia but are not eosinophil-specific. Considering the fundamental role of IL-5 in eosinophil differentiation and survival, two different humanised anti-IL-5 antibodies, Mepolizumab and Reslizumab, have been developed. Anti-IL-5 antibodies target eosinophils by binding to IL-5 and preventing its binding to IL-5R α (Wechsler et al., 2012) (Fig. 1.6). However, although treatment with anti-IL-5 antibodies eliminates eosinophils, it did not lead to a significant clinical improvement in asthma patients (Borish, 2016). Moreover, treatment with anti-IL-5 antibodies increases circulating levels of IL-5, with the majority of it bound in IL-5-anti-IL-5 antibody complexes (Matucci et al., 2018). These immune complexes can act as a storage for IL-5 potentially increasing the half-life of the cytokine, which may potentiate and not neutralise its target activity (Roufosse et al., 2018).

To alternatively compromise IL-5 signalling, the humanised antibody Benralizumab has been developed to target IL-5R α , resulting in inhibition of IL-5-mediated receptor activation (Fig. 1.6). Benralizumab is produced in Chinese hamster ovary cells deficient in the enzyme α 1,6 fucosyltransferase (FUT8), resulting in no fucosylation of the antibody. This enhances the

binding of Benralizumab to human FcγRIIIa, leading to enhanced antibody-dependent cellmediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), therefore eosinophil apoptosis. Targeting IL-5Rα over IL-5 also enables depletion of eosinophils with lower expression of the receptor, therefore eosinophils that no longer rely on IL-5 as a survival factor (Wechsler et al., 2012). Despite reductions in blood and BM eosinophils, treatment with Benralizumab was not found to affect bronchial eosinophilia or ECP levels in the sputum of asthmatic patients (Brussino et al., 2018). These data suggest that targeting one single cytokine may limit therapy efficacy due to redundant pathways involved in supporting eosinophil survival and activation (Matucci et al., 2018). At present, the candidates receiving the most benefit from anti-IL-5 therapy are subjects with severe eosinophilic asthma and a history of frequent exacerbations, but more studies are necessary to fully confirm this profile (Garcia et al., 2013).

Strategies aimed at blocking eosinophil chemotaxis by targeting the CCR3/eotaxin axis are also being investigated (Fig. 1.6). Numerous inhibitors of the eotaxin/CCR3 pathway, including small-molecule inhibitors of CCR3 and a human anti-eotaxin-1 antibody (Bertilimumab), are being developed and have showed some promising effects (Rosenwasser et al., 2003). CCR3 is also targeted by TPI ASM8, an antisense oligonucleotide designed to downregulate mRNA expression and gene transcription of CCR3, which has been shown to reduce airway eosinophilia and symptoms in mild asthmatics (Wechsler et al., 2012). Similarly, small interfering (si)RNA molecules that prevent gene transcription of IL-5 or eotaxin are also under investigation (Garcia et al., 2013). Recently, the peptide-based CCR3 antagonist R321 has shown more promising results. The compound does not inhibit receptor endocytosis suggesting that eosinophils do not become desensitised to R321 as it does not remain bound on the cell membrane (Pease and Williams, 2019).

1.4 Homeostatic functions of eosinophils

Recent studies investigating the role of eosinophils have demonstrated that the activities of these granulocytes are not just destructive and correlated with disease progression, but they can also be beneficial and promote maintenance of tissue homeostasis (Jacobsen et al., 2012). This has led to the hypothesis that eosinophils do not accumulate in tissues simply as a result of disrupted immunity, but they may be attracted to any tissue with high cell turnover and the necessary factors for their survival, in either health (e.g. GI mucosa and BM) or disease (e.g. tumours and inflamed lung). The functions of recruited eosinophils are partly determined by the tissue where they accumulate. However, independently of this, eosinophil-released bioproducts generally promote tissue remodelling and repair. The latter processes are suggested not to change in nature between health and disease, but in magnitude and extent. As a result, eosinophils may contribute to maintaining tissue homeostasis, but in certain circumstances their activities may become predominant to local immune responses. These observations suggest

that eosinophils may contribute to homeostasis with variety of functions that still need to be fully explored (Lee et al., 2010).



Figure 1.7: Homeostatic functions of eosinophils (created with BioRender.com).

Eosinophils have been correlated with maintenance of B cell homeostasis. Eosinophils have been demonstrated to localise close to B cell-derived plasma cells in the BM and to promote their survival by producing IL-6 and A proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL). Plasma cell antibody production was also enhanced following secondary immunisation, suggesting that during immune responses eosinophils can be primed to prevent plasma cells from undergoing apoptosis (Chu and Berek, 2012) (Fig. 1.7).

B cell priming for the production of antigen-specific IgM was also shown to be dependent on IL-4 released by eosinophils in the spleen (Wang and Weller, 2008). Modulation of B cells was found to occur irrespective of eosinophil activation state, T-independent and T-dependent B cell activation (Wong et al., 2014) (Fig. 1.7).

Eosinophils are known to reside in adipose tissue but until recently their function there was unclear. Eosinophils have been shown to maintain appropriate glucose metabolism and insulin levels in adipose tissue by producing IL-4 and subsequent M2 macrophage polarisation, which

is necessary to maintain metabolic homeostasis (Wu et al., 2011). Conversion of subcutaneous white adipose tissue into beige fat produces heat, which is essential to allow regulation of body temperature. This process was also found to depend on eosinophil-derived IL-4 and M2 macrophage polarisation, which enhances catecholamine production and consequent biogenesis of beige fat (Qiu et al., 2014) (Fig. 1.7). Eosinophil-derived catecholamines have also been linked to maintaining the capacity of perivascular adipose tissue to mediate an anti-contractile effect on the vasculature, necessary to prevent the pathogenesis of diseases such as hypertension, diabetes or obesity. This process is mediated by binding of catecholamines to β 3 adrenoreceptors on adipocytes with subsequent release of adiponectin and nitric oxide that induce smooth muscle relaxation (Withers et al., 2017).

Eosinophil release of IL-4 can also mediate regenerative responses to tissue injury. Muscle damage results in eosinophil recruitment, which through IL-4 production controls the proliferation and differentiation of resident fibro/adipocyte progenitors into fibroblasts, and not adipocytes, supportive of myogenesis and necrotic fibre clearance (Heredia et al., 2013). Liver injury also requires IL-4 signalling to induce hepatocyte proliferation and the eosinophils were found to be the major producers of the cytokine (Goh et al., 2013) (Fig 1.7).

Together with the adipose tissue, high levels of eosinophils can be found in the female reproductive tract, especially in the ovaries, preovulatory follicles, placenta and uterus. These tissues are tightly regulated by remodelling processes initiated by infiltrated leukocytes to facilitate the reproductive process. Eosinophils do so by promoting cervix dilation at birth and postpartum remodelling via release of cytotoxic granule proteins (Timmons et al., 2009). The importance of eosinophils in the reproductive tract is also evidenced by eosinophil- or eotaxin-deficient mice that show alterations in the development and function of the reproductive tract, such as delayed puberty and placental growth (Sferruzzi-Perri et al., 2003), as well as mammary gland development (Gouon-Evans et al., 2000).

As previously mentioned (section 1.1.2), eosinophils predominantly migrate to the GI tract and can be found in all regions, apart from the oesophagus. Eosinophils promote intestinal homeostasis by supporting production of plasma cell-derived IgA via the release of TGF- β and IL-1 β (Beller et al., 2014; Jung et al., 2015) (Fig. 1.7). Absence of eosinophils is indeed associated with microbial dysbiosis, altered integrity of the mucosal barrier and development of Peyer's patches, as well as decreased numbers of CD103⁺ T cells and DCs in the lamina propria (Beller et al., 2014; Jung et al., 2015).

The number of intestinal eosinophils has also been inversely correlated to the number of Th17 cells in the intestine. In fact, regulation of Th17 cell development has been attributed to

eosinophil-derived IL-1Ra. IL-1 β production by intestinal macrophages is required for the development of Th17 cells, therefore the balance between IL-1 β and IL-1Ra is important in regulating the number of Th17 cells in the intestine to prevent the pathogenesis of diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (Sugawara et al., 2016).

Eotaxin-recruited eosinophils can be found in the embryonic thymus located within the corticomedullary region. The thymus is an essential organ as it is the site of T cell selection, a process by which T cells that are reactive to self-antigens are eliminated by apoptosis (Weller and Spencer, 2017). Although thymic macrophages are mainly responsible for phagocytosing apoptotic T cells, eosinophil or neutrophil depletion reduces efficiency of the clearance process, suggesting their involvement (Kim et al., 2010) (Fig. 1.7). Eosinophils express Indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase (IDO) which catalyses the conversion of tryptophan to kynurenine. Tryptophan is essential for T cell survival and proliferation, whereas increased kynurenine levels promote T cell apoptosis. Eosinophil expression and activation of IDO may therefore be one of the mechanisms by which these cells contribute to T cell immunomodulation in the thymus as well as immune responses to apoptosis (Odemuyiwa et al., 2004).

1.5 The gut-lung axis

As previously mentioned (section 1.2), the immune system of the lung has developed multiple mechanisms of tolerance toward the constant exposure to microbiota as well as prompt defence from foreign agents. The gut shares similarities with the lung, as they have the same embryonic origin, structure, as well as exposure to commensals and pathogens (Tulic et al., 2016). The existing complex and mutual relationship with the microbiota have raised great interest in elucidating how it may alter immune function in a tissue- and context-specific manner. Further research in this area may uncover further physiological mechanisms involved in maintenance of homeostasis as well as in the generation of inflammatory diseases. Drugs targeting the microbiome, or the microbiome itself, may represent additional innovative treatments for diseases linked to inflammation (Shreiner et al., 2015).

1.5.1 The gut-lung axis in allergic asthma

The "hygiene hypothesis", as previously discussed (section 1.2.1), suggests that environmental changes have impaired the mechanisms involved in mucosal immune tolerance and have created a predisposition for allergic disease. This suggests that there is an existing relationship between the gut and the lung. Several studies over the last 50 years have indeed demonstrated cross-communication between these distant mucosal sites (Tulic et al., 2016 and references therein).

Altered gut microbiota during the first three months of life due to pre- and peri-natal antibiotics, delivery by caesarean section, urban living or formula feeding, has been found to predispose infants to a relatively high risk of asthma (Fig. 1.8). This is associated with significant decreases in the bacterial genera of Faecalibacterium, Lachnospira, Veillonella, Rothia and Akkermansia muciniphila, as well as reduced faecal levels of short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) (Arrieta et al., 2015; Fujimura et al., 2016; Wesemann and Nagler, 2016; Zhang et al., 2020). In support of this, antibiotic intake during pregnancy and in infants is associated with an increased incidence of childhood asthma (Mulder et al., 2016). Furthermore, inoculation of the bacteria absent in the microbiota of asthmatic patients decreases airways inflammation. For example, Bacteroides fragilis is reported to balance Th1 and Th2 responses systemically, thereby reducing susceptibility to allergic asthma (Enaud et al., 2020). Increased incidence of GI symptoms has also been described in children with asthma or atopic dermatitis (Powell et al., 2010). Some asthmatic patients commonly suffer from GI disorders such as primary eosinophilic GI disease, gastro-oesophageal reflux disease or the more severe eosinophilic esophagitis (Tulic et al., 2016). Moreover, increased levels of eosinophils, mast cells, lymphocytes and Th2 cytokines have not only been detected in the airways but also in the duodenal mucosa of asthmatic patients compared with healthy individuals (Powell et al., 2010). Asthmatic patients also show decreased circulating levels of the hormone motilin, which regulates interdigestive migrating contractions in the GI tract, whereas patients affected by heart failure and non-GI disease displayed unchanged levels of the protein (Ni and Gao, 2012). Communication between the lungs and the gut has also been evidenced in mice following intranasal administration of antigens, which triggered specific CD4⁺T-cell proliferation not only in the lymph nodes draining the lungs but also in the gut-draining mesenteric lymph nodes, and not in peripheral non-draining nodes (Lambrecht et al., 2000). Another study showed that mice treated with broad-spectrum antibiotics in conjunction with a low intestinal colonisation with Candida albicans, used to induce microbial dysbiosis, developed airway allergic responses to intranasally administered OVA, demonstrated by increased eosinophil number, IgE levels, IL-5 and IL-13 production as well as goblet cell hyperplasia. Conversely, absence of microbial dysbiosis led to minor eosinophil recruitment and cytokine release (Beck et al., 2012; Noverr et al., 2005). Age-related alterations of the gut microbiota in old mice were also found to mimic the phenotype of HDM-exposed mice and were associated with increased Th17 cells in the spleen and IL-17A levels in the BAL (Shukla et al., 2017).

Inflammation in the gut may also affect the lung, as patients with IBD display airway inflammation even in the absence of any bronchopulmonary symptoms and with normal pulmonary functions (Wang et al., 2013; Luo et al., 2008). Changes were detected in both large and small airways, including thickening of the epithelium, fibrosis and inflammation of the pulmonary parenchyma; these symptoms were more pronounced in in patients with active disease than those in remission (Tulic et al., 2016).

Recent studies have provided evidence for the lung microbiome to also be involved in the gutlung axis (Fig. 1.8). For example, pneumonia caused by multi drug resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* or *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, which originate in the lung, has been shown to induce intestinal injury (Lobo et al., 2005; Perrone et al., 2012) and intranasal administration of LPS has been associated with microbial dysbiosis in the lung and caecum (Sze et al., 2014).



Figure 1.8: The gut-lung axis in allergic asthma (created with BioRender.com)

These results suggest that the relationship between the lung and the gut is bi-directional. They support the hypothesis that microbial colonisation during a developmental window early in life protects against childhood asthma but also that Th2 responses at one mucosal site can prime for similar responses in distant mucosal sites. Particularly communication between the gut and lung seems to be specific, as evidenced by a rat model of ulcerative colitis (UC) (Liu et al., 2013), and by intranasal infection with Influenza virus (Wang et al., 2014)

Although there is now robust evidence for the presence of concomitant inflammation in the lung and gut, the mechanisms underlying the lung-gut crosstalk are still poorly understood (Tulic et al., 2016) (Fig. 1.8).

Elevated numbers of eosinophils are known to be present in the airways during allergic lung inflammation, but increased levels have also been associated with the development and severity of IBD. Fort these reasons, eosinophils have been investigated as possible mediators of the lung-gut crosstalk. In support of this, increased expression of CCL11 mRNA is detected in the sputum and intestinal biopsy samples from both asthmatics and individuals with GI pathologies (Waddell et al., 2011). Together with eosinophils, neutrophils may also be elevated in both asthma and IBD, therefore they may be implicated in the establishment of the lung-gut crosstalk (Zhou and Liu, 2017). Damage to the epithelial barrier is another feature common between lung and gut inflammatory diseases. Dermatophaghoides Pteronyssinus (Derp1), which is a component of HDM with proteolytic activity in the lung, was found to reach the GI tract and to equally affect the gut epithelium, suggesting that it could link the similar pathology in the two organs (Tulic et al., 2016). Another possibility is that lung-resident DCs promote antigen-specific T cells to migrate back to the gut by inducing upregulation of gut-specific homing molecules such as integrin $\alpha 4\beta 7$ and CCR9 (Ruane et al., 2013). The overlapping inflammation between the lung and the gut may also be caused by shared expression of inflammatory mediators. TSLP and VEGF have been suggested as potential candidates. TSLP is produced by pulmonary epithelial cells and mediates Th2 allergic responses in the lung. The same responses were also found to be mediated by TSLP in patients with Crohn's Disease (CD), suggesting that this molecule may be involved in the cross-talk (Takai, 2012). VEGF is involved in the pathogenesis of IBD (Scaldaferri et al., 2009) but high levels are also detected in asthmatic patients (Lee at al., 2017), suggesting that it may also represent a mediator of inflammatory responses between the lung and the gut (Liu et al., 2013).

1.5.2 Manipulation of the gut microbiota for the treatment of allergic asthma

The human gut microbiota is complex and is composed of at least a thousand distinct bacterial species. They are typically composed of five phyla: *Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria,* and *Tenericutes*, with *Bacteroides, Faecalibacterium*, and *Bifidobacterium* being the most prevalent genera in healthy adults (Barcik et al., 2020). These commensal species are not yet present in the foetal GI tract, which becomes colonised only at birth by the mother's urogenital tract (Belkaid and Hand, 2014).

The neonatal immune system adapts to the presence of bacteria with the aid of breast milkderived IgA, cytokines and immune cells that promote induction of tolerogenic responses over inflammatory ones to allow establishment of the microbiota. The gut microbiota then contributes to the post-natal development of the immune system, including lymphoid structures, cellular development and function by providing a vast array of antigenic stimuli (Belkaid and Hand, 2014). This is achieved through sensing of microbial-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) by PRRs, mainly TLRs, expressed on intestinal epithelial and immune cells. For example, TLR-2 recognises lipoteichoic acid, whereas TLR-4 recognises LPS, that are MAMPs present on Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria respectively. These signals determine the nature of the immune response leading to establishment of a symbiotic relationship with the host (Toh et al., 2012). In fact, impaired immune responses in germ-free (GF) mice are restored by simply reintroducing the microbiome via faecal transplants (Dang and Marsland, 2019). Induction of BM myelopoiesis by the microbiota is also suggested to be mediated via sensing of MAMPs by TLRs expressed on HSCs and subsequent activation of MyD88 signalling (Nagai et al., 2006).

The respiratory microbiota develops together with the gut microbiome and shares a similar phylum structure but *Prevotella, Veillonnella* and *Streptococcus spp.* are more prevalent as genera (Moffatt and Cookson, 2017). In healthy lungs, there is not a high abundance of bacteria due to inhospitable conditions. However, during inflammatory responses, specific bacterial species can adapt to changes occurring in the lung environment allowing their growth and survival (Sommariva et al., 2020). Although studies analysing the airway microbiome are scarcer, there is evidence for it being essential in maintaining immune tolerance in the lungs (Enaud et al., 2020). In humans high bacterial load in the airways is associated with reduced pro-inflammatory responses to bacterial products such as LPS or to chronic viral infections (Sommariva et al., 2020).

It is therefore clear how the very first interaction between commensals and the foetal immune system may determine further development of the host, as well as protection or propensity to diseases at mucosal sites, such as allergic asthma (Belkaid and Hand, 2014). One of the main mechanisms by which the microbiome mediates induction of gut tolerance is via generation of Tregs. These cells produce anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 and promote IgA production in an antigen-specific manner, thereby limiting mucosal pro-inflammatory responses. Differentiation of CD4⁺ T cells into Tregs is normally induced by TGF- β and RA, secreted by specialised CD103⁺CD11b⁺ DCs in the gut. Commensals may directly enhance Treg induction by several mechanisms, such as creating a TGF- β rich environment or stimulating TLR-2 on T cells (Belkaid and Hand, 2014). Other studies showed that intestinal *Clostridia spp*. and *Escherichia* promote the development of Tregs through the generation of SCFAs or IL-10 production by monocytes respectively (Furusawaet al., 2013; Orivuor et al., 2015). The induction of Tregs may be a potential mechanism by which *Clostridia spp*. mediates protection against wheezing and asthma (McAleer and Kolls, 2018).

Induction of tolerance by the lung microbiome has also been associated with Treg activity. For instance, Gollwitzer et al. (2014) has shown that juvenile mice (15-60 days old) could mount tolerogenic responses to HDM. Conversely, a short time after birth (3 days), mice were more susceptible to development of aberrant Th2 inflammatory responses in the lungs despite high levels of Tregs present. The ability of the immune system to suppress inflammatory responses was correlated to increased bacterial load and a shift from a prevalence of *Gammaproteobacteria* and *Firmicutes* toward *Bacteroidetes* as mice aged. This resulted in increased expression of programmed death-ligand-1 (PD-L1) on DCs, which was required for the development of immunosuppressive Helios⁻ Tregs.



Figure 1.9: SCFAs mechanisms of action (created with BioRender.com)

Dietary fibers, but also proteins and peptides, which escape digestion in the upper gut, are metabolized by the microbiota leading to production of SCFAs that fortify barriers of defense and provide anti-inflammatory effects to maintain immune homeostasis in the gut. A diet rich in fibre is therefore important to maintain a healthy gut microbiome compared to high fat and sugar intake, which leads to reduced production of SCFAs and microbial diversity (Koh et al., 2016). As shown in Fig. 1.9, the most abundant SCFAs in the gut are butyrate, acetate and propionate, with their collective concentrations in the human gut ranging from 50 to 150 mM (Wu et al., 2017). SCFA-mediated effects occur mainly via binding to three G-protein coupled receptors

(GPCRs): GPR43 (also known as free fatty acid receptor 2, FFAR2), GPR41 (FFAR3) and GPR109a (NIACR1). GPR41 and GPR109a are coupled to G_{i/o} which inhibits cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) accumulation, whereas GPR43 is coupled to both G_{i/o} and G_q, which stimulates activation of protein kinase C (PKC) and intracellular Ca²⁺ release (Mizuno and Itoh, 2009). Additionally, SCFAs, primarily butyrate, can act as inhibitors of histone deacetylases (HDACs), thereby directly modulating gene transcription. They may reach the cell nucleus by passive diffusion or absorption via the high-affinity Na⁺-coupled monocarboxylate transporter SLC5A8 or the low-affinity H⁺-coupled carrier SLC16A1 (Dang and Marsland, 2019).

In the gut, SCFAs may mediate anti-inflammatory effects via induction of Tregs. SCFAs may signal through GPR109a on macrophages and DCs to induce IL-10 production, which in turn triggers the differentiation of Tregs (Singh et al., 2014). Another study showed that binding of SCFAs to GPR43 and HDAC inhibition can also generate Tregs in the gut by increasing transcription of the Foxp3 gene (Smith et al., 2013). SCFAs, acetate in particular, can enhance intestinal protection by signalling through GPR43 and enhance B-cell production of IgA, one of the main mechanisms of defence at the intestinal mucosal barrier (Wu et al., 2017). SCFAs were also found to increase prostaglandin E₁ (PGE₁) release by subepithelial myofibroblast and epithelial cells that in turn increases expression of mucin-2 (MUC-2), therefore mucus production (Willemsen et al., 2003). A recent study further demonstrated that SCFAs signal through GPR43 and GPR109a on epithelial cells to activate the NOD-, LRR- and pyrin domain-containing protein 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome and IL-18 production, which is necessary for maintenance of epithelial integrity, repair and intestinal homeostasis (Macia et al., 2015).

Despite SCFAs being largely concentrated in the gut, there is evidence for SCFA-mediated antiinflammatory effects in the periphery and especially along the gut-lung axis. In support of this, several studies report a direct relationship between obesity and a Westernised diet with asthma incidence and worsening, whereas a Mediterranean diet was associated with protection against the onset of asthma in children. The diet regimen adopted by pregnant women was also found to significantly affect the developing foetus and further susceptibility to allergic lung inflammation (Thorburn et al., 2015). The mesenteric lymphatic system is an essential pathway between the lungs and the intestine, through which SCFAs may translocate across the intestinal barrier, reach the systemic circulation, and modulate the lung immune response (Dang and Marsland, 2019). For example, during allergic lung inflammation, propionate was found to promote generation of macrophage and dendritic cell precursors (MDPs) in the BM and this effect was dependent on GPR41. Subsequent migration of the precursors to the lungs and differentiation in mature DCs showed that these cells had high phagocytic activity but were impaired at acting as APCs. Therefore, Th2 cells could not be activated and this prevented the development of airway inflammation (Trompette et al., 2014). Similarly, during influenza infection, propionate promoted generation of MDPs via GPR41. In this scenario, MDPs committed to Ly6C⁻ monocytes without affecting the Ly6C⁺ subset, and when in the lung, they differentiated into M2 macrophages with inefficient release of the neutrophil chemokine CXCL1. As a result, decreased neutrophil recruitment limited virus-induced inflammatory responses in the lung. In the same study, SCFAs also increased the metabolic activity of CD8⁺ T cells which was correlated with an activated phenotype indicative of enhanced antiviral activity (Trompette et al., 2018). Increased levels of SCFAs and GPR41-dependent activation of Tregs was also found to mediate the beneficial effects of exposure to the parasite *Heligmosomoides polygyrus bakeri* in allergic lung inflammation (Zaiss et al., 2015).

Considering the homeostatic role that commensals and their metabolites provide, manipulation of the gut microbiome may be a promising therapeutic strategy to prevent or ameliorate allergic asthma (Anand et al., 2018). For example, a combination of five traditional chinese herbal medicines was shown to decrease Th2 cytokine release, cellular infiltration, tissue remodelling in the lung of OVA-induced asthmatic mice. The anti-inflammatory effects were achieved via alterations in the diversity of the gut microbiome with increased abundance of *Firmicutes*, therefore increased production of butyrate (Tsang et al., 2018). Commensals themselves given as Lactobacillus rhamnosus, orally as probiotics, such Bifidobacterium lactis, and Bifidobacterium breve have been found to suppress asthma symptoms by increasing TGFβ and levels of Tregs in the airways of mice (Feleszko et al., 2007; Jang et al., 2012; Hougee et al., 2010). Other studies have shown that treatment with several lactic acid bacteria attenuates asthma symptoms in allergic mice (Lee et al., 2007) as well as Th2 cytokine release by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from allergic patients (Pochard et al., 2002). More importantly, probiotic treatment was effective in ameliorating lung inflammation in infants but also asthma exacerbations in adults (Zhang et al., 2020). For instance, a single dose of inulin with probiotics significantly decreased airway inflammation and increased expression of GPR41 and GPR43 in the sputum of asthmatic patients (Halnes et al., 2017). Another study showed that ingestion of Bifidobacterium infantis increases expression of IL-10 and Foxp3 in the blood of human healthy subjects, which was dependent on TLR-2 and IDO expression by DCs (Konieczna et al., 2012). Treating asthmatic children with Lactobacillus reuteri for 60 days was also found to reduce lung inflammation (Del Giudice et al., 2012). Despite evidence for probiotics being promising in suppressing allergic lung inflammation, some studies report that they are not effective in improving all symptoms of the pathology of asthma. The efficacy of probiotic is suggested to be age-dependent, transient, as well as sufficient to suppress lung inflammation only when other immunotherapies are given together (McAleer and Kolls, 2018). Also, database reviews report that there is more evidence for probiotics being beneficial in eczema and allergic rhinitis rather than in asthma (Hufnagl et al., 2020).

Given the variety of effects that commensals and their metabolites exert, further studies are needed to better define the molecular and immunological mechanisms underpinning gut-lung cross-communication. This would allow subsequent refining of treatment regimens or possibly lead to discovering novel therapies that can prevent lung allergic inflammation.

1.6 Aims and objectives

In order to understand whether microbial metabolites can be used as eosinophil-targeted therapies in allergic asthma it is firstly necessary to better elucidate the precise effects of Th2 inflammation on eosinophils and secondly whether these responses extend to peripheral organs. This project therefore aims to:

- 1. Utilising a murine model of allergic lung inflammation clearly define how Th2 responses affect eosinophil phenotype and function in the airways
- 2. Assess whether lung eosinophils can be targeted from a therapeutic standpoint
- 3. Describe the systemic effects of allergic lung inflammation on immune cells in distal tissues with particular focus on the gut
- 4. Investigate how inter-organ communication may occur during allergic lung inflammation

1.7 Expected outcomes of research

Asthma is one of the most common chronic inflammatory disease worldwide and due to the inability of current therapies to fully restore airway homeostasis, the incidence of the disease and related complications is still rising. By addressing the objectives detailed above, this work aims to identify novel therapeutic options for the treatment of allergic asthma. Using flow cytometry, histology and transcriptomic analysis, this project aims to enhance our understanding of lung Th2 inflammation and the mechanisms through which they affect cell phenotype and function in the airways but also at distal sites, with a focus on eosinophil populations. Characterisation of these responses will aid in determining whether manipulating the gut microbiome and associated metabolites may be an effective strategy to ameliorate the pathology of allergic asthma.

CHAPTER 2 – MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Mice

Wild-type (WT) BALB/c and C57BL/6J (CD45.2) female mice were purchased from Envigo and housed in individually ventilated cages under specific pathogen free (SPF) conditions. Congenic CD45.1⁺ mice (serially backcrossed from SJL/J onto C57BL/6) were all bred in-house and were backcrossed to a C57BL/6 background for at least 10 generations. Germ-free (GF) and SPF controls were bred in-house and were on a C57BL/6 background. II-33^{Gt/Gt} and II-33^{+/Gt} mice (Pichery et al., 2012) were on a C57BL/6 background and were bred in-house and kindly shared by Prof. Richard Grencis. All experiments were approved by The University of Manchester Local Ethical Review Committee and were performed in accordance with the UK Home Office Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986 and the GSK Policy on the Care, Welfare and Treatment of Animals.

2.2 In vivo treatments and infections

2.2.1 House dust mite (HDM)

Mice were sensitised with 100 μ g HDM extract (Greer Laboratories) in 40 μ l Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS; Sigma Aldrich) or with PBS alone given intranasally (i.n.) on day 0. Mice were challenged with 10 μ g HDM extract in PBS or with PBS alone given i.n. on days 7-11. Animals were sacrificed 24 hours after the last HDM challenge (day 12).

For some experiments, HDM was labelled with AF647 Antibody Labelling Kit (Invitrogen) according to manufacturer instructions and delivered i.n. at 100 µg in 40 µl PBS.

2.2.2 Sodium butyrate and niacin

Sodium Butyrate (Sigma Aldrich) was administered in the drinking water at 300 mM for two weeks prior and during HDM treatment. In some experiments, sodium butyrate and niacin (Sigma Aldrich) were delivered i.n. in 40 µl of PBS at 30 mM twice a week for two weeks prior and during HDM treatment or during the challenge of HDM treatment alone.

2.2.3 IL-33

Mice were i.n. administered 4 μ g murine recombinant IL-33 (Peprotech) in 40 μ I PBS or PBS alone daily for four consecutive days and euthanised 24 hours after the last instillation.

2.2.4 Heligmosoides polygyrus bakeri

For infection with *H. polygyrus*, mice were given 200 L3 larvae by oral gavage on day 0 and tissues were harvested on day 7.

2.2.5 Nippostrongylus brasiliensis

For infection with *N. brasiliensis*, 250 L3 larvae were injected subcutaneously (s.c.) on day 0 and tissues were harvested on day 6.

2.2.6 Schistosoma mansoni

For infection with *S. mansoni*, 20 cercariae were injected s.c. on day 0 and 7 and subsequently 80 cercariae were injected on day 14. Tissues were harvested on day 28.

Biomphalaria glabrata snails exposed to *S. mansoni* miracidia (NMRI strain) were acquired from Biodefense and Emerging Infections research repository or from Karl Hoffmann (Aberystwyth University). Snails were maintained in aquaria until patency, 4-5 weeks after exposure to *S. mansoni* miracidia, with a regular 12 hour light 12 hour dark cycle. Approximately 24 hours before infection, lights were turned off in the room containing the snails. The following day, patent snails were moved to a beaker containing 5-10 ml of aquarium water and exposed to a warm light source for 50 minutes to induce shedding of cercariae. The water containing cercariae was then poured into a 50 ml falcon for counting using a 1:1 dilution Lugol's iodine solution (Sigma Aldrich).

2.2.7 Influenza

For infection with Influenza virus (PR8 strain), mice were administered 30 µl of virus suspension (5 pfu) on day 0 and tissues were harvested on day 3 or day 7.

2.2.8 Generation of shield chimeras

WT CD45.2⁺ host mice aged 6-8 weeks were anaesthetized by intraperitoneal (i.p.) administration of ketamine (80 mg/kg; Vetoquinol) and xylazine (8 mg/kg; Bayer). Anaesthetized mice were positioned beneath a lead sheet shielding the thorax from a split dose of irradiation (2 × 5.5 Gy). Mice therefore received partial body irradiation with only the head, the lower two thirds of the body and forelimbs left exposed. After recovery from anaesthesia, mice were reconstituted by intravenous injection with 2×10^6 CD90.2⁺ T cell–depleted donor BM cells from congenic CD45.1⁺ WT donor animals. T cells were depleted using CD90.2 microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec). Mice were maintained on 0.03% enrofloxacin in drinking water for up to 1 week before and for 2 weeks after irradiation and then were housed in autoclaved cages with sterile water, diet and bedding. Reconstitution was allowed to occur for a minimum of 7 weeks before analysis.

2.2.9 Intravascular staining

Mice were administered AF700-conjugated CD45 antibody (Biolegend) intravenously (i.v.) in 200 µl PBS 5 minutes before euthanasia.

2.2.10 Euthanasia and tissue harvesting

In all experiments, mice were euthanized by exposure to a rising concentration of CO2 and tissues harvested at the indicated times post-treatment.

2.3 Murine tissue preparation and cell isolation

2.3.1 Lung, spleen, eyes and lymph nodes

Tissues were chopped finely in 100 μ g/ml liberase TL (Roche) and 250 μ g/ml DNasel (Sigma Aldrich) and digested for 20 minutes at 37°C in a shaking incubator. 5 mM EDTA (Sigma Aldrich) was added for 5 minutes, after which the resulting suspension then passed through a Corning® 70 μ m cell strainer (Sigma Aldrich). After pelleting by centrifugation (500 x g, 5 minutes, 4°C), it was resuspended in ACK lysing buffer (Lonza; it contains ammonium chloride, potassium bicarbonate and EDTA sodium salt dihydrate) for 3 minutes on ice. Suspensions were then washed with PBS and resuspended in complete RPMI 1640 (Sigma Aldrich) (supplemented with 10 mM HEPES (Sigma Aldrich), 5 μ g/ml penicillin-streptomycin (Sigma Aldrich), 2 mM L-glutamine (Sigma Aldrich), Minimal non-essential amino acids 100x (Sigma Aldrich)) containing 10% foetal calf serum (FCS; Sigma Aldrich) until staining.

2.3.2 Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL)

BAL was performed three times with 400 µl PBS containing 5mM EDTA and 2% FCS. Fluid was centrifuged and supernatant was collected and stored at -80°C for cytokine detection. Pellets were resuspended in resuspended in complete RPMI containing 10% FCS until staining.

2.3.3 Blood

Blood was collected into EDTA-coated syringes by cardiac puncture. Suspensions were washed and resuspended in ACK lysing buffer for 3 minutes on ice twice. Suspensions were then washed with PBS and resuspended in complete RPMI containing 10% FCS until staining.

2.3.4 Bone-marrow

Femurs were collected and removed of their ends. Each bone was placed in 0.5 ml Eppendorf tubes pierced with a 21G syringe. These in turn were inserted into 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes and pulsed to maximum speed in a microcentrifuge. Cell pellets were resuspended in ACK lysing buffer for 3 minutes on ice. Suspensions were then washed with PBS and resuspended in complete RPMI containing 10% FCS until staining.

2.3.5 Small intestine and colon lamina propria and muscularis

Cells were isolated as previously described with some modifications (Sun et al., 2007). Small intestine and colon were dissected and cut longitudinally, Peyer's patches were removed from

the length of the small intestine and both tissues were washed with PBS on ice. To remove intestinal epithelial cells and leukocytes, small intestines and colons were cut into segments (2-3 cm) and incubated in prewarmed RPMI supplemented with 20 mM HEPES, 5 mM EDTA and 1 mM freshly thawed dithiothreitol (DTT; Sigma Aldrich) containing 3% FCS for 20 minutes at 37°C in a shaking incubator. Gut segments were then repeatedly shaken in RPMI supplemented with 2 mM EDTA and 20 mM HEPES. Remaining tissue (lamina propria and muscularis) was chopped finely and digested at 37°C for 30 minutes with continuous stirring in complete RPMI supplemented with 20 mM HEPES, 0.1 mg/ml Liberase TL, and 0.5 mg/ml DNasel. Digested tissue was passed through a 70 µm filter followed by a 40 µm cell strainer, and after pelleting, it was resuspended in complete RPMI containing 10% FCS until staining.

2.4 Flow cytometry

2.4.1 Surface marker staining

Single-cell suspensions (5 × 10^5 –2 × 10^6 total cells) were washed with PBS and stained with the Live/Dead Fixable UV dead cell stain kit (Biolegend) to exclude dead cells. Subsequently, cells were stained in the dark for 20 min at 4°C with fluorochrome- or biotin-conjugated antibodies in PBS containing anti-CD16/CD32 (2.4G2; BioXcell) in the dark. Cells were washed and, where necessary, incubated for a further 15 min with fluorochrome-conjugated streptavidin and then washed. In some cases, cells were immediately acquired live, or alternatively, after further washing, cells were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA; Sigma Aldrich) for 10 minutes at room temperature and ultimately resuspended in PBS before acquisition.

Cells were stained with: CD11b (M1/70), CD11c (N418), CD45 (30F11), CD45.1 (A20), CD45.2 (104), CD98 (RL388), CD34 (RAM34), CD16/32 (93), CD125 (DIH37), CD117 (2B8), CD69 (H1.2F3), IgE (RME-1), CD300c/d (TX52), CXCR4 (L276F12), TLR-4 (SA15-21), CD29 (HM β 1-1), CD86 (GL-1), IDO (2E2/IDO1), CD5 (53-7.3), CD127 (A7R34) and CD4 (RM4-5) from BioLegend, KLRG-1 (2F1), CD90.1 (HIS51) from eBioscience, Siglec-F (E50-2440) from BD, CD101 (REA301) from Miltenyi, rabbit anti-mouse GPR55 from Abcam and rabbit anti-mouse GPR41 from Novus Biologicals. The lineage antibody cocktail for excluding lymphocytes, other granulocytes and monocytes/macrophages for eosinophil analysis included TCR β (H57-597), CD3 (17A2), B220 (RA3-6B2), Ly6G (1A8), Ly6C (HK1.4), CD19 (1D3/CD19), NK1.1 (PK136) and Ter119 (TER-119) from BioLegend.

2.4.2 Intracellular marker staining

Where intracellular staining was required cells were pelleted by centrifugation, after surface marker staining, and resuspended in Foxp3/Transcription Factor Fixation/Permeabilisation concentrate and diluent buffer (eBioscience) diluted 1:4 overnight. Cells were then washed and

stained with cocktail of antibodies made in Intracellular Staining Permeabilization Wash Buffer 10X (eBioscience) diluted 1:10 in PBS, and incubated for 45 minutes at 4°C in the dark. Following staining, cells were washed and resuspended in PBS before acquisition. Cells were stained with mouse anti-rabbit Relm- α (500-P214) from Peprotech, Ki67 (16A8), IL-4 (11B11), IL-5 (TRFK5) and T-bet (4B10) from Biolegend, Foxp3 (FJK-16s) and IL-33 (396118) from Thermofisher, IL-13 (eBio13A), IFN- γ (XMG1.2) and GATA3 (TWAJ) from eBioscience.

To assess protein phosphorylation, cells were fixed and permeabilised using BD Phosphoflow kit according to manufacturer instructions. Cells were stained with pSTAT1 (58D6), pSTAT5 (C71E5) and pERK1/2 from Cell Signaling, and pmTOR (MRRBY) and pS6 (cupk43k) from Thermofisher.

2.4.3 Sample acquisition

Appropriate compensation was performed using UltraComp eBeads[™] (Invitrogen) and samples were acquired on a BD LSRFortessa[™] running BD FACSDiva 8 software (BD) and saved as FCS files.

2.4.4 Fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS)

To sort eosinophil populations from the lung (L/D⁻Lin⁻CD11b^{int/hi}Siglec-F^{int/hi}) single-cell suspensions were prepared (Section 2.3.1) and resuspended in PBS with 2% FCS and 2 mM EDTA. Sorting was performed using a FACSAria Fusion (BD) and sorted cells were collected in complete RPMI with 20% FCS and stored on ice for use in cytospins and *in vitro* cell culture assays.

2.5 Histology

2.5.1 Cytospin preparation and staining

Sorted lung eosinophils, monocytes or neutrophils were mounted on SuperFrost Plus[™] Adhesion Slides (Thermofisher) using a Cytospin centrifuge (Cytospin 4; Thermo Fisher Scientific) operating for 5 minutes at 500 rpm. Cells were fixed with ice-cold methanol and stored at room temperature. Unspecific antibody binding on sorted cells was blocked with TSA blocking reagent (PerkinElmer) for 30 minutes. Sections were then incubated with either mouse antirabbit GPR109a (1:100; Abcam), mouse anti-rabbit GPR41 (1:50; Invitrogen) or Cy3-cojugated mouse anti-rabbit GPR43 (1:50; Bioss) for 1 hour at room temperature. Primary antibody staining was followed by secondary antibody staining with FIT-C goat anti-rabbit (1:200; Invitrogen) for 1 hour at room temperature. Cells were mounted with ProLong[™] Gold Antifade Mountant with DAPI (Thermofisher). Sorted lung eosinophils were also stained with Diff-Quik (Thermofisher) according to manufacturer's instructions and mounted with DPX Mounting Medium (Fisher Scientific).

2.5.2 Tissue processing and sectioning

Tissues were collected into 4% PFA and stored for 24 hours before being transferred to 70% ethanol until processing. Fixed tissues were dehydrated through increasing series of ethanol (50%-100%), cleared in Xylene (Fisher Scientific) and infiltrated with paraffin in a dehydration automat (Leica ASP300 S) using a standard protocol. Specimens were embedded in paraffin (Histocentre2, Shandon). Tissues were sectioned on a microtome (5 µm thick) with a S35 Blade and dried overnight at 37°C before staining.

2.5.3 Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E)

Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) sections were dewaxed with xylene, rehydrated with decreasing series of ethanol (100%-50%) and rinsed with distilled water. Sections were then stained with Harris modified haematoxylin solution (Sigma Aldrich) for 4 minutes and washed in tap water for another 4 minutes. Sections were differentiated with one dip in acid alcohol (70% ethanol with 1% HCl), washed and blued in running tap water for 5 minutes. Sections were treated with Alcoholic Eosin Y solution (Sigma Aldrich) for 30 seconds and washed in tap water for 5 minutes. Sections were finally dehydrated with rising ethanol gradients (50%-100%), cleared with xylene and cover slipped using DPX mounting medium (Fisher Scientific).

2.5.4 Periodic acid Schiff (PAS) and Alcian-blue

FFPE sections were dewaxed, rehydrated and rinsed in distilled water as before. Sections were then stained with Alcian blue solution (Sigma Aldrich) for 15 minutes and washed in tap water for 4 minutes. Sections were then treated with periodic acid (Sigma Aldrich) for 5 minutes, washed for 5 minutes, and stained with Schiff's reagent (Sigma Aldrich) for 10 minutes. After washing for 5 minutes, nuclei were stained with Harris haematoxylin for 1 minute and immediately washed for 2 minutes. Sections were differentiated through one dip in acid alcohol, washed and blued in running tap water for 5 minutes. Sections were finally dehydrated, cleared and cover slipped using DPX mounting medium.

2.5.5 Immunofluorescence

FFPE sections were deparaffinized, rehydrated and rinsed in distilled water as before. To stain for the eosinophil-specific marker major basic protein (MBP), sections were subjected to antigen retrieval using Pepsin (Thermofisher) followed by quenching of endogenous peroxidase activity with 0.3% hydrogen peroxide (Sigma Aldrich) before blocking with TSA for 30 minutes. Sections were incubated with rat anti-mouse MBP (1:200; provided by Dr. E. Jacobsen, Mayo Clinic Arizona, Scottsdale, AZ) overnight at 4°C. Sections were subsequently washed and incubated

with secondary antibody goat anti-rat AF-647 (1:200; Invitrogen) for 1 hour at room temperature and finally mounted with ProLong[™] Gold Antifade Mountant with DAPI. All dilutions and washes were performed with 1X Tris-buffered saline (TBS).

To stain for Relm-α, Ym-1, EPX, CD4, ALOX15, HIF-1α, Muc2 and lectins, sections were subjected to heat-induced antigen retrieval (HIER) using citrate buffer (pH 6), microwaving for 10 minutes on full power, followed by another 10 minutes at 50% power. Sections were permeabilised through incubation in PBS containing 0.1% TritonTM X-100 (Sigma Aldrich) for 15 minutes before blocking with TSA for 30 minutes. For Ym-1 staining, Avidin-biotin blocking was subsequently carried out as per the manufacturer's instructions (BioLegend). Sections were incubated with either rabbit anti-mouse Relm-α (1:100; Peprotech) and biotinylated anti-mouse Ym-1 (1:50; R&D systems); rabbit anti-mouse CD4 (1:100; Abcam); mouse anti-mouse EPX (1:100; provided by Dr. E. Jacobsen, Mayo Clinic Arizona, Scottsdale, AZ) and rabbit anti-mouse 15 Lipoxygenase 1 (1:100; Abcam) or rabbit anti-mouse HIF1-α (1:100; Abcam); rabbit anti-mouse Muc2 (1:400; Novus Biologicals) and biotinylated lectin kit (Vector laboratories) overnight at 4°C. Sections were subsequently washed and incubated with the secondary antibodies goat anti-rabbit FIT-C (1:200; Invitrogen) and Streptavidin Cy3 (1:300; Biolegend) for 1 hour at room temperature and finally mounted with ProLongTM Gold Antifade Mountant with DAPI. All dilutions and washes were performed with TBS.

2.5.6 Image acquisition

Brightfield images were collected on an Olympus BX63 upright microscope using either 10x, 20x or 40x objectives and captured and white-balanced using an Olympus DP80 camera in colour mode through Olympus CellSens Dimension v. 1.16.

Fluorescent images were collected on a Zeiss Axioimager.D2 upright microscope using either a 10x, 20x or 40x objectives and captured using a Photometrics Coolsnap HQ2 camera through Micromanager software v. 1.4.23.

2.6 Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

2.6.1 RNA and DNA extraction

Tissues were collected into RNAlater[™] stabilisation solution (Invitrogen) and stored at -80°C. To isolate RNA, 1 ml TRIzol[™] reagent (Invitrogen) was added to tissues transferred into Lysing Matrix D tube (MP Biomedicals). Tissues were homogenised using a MP Biomedicals FastPrep-24[™] Classic Grinder (4.0 m/s, 40 seconds) and rested on ice. Tissue suspensions were transferred to a clean Eppendorf tube and 200 µl chloroform (Sigma Aldrich) was added. Tubes were manually shaken for 15 seconds and rested at room temperature for 5 minutes. Tubes

were centrifuged (12,000 x g, 15 minutes, 4°C) and the upper aqueous layer was transferred into a clean Eppendorf tube. To precipitate RNA, 500 μ l propan-2-ol (Sigma Aldrich) was added and samples were incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. Tubes were centrifuged (12,000 x g, 10 min, 4°C) to pellet the RNA. The supernatant was removed by tipping, and the RNA pellet was washed by vortexing with 1ml 75% ethanol. Samples were centrifuged once more and RNA pellets were air-dried for 30-60 minutes at room temperature before resuspending in 30 μ l RNase-free water (Qiagen). The quality and quantity of RNA was measured using a NanoDrop Microvolume spectrophotometer. Samples with 260/280 values of 1.60-2.00 and 260/230 values of 1.50-2.20 were considered of good quality. Samples were stored at -20°C until cDNA synthesis.

DNA was extracted from faecal samples using the DNeasy® PowerLyzer® PowerSoil® Kit (Qiagen) according to manufacturer instructions. The quality and quantity of DNA was also measured using a NanoDrop Microvolume spectrophotometer and 260/280 and 260/230 values were checked. DNA samples were stored at -20°C until qPCR analysis.

2.6.2 cDNA synthesis

RNA concentrations were normalised across samples through dilution with RNase-free water. cDNA synthesis was carried out using High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems) according to manufacturer's instructions and a Veriti 96-well thermal cycler.

2.6.3 Quantitative PCR (qPCR) and analysis

cDNA samples were diluted 1:8 in nuclease free water. DNA samples from faeces were not diluted. Each sample was added in triplicates per RNA transcript on a 384 well qPCR plate (Applied Biosystems). Each well contained 4.5 μ l cDNA, 5 μ l Fast SYBRTM Green Mastermix (Applied Biosystems) and 0.5 μ l 10 μ M forward and reverse primers (Table 2.1). Samples were amplified using a QuantStudio 12 K Flex system.

Table 2.1: PCR primer sequences.

Target Gene		Primer Sequence		
	F	ATGAACGCTACACACTGCATC		
ις ιν-λ	R	CCATCCTTTTGCCAGTTCCTC		
CCL11	F	GAATCACCAACAACAGATGCAC		
	R	ATCCTGGACCCACTTCTTCTT		
IL-13	F	CCTCTGACCCTTAAGGAGCTTAT		
	R	CGTTGCACAGGGGAGTCT		
IL-4	F	GAGAGATCATCGGCATTTTTGA		
	R	TCTGTGGTGTTCTTCGTTGC		
6 -	F	TATGAACAGATGGGCCTCCT		
Reim-a	R	GGCAGTTGCAAGTATCTCCAC		
	F	GTGATGCACCCATGATCTATTTTG		
Mucsac	R	ACTCGGAGCTATAACAGGTCATGTC		
IL-33	F	GGTGAACATGAGTCCCATCA		
	R	CGTCACCCCTTTGAAGCTC		
045511	F	AGGTCGGTGTGAACGGATTTG		
GAPDH	R	TGTAGACCATGTAGTTGAGGTCA		
	F	CCCTCACACTCAGATCATCTTCT		
ινε-α	R	GCTACGACGTGGGCTACAG		
	F	TTTAACTCCCTTGGCGCAAAA		
IL-17A	R	CTTTCCCTCCGCATTGACAC		
Firmicutes	F	GGAGYATGTGGTTTAATTCGAAGCA		
	R	AGCTGACGACAACCATGCAC		
Destavaidates	F	GTTTAATTCGATGATACGCGAG		
Dacterolueles	R	TTAASCCGACACCTCACGG		
Verrucomicrobia	F	TCAKGTCAGTATGGCCCTTAT		
	R	CAGTTTTYAGGATTTCCTCCGCC		
Actinobacteria	F	TGTAGCGGTGGAATGCGC		
Actinopacteria	R	AATTAAGCCACATGCTCCGCT		
Prevotella	F	CACRGTAAACGATGGATGCC		
FIEVOLEIIA	R	GGTCGGGTTGCAGACC		
Veillonella	F	AYCAACCTGCCCTTCAGA		
	R	CGTCCCGATTAACAGAGCTT		
Lactobacillae	F	AGCAGTAGGGAATCTTCCA		
	R	CACCGCTACACATGGAG		
F. prausnitzii	F	GGAGGAAGAAGGTCTTCGG		
	R	AATTCCGCCTACCTCTGCACT		
β-Proteobacteria	F	AACGCGAAAAACCTTACCTACC		
	R	TGCCCTTTCGTAGCAACTAGTG		
γδ-Proteobacteria	F	GCTAACGCATTAAGTRYCCCG		
	R	GCCATGCRGCACCTGTCT		
SFB	F	AGGAGGAGTCTGCGGCACATTAGC		
	R	TCCCCACTGCTGCCTCCCGTAG		

2.7 Supernatant analysis

2.7.1 Preparation of supernatant from tissues

Lysis buffer was prepared by adding 1 M tris-hydrochloric acid (pH = 8.0), 5 M NaCl and 0.1% TritonTM X-100 to distilled water supplemented with Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Sigma Aldrich) diluted 1:200. Fresh tissues were cut in 1 cm length pieces, weighed and stored in 1.5 ml Epperdorf tubes on dry ice until processing. Tissues were then transferred to Lysing Matrix D tubes containing 1ml lysis buffer and they were homogenised using a MP Biomedicals FastPrep-24TM Classic Grinder (4.0 m/s, 40 seconds). Supernatants were transferred into clean 1.5 ml Epperdorf tubes and centrifuged (3300 x g, 5 minutes, 4°C). Supernatants were collected discarding the resulting pellet and stored at -80°C until use.

2.7.2 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

Supernatants derived from homogenised tissues were screened for IL-33, Relm-α, Ym-1, IL-4, IL-13, whereas IL-6, IL-4 and EPX were examined from supernatants of cultured eosinophils (Table 2.2). Appropriate primary antibodies were diluted in ELISA coating buffer (Biolegend) and added to 96 well high binding ELISA plates (Greiner Bio-One) overnight at 4°C. The coating solution was then flicked off and the plate was washed three times with PBS containing 0.1% Tween® 20 (Sigma Aldrich). Plates were then blocked with PBS containing 10% FCS for 1 hour at room temperature. The blocking solution was flicked off and samples and standards were added and incubated overnight at 4°C. Plates were washed three times and secondary antibodies were then added and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. Following washing for three times, streptavidin-peroxidase was added and incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C. The plate was finally washed eight times and was developed with the TMB substrate kit (Biolegend) according the manufacturer's instructions. The reaction was stopped by adding Stop Solution for TMB substrate (Biolegend). The plates were read using a Tecan Infinite M200 PRO microplate reader running I-control 1.9 software at 450 nm, with reference of 570 nm subtracted.

 Table 2.2: Antibodies and standard concentrations used for ELISA.

Coating antibody	Coating antibody concentration	Top Standard concentration	Detection antibody	Detection antibody concentration
LEAF [™] purified anti-mouse IL-6 (BioLegend)	1 µg/ml	50 ng/ml recombinant mouse IL-6 (BioLegend)	Biotin anti- mouse IL-6 (BioLegend)	0.5 µg/ml
IL-4 capture antibody (R&D systems)	4 µg/ml	1 ng/ml recombinant standard (R&D systems)	IL-4 detection antibody (R&D systems)	0.15 µg/ml
IL-13 capture antibody (R&D systems)	4 µg/ml	4 ng/ml recombinant standard (R&D systems)	IL-13 detection antibody (R&D systems)	0.2 µg/ml
IL-33 capture antibody (R&D systems)	0.8 ug/ml	1 ng/ml recombinant standard (R&D systems)	IL-33 detection antibody (R&D systems)	0.075 ug/ml
EPX capture antibody (Di Develop)	-	2 ng/ml EPX recombinant standard (Di Develop)	EPX detection antibody (Di Develop)	-
Anti-murine Relm-α (Peprotech)	1 µg/ml	100 ng/ml recombinant Murine Relm-α (Peprotech)	Biotinylated anti- murine Relm-α (Peprotech)	0.25µg/ml
Ym-1 capture Antibody (R&D systems)	1 µg/ml	50 ng/ml recombinant standard (R&D systems	Ym-1 detection Antibody (R&D systems)	0.5 µg/ml

2.8 In vitro assays

2.8.1 Seahorse extracellular flux analysis

Sorted eosinophils were plated at 150,000 cells/well and allowed to adhere for at least 1 hour. ECAR and OCR were measured in XF media (modified DMEM containing 2 mM L-glutamine) under basal conditions and in response to 10 mM glucose, 2.5 µM oligomycin, 100 mM 2-DG using a 96-well extracellular flux analyzer XFe-96 (Seahorse Bioscience).

2.8.2 L-amino acid transport

The assay was performed as previously described (Sinclair et al, 2018). Surface cell antibody staining (Section 2.5) was performed prior to uptake assay protocol. Kynurenine (Sigma Aldrich) was diluted in Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS; Sigma Aldrich) at 800 μ M, Lysine (Sigma Aldrich) at 20 mM and 2-aminobicyclo-(2,2,1)-heptane-2-carboxylic acid (BCH; Sigma Aldrich) at 40 mM, and they were all pre-warmed at 37°C before use. Samples were resuspended in HBSS and lysine, BCH and kynurenine were added in the order described to achieve final concentrations of 5 mM, 10 mM and 200 μ M respectively. Samples were incubated for 5 minutes at 37°C and the reaction was stopped by addition of 2% PFA for 15 minutes at room temperature. Cells were washed and resuspended in HBSS before acquisition by flow cytometry. The 405 nm laser and 450/50 BP filter were used for kynurenine fluorescence detection.

2.8.3 Glucose transport

To assess glucose transport, cell suspensions were first resuspended in XF media for 20 minutes at 37°C. The glucose analogue 2-NBDG (Thermofisher) was then added at 50 μ g/ml and samples were further incubated for 20 minutes at 37°C. Cells were washed and surface stained (Section 2.5). Samples were resuspended in PBS before acquisition by flow cytometry. The 488/530 nm laser was used for 2-NBDG fluorescence detection.

2.8.4 Stimulation of cell suspensions

Single cell suspensions were obtained from the gut (Section 2.4.5) and stimulated in a 96-well plate with Cell Stimulation Cocktail (eBioscience) for 4 hours at 37°C. Cells were washed and stained for flow cytometric analysis (Section 2.5).

2.8.5 Eosinophil stimulation

Sorted lung eosinophils (Section 2.5.4) were resuspended in complete RPMI with 10% FCS and added to a 96 well plate at a density of 1×10^{6} /ml. Murine recombinant IL-33, GM-CSF and IL-5 (Peprotech), all at 100 ng/ml in combination, or A23187 (Sigma Aldrich) at 5 μ M were added and samples were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C. Cell supernatants were collected and analysed by ELISA (Section 2.8.2).

Bone-marrow-derived cell suspensions (Section 2.4.4) were resuspended in complete RPMI with 10% FCS and added to a 48 well plate at a density of 1×10^6 /ml. Murine recombinant IL-33, GM-CSF and IL-5 (Peprotech), all at 100 ng/ml alone or in combination, or platelet activating factor (200 ng/ml; Sigma-Aldrich), IL-33 (100 ng/ml) and Ionomycin (50 ng/ml) alone or in combination were added with or without butyrate or niacin (300 μ M) and samples were

incubated for 24 hours or 3 hours at 37°C. Cells were washed and stained for flow cytometric analysis (Section 2.5).

2.9 Human tissue preparation and cell isolation

2.9.1 Human samples

The human biological samples were sourced ethically and their research use was in accord with the terms of the informed consents under an IRB/EC approved protocol.

2.9.2 Lung

Lung tissue was weighed to be digested in 5-8 g/tube. Tissue was then chopped in a petri dish using a razor blade, transferred to a 50 ml tube containing HBSS supplemented with 125 μ g/ml Liberase TL and 150 U/ml DNaseI, and digested for 40 minutes at 37°C in a shaking incubator. The tube with tissue was then topped up with complete RPMI supplemented with 10% FCS and 0.5 mM EDTA and passed through a 100 μ m filter removing any undigested connective tissue to allow passage of cells through the filter. The tube was again topped up with complete RPMI and passed through a 70 μ m filter. The cell suspension was centrifuged and resuspended in distilled water for 30 seconds to lyse red blood cells. The reaction was stopped by addition of complete RPMI and, following pelleting, cells were resuspended in complete RPMI with 10% FCS until staining.

2.9.3 Blood

Blood was centrifuged and resuspended in distilled water for 30 seconds to lyse red blood cells, topped up with complete RPMI and centrifuged, twice. Cells were then resuspended in complete RPMI with 10% FCS until staining.

2.9.4 Cell freezing

If freezing, 10-20x10⁶ cells per cryovial were resuspended in 1 ml Freezing media – Recovery[™] (Gibco/Fisher) and stored at -80°C.

2.9.5 Flow cytometry

Single-cell suspensions (5 × 10^5 –2 × 10^6 total cells) were washed with PBS and stained with the Live/Dead Fixable UV dead cell stain kit (Biolegend) to exclude dead cells. Subsequently, cells were stained in the dark for 20 minutes at 4°C with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies in PBS containing Human TruStain FcX (Biolegend). Cells were washed then fixed in 2% PFA for 10 minutes at room temperature and ultimately resuspended in PBS before acquisition.

Cells were stained with: CD101 (BB27), CD45 (HI30), CCR3 (5E8) and Siglec-8 (7C9) from Biolegend, CD125 (A14) and CD24 (ML5) from BD, CD98 (MEM-180) from Invitrogen, CD11b (ICRF44) and GPR109a (4NZBRGO) from eBioscience. The lineage antibody cocktail for excluding lymphocytes, other granulocytes and monocytes/macrophages for eosinophil analysis included TCRβ (IP26), CD3 (OKT3), CD20 (2H7), CD14 (M5E2), CD16 (3G8), CD123 (6H6), CD117 (104D2) and CD56 (5.1H11) from Biolegend.

2.9.6 Eosinophil isolation and stimulation

Blood eosinophils were isolated using EasySep[™] Direct Human Eosinophil Isolation Kit (Stem Cell Technologies) according to manufacturer instructions. Cells were resuspended in complete RPMI with 10% FCS and added to a 96 well plate at a density of 1x10⁶/ml. Human recombinant IL-33, GM-CSF and IL-5 (Peprotech), all at 100 ng/ml in combination with or without butyrate or niacin (300 µM) were added and samples were incubated for 24h at 37°C. Cells were washed and stained for flow cytometric analysis (Section 2.11).

2.9.7 Cytospin preparation and staining

Isolated blood eosinophils were mounted on SuperFrost Plus[™] Adhesion Slides (Thermofisher) using a Cytospin centrifuge (Cytospin 4; Thermo Fisher Scientific) operating for 5 minutes at 500 rpm. Cells were fixed with ice-cold methanol and stored at room temperature. Isolated blood eosinophils were permeabilised through incubation in PBS containing 0.1% Triton[™] X-100 (Sigma Aldrich) for 5 minutes before blocking with TSA for 30 minutes. sections were then incubated with mouse anti-human EPX (1:100; Abcam) for 1 hour at room temperature. Primary antibody staining was followed by secondary antibody staining with goat anti-mouse AF-647 (1:200; Invitrogen) for 1 hour at room temperature. Cells were mounted with ProLong[™] Gold Antifade Mountant with DAPI (Thermofisher).

Isolated blood eosinophils were also stained with Diff-Quik (Thermofisher) according to manufacturer's instructions and mounted with DPX Mounting Medium (Fisher Scientific).

2.10 Analysis

2.10.1 Images

All images were processed and analysed using Fiji Image J (<u>http://imagej.net/Fiji/Downloads</u>).

2.10.2 Flow cytometry

Data was analysed using FlowJo software (TreeStar) was used for analysis and gates were set using appropriate fluorescence-minus-one controls.

2.10.3 qPCR

Relative expression of target genes within experimental treatment groups was determined through comparison to an internal control gene (*Gapdh*) and the experimental control group.

2.11 Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using Prism (8.0; GraphPad software) and data were presented as mean \pm SEM in all cases. Two experimental groups were compared using a Student's t test for unpaired data. Where more than two groups were compared, a one-way ANOVA or two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction was used. Significance was set at P \leq 0.05.

CHAPTER 3 – PAPER 1

Agonism of GPR109a is associated with reduced activation of inflammatory eosinophils in allergic asthma

3.1 ABSTRACT

Eosinophils are known to be key contributors to inflammatory responses in allergic lung disease. Nevertheless, eosinophil-targeted therapies are still not curative. Alongside their inflammatory effector functions, eosinophils have been shown to promote homeostatic responses at steadystate and in disease. Better understanding of eosinophil recruitment, signalling and phenotype is therefore necessary to provide mechanistic insight and offer novel therapeutic strategies for allergic disease. In the lung, we found that Siglec-F^{hi}CD11b^{hi} eosinophils were more inflammatory than Siglec-F^{int}CD11b^{int} eosinophils and showed enhanced CD98 expression as well as altered metabolic activity that represented common features of lung inflammatory responses. We also established that the SCFA butyrate could specifically decrease levels of (i)EOS as well as reduce their metabolic activity in the lung of allergic mice and that this mechanism may be mediated by GPR109a. Thus, selective targeting of Siglec-F^{hi}CD11b^{hi}

3.2 INTRODUCTION

Allergic asthma is a chronic inflammatory disorder affecting the upper airways. It is characterised by breathlessness, wheezing, bronchoconstriction and mucus production in response to inhaled environmental allergens. The inflammatory response in the airways is characterised by cellular infiltration and aberrant Th2 cytokine responses (i.e. IL-4⁺, IL-5⁺, IL-9⁺ and IL-13⁺ mucosal immune cells) resulting in elevated production of IgE and, over the long term, airway remodelling and fibrosis (Kay, 2005).

The World Health Organization estimates that 300 million people worldwide currently suffer from asthma (Masoli et al., 2004). Moreover, asthma is the most common chronic disease among children, causing approximately 250,000 deaths per year. Although the prevalence of asthma is 7-10% worldwide, higher asthma rates tend to exist in more developed and westernized countries than developing countries, with as much as 20- to 60-fold differences (Kim et al., 2013).

It is known that during allergic responses eosinophil numbers rise dramatically in the airways, blood and BM and that increased levels correlate with disease severity (Fahy, 2009). These cells are thought to be recruited from the BM to the lung by T-cell- and ILC2- derived IL-5 and eotaxins which are mainly secreted by airway epithelial cells under the influence of Th2

cytokines (Uhm, et al., 2012; Walsh et al., 2010). After tissue ingress eosinophils can release cytotoxic granule proteins as well as cytokines and lipid mediators, contributing to the ongoing inflammatory response and tissue damage (Liu et al., 2006; Moqbel and Odemuyiwa, 2008).

Despite these effector functions, eosinophils have also been shown to promote homeostatic responses at steady-state and in a variety of disease settings (Marichal et al., 2017; Carretero et al., 2015). Recently, two populations of eosinophils have been identified in the airways of mice during allergen-induced allergic inflammation (Mesnil et al., 2016; Abdala-Valencia et al., 2016). They have been described as resident (r)EOS and inflammatory (i)EOS and defined as two terminally differentiated eosinophil populations. (r)EOS are proposed to be IL-5 dependent, to promote lung homeostasis and to be located in the parenchyma. (i)EOS were identified as IL-5 independent cells recruited from the BM, showing expression of CD101 and upregulated Siglec-F. (i)EOS were localised in the peribronchial area of the lungs and were reported to enhance the inflammatory response in the airways (Mesnil et al., 2016). Nevertheless, it remains unclear how and where these two populations of eosinophils originate and how their phenotype correlates with their function. The factors that may dictate properties of (r)EOS and (i)EOS have also not been defined. Moreover, whether it is possible to identify (r)EOS and (i)EOS in the human lung and target one of the two populations from a therapeutic stand point has not been addressed.

In this study we found that even though lung eosinophils are defined as tissue-resident cells, they do not represent long-lived cells and that, contrary to current assumptions, (i)EOS may be generated locally from lung (r)EOS. Similar to the findings of Mesnil et al. (2016), we also detected (i)EOS in the circulation but we established unique phenotypes belonging to (i)EOS in each tissue compartment. This led us to identify IL-5, IL-33 and GM-CSF as lung-specific factors that may be able to locally modulate eosinophil phenotype and activation. Lung (i)EOS, but not (r)EOS, expressed high levels of CD98, which correlated with greater activation of the mTOR signalling pathway and, in turn, with amino acid and glucose uptake, as well as with enhanced metabolic activity. Functionally, (i)EOS were pro-inflammatory and more activated than (r)EOS. Importantly, we also determined that (i)EOS-expressing CD98 are not only present in allergic mice but represent a common feature of lung inflammatory responses. Therapeutically, we found that oral or intranasal administration of the SCFA butyrate could ameliorate HDM-induced lung eosinophilia and that this process may be mediated by GPR109a. Finally, analysis of lung and blood from asthmatic patients showed the presence of Siglec-8^{int/hi} cells with upregulated expression of CD98 and GPR109a, which may represent an analogous population to the murine (i)EOS we characterised in the lung after allergen challenge. These data better define our understanding of eosinophil biology and development and provide potential druggable targets to ameliorate allergic lung disease.

3.3 RESULTS

3.3.1 Levels of Siglec-F^{hi}CD11b^{hi} eosinophils are increased following HDM administration and may be generated locally

Eosinophils have long been considered to exclusively function as pathogenic cells in the development of allergic asthma. However, recent evidence suggests that the relationship between eosinophils and lung pathology is more complex than previously appreciated (Jacobsen et al., 2012; Lee at al., 2010). To better understand how allergic lung inflammation affects eosinophil phenotype and function we firstly established a mouse model of allergic asthma, similar to the one used by Hammad et al. (2010). We exposed wild-type (WT) BALB/c mice to a 11-day sensitisation and challenge protocol using 100 µg and 10 µg of HDM respectively and, 24 hours after the last challenge, we digested tissues to obtain single cell suspensions (Fig. 3.1A). Eosinophils were identified in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) and lung tissue by expression of their characteristic markers Siglec-F and CD11b. Alveolar macrophages (AMs) also express Siglec-F but they are negative for CD11b, and therefore could be excluded from the analysis (Supplementary Fig. 1A). This approach identified two populations of Siglec-F⁺CD11b⁺ eosinophils in the airways of HDM treated mice: Siglec-F^{int}CD11b^{int} and Siglec-F^{hi}CD11b^{hi} cells (Fig. 3.1B). Similar to our findings, two populations of eosinophils have previously been characterised in the allergic lung based on their expression of Siglec-F, and were defined as resident (r)EOS (Siglec-F^{int}) and inflammatory (i)EOS (Siglec-F^{high}) (Mesnil et al., 2016). Therefore, we adopted this nomenclature in our study. Allergen exposure resulted in increased total numbers of eosinophils in the airways, but specifically increased and decreased levels of (i)EOS and (r)EOS respectively compared to naïve controls (Fig. 3.1B). Temporal dynamics of eosinophils in the lung showed that proportions of (i)EOS markedly increased 24 hours after the last challenge with HDM (~10% of CD45⁺ cells) and their levels peaked at 72 hours (~17% of CD45⁺ cells), almost returning to baseline at 120 hours (~3% of CD45⁺ cells) (Fig. 3.1C).

Allergic asthma is known to trigger BM and blood eosinophilia (Fahy, 2009; Inman 2000), therefore we analysed the eosinophil composition in those tissue compartments as well. As expected, HDM induced BM and blood eosinophilia, but interestingly, (i)EOS were only present in the circulation (Fig. 3.1D). Flow cytometry analysis of other mucosal tissues highlighted that allergen inhalation induced eosinophilia in the spleen but not in the intestines or the eyes (Supplementary Fig. 1B).

At steady-state, eosinophils are considered to be tissue-resident cells (Weller and Spencer, 2017; Xenakis et al, 2017). For this reason, we aimed to verify whether tissue residency actually varies between (r)EOS and (i)EOS in the lung. To this end, we used lung-shielded BM chimeras,

which were generated by a process in which WT CD45.2⁺ mice were irradiated with their thorax shielded from irradiation. Animals were then reconstituted with congenic (CD45.1⁺) WT BM. Shield irradiation aimed to limit confounding effects of irradiating eosinophil populations in the lung and prevent development of a local inflammatory response. At 9 weeks after irradiation, chimerism of lung eosinophils was similar to blood eosinophils both at steady-state and after HDM treatment (Fig. 3.1E). Compared to alveolar macrophages (AMs), which are known to be long-lived self-renewing resident cells (Guilliams et al., 2013) and therefore show very little contribution from donor CD45.1⁺ cells (Supplementary Fig. 1C), lung eosinophils displayed a high degree of chimerism (~50%), implying that all eosinophils were rapidly replenished by circulating BM-derived eosinophils both at steady-state and after HDM treatment (Fig. 3.1E). The ratio of host:donor eosinophils was higher in the lung, blood and peritoneal lavage (PL) following HDM exposure compared to naïve mice, suggesting that allergen exposure may trigger local proliferation or higher turnover of eosinophils (Fig. 3.1E).

We observed that leukocytes in the lung vasculature fail to be completely removed by perfusion (data not shown), which has been reported previously (Anderson et al., 2012). Several studies suggest that intravascular staining may discriminate between tissue-localised and blood-borne cells in the mouse lung (Anderson et al., 2014; Bittner-Eddy et al., 2017; Patel et al., 2015). Therefore, to further verify whether there were differences in the origin of (r)EOS and (i)EOS, we administered AF700-conjugated CD45 antibodies (CD45 is expressed on the surface of all leukocytes) intravenously in naïve and HDM-treated mice (WT CD45.2⁺) 5 minutes before they were euthanised. This method allowed us to label all blood-borne leukocytes and discriminate between tissue-resident cells, which stained for CD45.2. Interestingly, the results showed that despite the fact that (r)EOS in the lung have previously been defined as tissue resident cells, about 80% of them were labelled with the antibody in the lung and in the blood of both naïve and HDM-treated mice (Fig. 3.1F). This suggests that lung eosinophils are constantly being replenished by BM-derived eosinophils and cannot be considered as tissue-resident cells. Unfortunately, this method did not allow us to confirm whether (i)EOS are blood-borne or tissueresident cells as they were not labelled by the antibody in the blood or in the lung (Supplementary Fig. 1D), suggesting that these cells are able to cleave the antibody prior to or after tissue digestion.

We also noted that exposure to lower doses of HDM (0.4 μ g and 4 μ g) did not trigger an increase in total eosinophils in the BM, blood or lung in contrast to the higher dose used in our initial experiments (Supplementary Fig. 1E). However, when (i)EOS were assessed specifically, we found that even a low dose of HDM could trigger a proportional increase of this eosinophil subset in the lung (Supplementary Fig. 1E), suggesting the possibility that (i)EOS may originate in the pulmonary tissue. Eosinophil progenitors (EoPs) have been reported to extravasate into the circulation from the BM and reach the lungs where they may give rise to mature eosinophils (Johnston and Bryce, 2017). We therefore hypothesised that changes in the proportions of EoPs would be detectable if lung eosinophils derived from them. We identified EoPs as $lin^-c-kit^+CD34^+IL-5R\alpha^+Siglec-F^-$ cells (Zhu et al., 2018) (Supplementary Fig. 1F) not only in the BM but also in the circulation and in the lung, with their levels being unchanged at all three sites following HDM treatment (Supplementary Fig. 1G). These results also open up the possibility that (i)EOS may originate in the pulmonary tissue from BM-derived (r)EOS and not progenitor cells. Nevertheless, additional experiments would be needed to assess EoPs at additional timepoints in the course of allergic inflammation.

Together these data indicate that two populations of eosinophils are present in the airways following HDM exposure and that, contrary to current assumptions, they are not tissue-resident cells but constantly require replenishment from the BM.


Figure 3.1: Levels of Siglec-F^{hi}CD11b^{hi} eosinophils are increased following HDM administration and may be generated locally

A) Experimental timeline. 8-12 week old female BALB/c WT mice were sensitised on day 0 with 100 µg HDM and challenged on day 7-11 with 10 µg HDM. Control mice sensitised and challenged with PBS. Mice were euthanised 24 hours after the last challenge (on day 12). B) Eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naïve and HDM-treated mice and expressed as absolute cell numbers and quantification of (r)EOS

and (i)EOS was expressed as percentage of total eosinophils. C) (i)EOS and (r)EOS were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of HDM-treated mice 24 to 120 hours after the last challenge and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. D) Eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometry in the BM and blood of naïve and HDM-treated mice and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. E) The percentage of eosinophils (as gated in Sup. Fig. 1A) expressing CD45.1 and CD45.2 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naïve and HDM-treated lung-shielded chimeric mice. F) The percentage of (r)EOS expressing AF700-conjugated CD45 administered i.v and CD45.2 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung and blood of HDM-treated mice. n = 3-6 per experiment. n = 1 for E. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

3.3.2 (i)EOS express high levels of CD98 and are more activated than (r)EOS

Although (r)EOS and (i)EOS have been characterised to some extent during allergic lung inflammation, their phenotype and functions still need to be fully determined. Mesnil et al. (2016) found that the immunoglobulin CD101 was expressed on lung (i)EOS but not (r)EOS after allergen exposure (Supplementary Fig. 2A). Similarly, our results showed that (i)EOS expressed elevated CD101 compared to (r)EOS (Fig. 3.2A).

CD98 is a transmembrane glycoprotein expressed across a broad range of cells that regulates multiple cellular processes, including amino acid transport and integrin signalling. However, aberrant expression of CD98 and associated signalling have been associated with inflammation and cancer (Kucharzik et al., 2005; Nguyen et al., 2011). Particularly eosinophils from IBD patients display increased CD98 expression and are thought to contribute to the initiation of intestinal inflammation (Xue et al., 2012). Moreover, we observed that in addition to *cd101*, the gene *Slc3a2*, which encodes for CD98 heavy chain, was also upregulated on (i)EOS compared to (r)EOS from allergic mice in the study by Mesnil et al. (2016) (Supplementary Fig. 2A).

Our study highlighted that a high proportion of lung (i)EOS expressed CD98, which like CD101, was not highly expressed on (r)EOS (Fig. 3.2A). This was also shown with t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding (t-SNE) plots, in which each dot represents individual cells and clusters identify groups of cells with common marker expression. In fact, this method allowed us to identify two neighbouring but separate clusters in the lung corresponding to Siglec-F^{int}CD11b^{int} and Siglec-F^{hi}CD11b^{hi} eosinophils, with the latter expressing CD101 and CD98 (Supplementary Fig. 2B).

We noticed that CD101 and CD98 were largely not co-expressed by (i)EOS, with the majority of cells being single positive for each marker and a small population of double positive cells (Fig. 3.2B). Moreover, expression of these molecules did not follow the same pattern over a period of 5 days after the last HDM challenge. Expression of CD101 on (i)EOS peaked 72 hours after the last HDM challenge and progressively decreased. Conversely, CD98 expression peaked 24 hours after the last HDM challenge, subsequently decreased at 48 hours and remained unaltered at 72 hours, before increasing again at 96 hours and finally dropping at 120 hours

(Fig. 3.2C). These observations suggest that (i)EOS may be subdivided into four further populations with potentially distinct characteristics.

To further explore the phenotypic and functional differences between lung (r)EOS and (i)EOS, we used flow cytometry and histological techniques to assess surface receptor expression. Flow cytometry analysis showed that (i)EOS expressed a variety of molecules associated with proinflammatory responses in addition to CD98 and CD101, including TLR-4, which induces inflammatory responses by sensing the bacterial component LPS (Thoburn et al., 2016), and CD69, which represents an early activation marker (Wang et al., 2004) (Fig. 3.2D). Conversely, (r)EOS expressed higher levels of molecules associated with regulatory functions than (i)EOS, such as the co-stimulatory molecule CD86 (Woerly et al., 1999), and the transcription factor STAT5, which is phosphorylated in response to IL-5 (Buitenhuis et al., 2003) (Fig. 3.2E). Despite similar expression of the eotaxin receptor CCR3 (Fig. 3.2F), (r)EOS showed greater expression of IL-5Rα compared to (i)EOS from HDM-treated mice (Fig. 3.2G), suggesting that, although (i)EOS recognise IL-5, (r)EOS are more responsive to it.

During allergic lung inflammation eosinophils can secrete various inflammatory mediators, such as cytokines and cytotoxic proteins (McBrien and Menzies-Gow, 2017; Bandeira-Melo and Weller, 2005). To understand whether expression of pro-inflammatory molecules on (i)EOS was correlated with enhanced release of pro-inflammatory mediators, sorted (r)EOS and (i)EOS were stimulated with a combination of IL-5, GM-CSF and IL-33, cytokines that are known to support eosinophil survival and activation (Melo et al., 2013; Johnston et al., 2016 and 2017) or with the Ca²⁺ ionophore A23187. The latter functions as a less physiologic, but established stimulus to induce eosinophil activation by increasing intracellular Ca²⁺ levels (Kirino et al., 2000; Adamko et al., 2004). Stimulation with the cytokine cocktail and A23187 led to an enhanced release of IL-4 and IL-6 by (i)EOS compared to (r)EOS, which were almost refractory to stimulation (Fig 3.2H). (i)EOS also released higher levels of the granule protein eosinophil peroxidase (EPX) compared to (r)EOS but only in response to A23187 (Fig. 3.2H). These results suggest that (i)EOS are more activated than (r)EOS and actively participate in the immune response to allergen inhalation in the lung.

As previously described by Mesnil et al., (2016), we also detected differences in the morphology and tissue location of (r)EOS and (i)EOS. The latter population displayed more segmented nuclei and larger cytoplasmic areas, compared to (r)EOS showing typical ring-shaped nuclei and restricted cytoplasmic areas (Fig. 3.21). Mesnil et al. (2016) also showed that (i)EOS upregulated expression of ALOX15 and hypoxia-inducible factor-1-alpha (HIF-1 α) when compared to (r)EOS (Supplementary Fig. 2A). The gene ALOX15 encodes for the enzyme arachidonate-15 lipoxygenase (15-LO), which is a member of the lipoxygenase family that metabolizes arachidonic acid (AA) to 15(S)-hydroperoxy-eicosatetraenoic acid (15-(S)-HETE) and is mainly expressed in eosinophils, activated monocytes, epithelial cells and mast cells (Claesson et al., 2008). 15-LO activity in eosinophils has been associated with production of the pro-inflammatory mediators eoxins (Feltenmark et al., 2008) and has been suggested to promote eosinophil infiltration in eosinophilic inflammatory diseases, such as eosinophilic esophagitis and asthma (Matoso et al., 2014; Chu et al., 2002). HIF-1 α is a transcription factor activated by hypoxia and upregulates transcription of several pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines and adhesion molecules. (Biddlestone et al., 2015). Like ALOX15, expression of HIF-1 α has been associated with enhanced inflammatory responses in asthma, since genetic and pharmacologic inhibition of its signalling resulted in diminished eosinophilia, airway remodelling and inflammation in mouse models (Huerta-Yepez et al., 2011; Dewitz et al., 2017; Ning et al., 2019). In our study, staining for the eosinophil-specific granule protein EPX allowed us to identify all lung eosinophils in naïve and HDM-treated mice (Fig. 3.2J), clearly showing eosinophilia in the lungs of HDM-treated mice. Additionally, co-staining of EPX with either ALOX-15 or HIF-1 α allowed us to identify (i)EOS, which were bright for both markers, and to localise them mainly around the bronchi in lung tissue sections (Fig. 3.2J).

Altogether these data show that (i)EOS represent a subset of (r)EOS with pro-inflammatory functions that correlate with acquired responsiveness to a variety of inflammatory mediators, as well as alterations in their morphology and tissue location.



Figure 3.2: (i)EOS express high levels of CD98 and are more activated than (r)EOS

A) The percentage of eosinophils expressing CD101 and CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naive and HDM-treated mice. B) The percentage of (i)EOS expressing CD101 and CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung HDM-treated mice. C) The percentage of (i)EOS expressing CD101 and CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of HDM-treated mice 24 to 120 hours after the last challenge. D) The

percentage of (i)EOS expressing CD34, CD69, CD11c, CD300c/d, CXCR4, Relm- α , IgE, TLR4, pSTAT1 and Ki67 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naive and HDM-treated mice. E) The percentage of (r)EOS and (i)EOS expressing CD29, CD86, pSTAT5 and IDO was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of HDM-treated mice. F) Expression of CCR3 by lung (r)EOS and (i)EOS from HDM-treated mice was quantified by flow cytometry and expressed as MFI. G) Expression of IL-5R α by lung (r)EOS and (i)EOS from HDM-treated mice was quantified by flow cytometry and expressed as MFI. G) Expression of IL-5R α by lung (r)EOS and (i)EOS from HDM-treated mice was quantified by flow cytometry and expressed as MFI. H) Levels of IL-4, IL-6 and EPX were determined by ELISA from the supernatant of sorted lung (r)EOS and (i)EOS cultured in the presence or absence of IL-33, GM-CSF and IL-5 or with A23187 for 24 hours. I) Cytospins of sorted lung (r)EOS and (i)EOS were stained with Diff-Quik (scale bar 10 µm). J) Representative staining of lung tissue for EPX (magenta), ALOX15 or HIF-1 α (green) and counterstained with DAPI (blue) (scale bar 100 µm and 10 µm). n = 3-6 per experiment. n = 1 for C. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test: p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001

3.3.3 Factors enriched in the lung environment support upregulation of Siglec-F and expression of CD98 on eosinophils

Release of a variety of factors from the airway epithelium and pulmonary immune cells is known to occur during allergic lung inflammation (Bartemes and Kita, 2012; Barnes, 2008). Several cytokines including the canonical Th2-associated cytokines IL-4, IL-13, IL-5 and IL-9, the proinflammatory cytokine IL-18, the growth factors GM-CSF and TGF- β , as well as the alarmin IL-33, are known to be involved in promoting Th2 responses in the airways as well as eosinophil recruitment, survival and activation (McBrien and Menzies-Gow, 2017). To address if some of these factors could induce characteristic features of (i)EOS, such as expression of CD98 and Siglec-F upregulation, we firstly incubated BM eosinophils from naïve and HDM-treated mice with the above-mentioned cytokines for 24 hours at 37°C. This determined that IL-5, GM-CSF and IL-33 to a greater extent upregulated Siglec-F expression on BM eosinophils with no differences between naïve and HDM-treated mice (Fig. 3.3A), whereas other mediators such as TGF- β had no effect (Fig. 3.3A).

Since we identified IL-5, GM-CSF and IL-33 as being responsible for Siglec-F upregulation on BM eosinophils, we combined all the cytokines to understand whether together they induced a higher increase in Siglec-F expression compared to each cytokine alone. Interestingly, the results showed no cumulative effect when looking at Siglec-F expression on eosinophils (Fig. 3.3B). Platelet activating factor (PAF) has also been largely used to activate eosinophils *in vitro* and to stimulate their degranulation (Kroegel et al., 1988; Bartemes et al., 1999; Dyer et al., 2010). Therefore, we investigated the effects of eosinophil stimulation with PAF. BM eosinophils were stimulated *in vitro* using a procedure similar to Dyer et al., 2010, which involved incubation with PAF alongside IL-33 and the Ca²⁺ ionophore lonomycin for 3 hours at 37°C. Interestingly, the results showed that this treatment induced the generation of a Siglec-F^{int} and a Siglec-F^{hi} population of BM eosinophils, reminiscent of (r)EOS and (i)EOS seen in the lungs of allergic mice (Fig. 3.3C). To better understand whether the combination of these factors or each factor alone was responsible for such effect, we cultured BM eosinophils with PAF, IL-33 or lonomycin alone, PAF with lonomycin or IL-33 with lonomycin. Surprisingly, the results showed that only

the combination of IL-33 and lonomycin was able to induce the generation of Siglec-F^{int} and Siglec-F^{hi} populations of BM eosinophils, whereas each factor alone did not (Supplementary Fig. 3). This suggests that PAF has no impact on Siglec-F expression and that a shorter stimulation together with the addition of lonomycin to IL-33 affected Siglec-F expression differentially compared to a 24 hours stimulation with IL-33, GM-CSF and IL-5. Since lonomycin increases intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations (Dedkova et al., 2000), the results suggest that changes in Siglec-F expression may be dependent on Ca²⁺ influx into the cell.

Since we detected eosinophilia in the BM and blood and (i)EOS in the circulation (Fig. 3.1C), we aimed to establish whether eosinophils at those distal sites exhibited the same phenotype identified in the lung. Flow cytometry analysis showed that both eosinophils in the BM and in the blood expressed very little CD98 (Fig. 3.3D) and did not express CD101 (data not shown) compared to lung (i)EOS. This suggests that together with upregulation of Siglec-F expression on eosinophils, CD98 expression may also be driven by changes occurring in the lung environment following allergen exposure. Considering the effects seen so far on Siglec-F expression of CD98 on eosinophils. Given that there was no difference on Siglec-F expression on BM eosinophils from naïve or HDM-treated mice, we stimulated BM eosinophils from HDM-treated mice with each cytokine for 24 hours. Surprisingly, GM-CSF and IL-33 to a greater extent had the ability to enhance CD98 expression on BM eosinophils, whereas IL-5 alone did not (Fig. 3.3E). In support of this, *II-33–LacZ* gene trap (Gt) reporter strain (II-33^{Gt/Gt}), which lack endogenous IL-33 (Pichery et al., 2012), treated with HDM showed a significant reduction in CD98 expression on lung (i)EOS compared to II-33^{+/Gt} heterozygous controls (Fig. 3.3F).

Together these data suggest that eosinophil phenotype can be modulated by exposure to specific factors independently of *in vivo* priming or tissue of origin. In this case, IL-33 together with GM-CSF and IL-5, whose levels are known to be elevated in the airways during allergic responses, may be able to shape eosinophil phenotype and function by upregulating their expression of Siglec-F and CD98.



Figure 3.3: The lung environment supports activation of (i)EOS and expression of CD98

A) Expression of Siglec-F by BM eosinophils from naïve and HDM-treated mice cultured in the presence or absence of IL-5 or GM-CSF or IL-33 or TGF- β for 24 hours was quantified by flow cytometry and expressed as MFI. B) Expression of Siglec-F by BM eosinophils from naïve mice cultured in the presence or absence of IL-5, GM-CSF and IL-33 for 24 hours was quantified by flow cytometry and expressed as MFI. C) Siglec-F^{hi} and Siglec-F^{int} eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometry from the BM of naïve mice cultured in the presence or absence or absence of PAF+IL-33+lonomycin for 3 hours and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. D) The

percentage of eosinophils expressing CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the BM and blood of naive and HDM-treated mice. E) The percentage of BM eosinophils from HDM-treated mice cultured in the presence or absence of IL-33 or GM-CSF or IL-5 for 24 hours expressing CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry. F) The percentage of (i)EOS expressing CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of II-33^{Gt/Gt} and II-33^{+/Gt} HDM-treated mice. Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 2-6 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test (B, C, D, F) or one-way ANOVA (A, E): *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

3.3.4 CD98 expression on (i)EOS correlates with increased nutrient uptake and metabolic activity

As mentioned previously (section 3.3.2), CD98 facilitates amino acid transport into cells. It does so by covalently binding large amino acid transporter 1 (LAT1), also known as SLC7A5, allowing its stability and insertion into the cell membrane. This allows the functional transport of neutral amino acids, such as leucine, isoleucine and arginine in exchange for glutamine (Cantor and Ginsberg, 2012). Intake of extracellular amino acids activates the serine and threonine kinase mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), which initiates a cascade of phosphorylation events that plays a central role in cell growth and survival (Nguyen and Merlin, 2012). To investigate whether CD98 expression on (i)EOS correlated with enhanced nutrient uptake and metabolic activation, (i)EOS were firstly examined by flow cytometry for expression of phosphorylated mTOR and S6. The latter is a ribosomal protein activated downstream of mTOR involved in regulating protein translation and the eukaryotic initiation factor 3 (eIF3) translation complex (Yerlikaya et al., 2016). (i)EOS showed elevated expression of both phosphorylated mTOR and S6 compared to (r)EOS, which displayed little expression of either molecule (Fig. 3.4A). These observations suggest that HDM-induced CD98 expression on (i)EOS is likely correlated with activation of the mTOR signalling pathway.

To further elucidate whether activation of the mTOR signalling pathway is correlated with increased nutrient uptake, we examined amino acid and glucose uptake by incubating lung cell suspensions with kynurenine and the glucose analogue 2-NBDG. Kynurenine is the product of tryptophan metabolism and is known to be transported across the cell membrane by LAT-1/CD98 complex (Sinclair et al., 2018). The amino acid lysine does not affect LAT-1 transport of amino acids, therefore it was used as positive control. 2-aminobicyclo-(2,2,1)-heptane-2-carboxylic acid (BCH), which is a System L transporter inhibitor, was used as a negative control (Sinclair et al., 2018). The results showed that although both (r)EOS and (i)EOS were capable of taking up kynurenine, kynurenine uptake was increased in (i)EOS compared to (r)EOS (Fig. 3.4B). Kynurenine uptake was unaltered by lysine and inhibited by BCH, confirming that its transport is mediated by LAT-1/CD98 complex (Fig. 3.4B). Incubation with 2-NBDG also showed that both (r)EOS and (i)EOS could uptake glucose but (i)EOS displayed greater intake of the molecule (Fig. 3.4C).

To verify whether increased nutrient uptake by (i)EOS is correlated with higher metabolic activity, we performed a glycolytic stress test on sorted lung eosinophils. The assay analyses the rate of glucose catabolism into lactate by measuring the acidification rate of the extracellular medium (ECAR) (Mookerjee et al., 2016). Cells were firstly incubated with glucose, which triggers glycolysis, then with oligomycin, which inhibits the mitochondrial ATP synthase and further drives glycolysis-mediated ATP production, and finally with 2-Deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG), which inhibits glycolysis (Mookerjee et al., 2016). This allows the measurement of glycolysis, thus the conversion of glucose into lactate, glycolytic capacity, defined as the maximum rate of glycolysis, and glycolytic reserve, which represents the difference between glycolytic capacity and glycolysis (Mookerjee et al., 2016). Our results firstly showed that (r)EOS from HDM-treated mice exhibited a ~4% increase in glycolysis, glycolytic capacity and reserve compared to (r)EOS from naïve mice (Fig. 3.4D). Strikingly, (i)EOS showed the greatest increase in glycolysis, glycolytic capacity and reserve (~10%) compared to both (r)EOS populations (Fig. 3.4D).

CD98 has not only been associated with metabolic functions but it has also been linked with control of cell growth, survival and proliferation by binding to integrins, such as CD29 (integrin- β 1) (Rintoul et al., 2002). CD29 expression was upregulated on (i)EOS after HDM exposure and co-stained with CD98 (Fig. 3.4E). This suggests that CD98 may have functions beyond metabolic control of (i)EOS, such as modifying their tissue retention via regulation of integrin functions.

These data confirm that HDM exposure leads to metabolic alterations to lung eosinophils, with changes to the inflammatory population in particular.



Figure 3.4: CD98 expression on (i)EOS correlates with increased nutrient uptake and metabolic activity A) The percentage of (i)EOS and (r)EOS expressing pmTOR and pS6 was quantified directly *ex vivo* by flow cytometry in the lung of naive and HDM-treated mice. B) The percentage of (i)EOS and (r)EOS uptaking kynurenine following treatment with kynurenine alone or with lysine or BCH was quantified by flow cytometry in

the lung of HDM-treated mice and expressed as MFI. C) The percentage of (i)EOS and (r)EOS uptaking 2-NBDG was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of HDM-treated mice and expressed as MFI. D) ECAR of sorted lung eosinophils (Siglec-F^{hi}CD11b^{hi} and Siglec-F^{int}CD11b^{int}) from naïve and HDM-treated mice at baseline and after sequential treatment (vertical lines) with glucose, oligomycin or 2-DG to measure glycolysis, glycolytic reserve and glycolytic capacity. E) The percentage of (i)EOS expressing CD98 and CD29 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of HDM-treated mice. Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 4-5 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test (A, C, E) or one-way ANOVA (D) or two-way ANOVA (B): *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

3.3.5 (i)EOS and CD98 expression are a common feature of lung inflammation

To our knowledge, the presence of two distinct populations of eosinophils in the lung has only been reported in mouse models of allergic asthma (Mesnil et al., 2016; Abdala Valencia et al., 2015). For this reason, we investigated whether they were also present in other murine models of lung inflammatory diseases.

Following infection with Influenza virus, an increase in the percentage of (i)EOS in the lung was seen, with a large proportion of these cells expressing CD98 (Fig. 3.5A-B). However, compared to our allergy model, Influenza infection did not lead to increased proportions of eosinophils in the airways, compared to naïve mice (Fig. 3.5A).

Helminth infections are known to induce systemic Th2 responses (Mishra et al., 2014). We infected mice with three different helminth parasites to assess changes in lung eosinophils. *Heligmosomoides polygyrus bakeri* resides in the small intestine throughout its lifespan, but is known to provoke systemic inflammation, including in the lung (Mohrs et al., 2005; Filbey et al., 2019). At day 7 after infection, both (r)EOS and (i)EOS were indeed present in the lung and a significant proportion of (i)EOS expressed CD98 in infected mice (Fig. 3.5C-D). The proportions of total eosinophils increased in the lung of mice infected with the parasite compared to naïve mice, similarly to our allergy model (Fig. 3.5C).

Nippostrongylus brasiliensis hookworm larvae enter the circulation through the skin and migrate to the lung where they cause epithelial damage and blood loss (Harvie et al., 2010). This triggers immune responses mainly mediated by ILCs, Th2 cells and macrophages aimed at protecting the airways from infection and repairing damage (Bouchery et al., 2015). Maturing larvae are then transported up the respiratory tract where they are ingested to finally reach the small intestine, where they mate before being expelled 7-9 days after infection (Bouchery et al., 2017). Both (r)EOS and (i)EOS were found in the lung 6 days after infection with *N. brasiliensis* and again, a significant proportion of (i)EOS expressed CD98 (Fig. 3.5E-F).

Schistosoma mansoni larvae (cercariae) also migrate via the lungs but enter the hepatic portal system to reach the bladder where the adult worms reside (Butrous, 2019). *Schistosoma* eggs

can become trapped in areas of venous drainage in the lung and liver causing aggregation of inflammatory cells (termed granulomas), such as macrophages, lymphocytes and eosinophils, which drive generation of Th2 inflammatory responses (Mickael and Graham, 2019). In our study, mice were infected with 20 cercariae on day 0 and 7 and subsequently with 80 cercariae on day 14. This infection regime aimed to mirror natural repeated exposure to the parasite in humans (Colley and Secor, 2014). Tissues were analysed 28 days after the last infection to avoid egg-induced immune responses clouding over larvae-induced immune responses. Mice infected with *S. mansoni* developed significant eosinophilia, with both (r)EOS and (i)EOS being present in the lung. Also in this case, (i)EOS showed high expression of CD98 (Fig. 3.5G-H).

Together these data show that generation of (i)EOS is not restricted to allergic lung disease but represent a feature of inflammatory responses in the lung irrespectively of the upstream cause. Moreover, expression of CD98, therefore increased metabolic activation, is also a commonly acquired characteristic of (i)EOS during lung inflammation. This suggests that (i)EOS and CD98 expression may be considered as common bio-markers to identify lung inflammatory responses.



Figure 3.5: (i)EOS and CD98 expression are a common feature of lung inflammation

A) Eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometry in the lungs of naïve and Influenza (PR8 strain)-infected mice and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. B) The percentage of eosinophils expressing CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lungs of naïve and Influenza (PR8 strain)-infected mice. C) Eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometry in the lungs of naïve and *H. polygyrus*-infected mice and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. D) The percentage of eosinophils expressing CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lungs of naive and *H. polygyrus*-infected mice. E) Eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometry in the lungs of naïve and *N. brasiliensis*-infected mice and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. F) The percentage of eosinophils expressing CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lungs of naïve and *N. brasiliensis*-infected mice and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. F) The percentage of eosinophils expressing CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lungs of naïve and *N. brasiliensis*-infected mice. G) Eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometry in the lungs of naïve and *S. mansoni*-infected mice and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. H) The percentage of eosinophils expressing CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lungs of naïve and *S. mansoni*-infected mice. Data shown are from one experiment. n = 3-5. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test (C, D, E, F, G, H) or one-way ANOVA (A): *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

3.3.6 Lung (i)EOS express high levels of GPR109a

Our results identifying (i)EOS as pro-inflammatory cells with higher metabolic activity, prompted us to investigate whether this population had specific features that could inform mechanisms for therapeutic manipulation. Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) generated by the gut microbiota, including acetate, propionate and butyrate, have recently been shown to have immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory effects in intestinal and lung inflammatory diseases (Dang and Marsland, 2019). These effects can be mediated by SCFAs binding to the G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) GPR41, GPR43 or GPR109a or by intracellular inhibition of histone deacetylases (HDACs) (Dang and Marsland, 2019). In the context of allergic asthma, SCFAs have been shown to indirectly induce such effects by targeting antigen-presenting cells (APCs) in the BM in a receptor-mediated manner (GPR41 and GPR43 may both be involved) (Maslowski et al., 2009; Trompette et al., 2014). Nevertheless, it is not clear whether SCFAs may directly affect cell populations present in the lung, such as eosinophils, during allergic lung inflammation.

To this end, we firstly sorted (r)EOS and (i)EOS from the lung of HDM-treated mice and assessed their expression of SCFA GPCRs. Blood neutrophils have been reported to express GPR109a, whereas blood monocytes are not thought to express the receptor (Kostylina et al., 2008, Theiler et al., 2019). Therefore, we sorted lung neutrophils and monocytes alongside eosinophils, and used them as positive and negative controls respectively. Interestingly, immunofluorescence staining showed that (i)EOS displayed higher expression of the SCFA receptors GPR109a compared to (r)EOS and, as expected, the receptor was also expressed by neutrophils and not expressed by monocytes (Fig. 3.6A). Moreover, the microarray sequencing from Mesnil et al. (2016) also showed that *Hcar2*, the gene encoding for GPR109a, was upregulated on (i)EOS compared to (r)EOS from naïve and allergic mice (Supplementary Fig. 4). (i)EOS also showed higher expression of GPR43 compared to (r)EOS and in contrast with the literature, monocytes also displayed GPR43 expression (Fig. 3.6B). On the other hand, (i)EOS showed lower expression of GPR41 compared to (r)EOS and monocytes showed negligible staining (Fig. 3.6C).

Flow cytometry analysis confirmed that lung (i)EOS expressed higher levels of GPR109a compared to (r)EOS in allergic mice but, interestingly, blood (i)EOS, (r)EOS and BM eosinophils expressed very low levels of the receptor (Fig. 3.6D). This suggests that factors enriched in the lung environment may support expression of GPR109a on eosinophils during allergic inflammation. Whilst GPR41 and GPR43 can be bound by all SCFAs, GPR109a is selective for butyrate (Kasubuchi et al., 2015), suggesting that butyrate in particular could have important effects in modulating eosinophil phenotype and/or function. Butyrate is not the only agonist of GPR109a - β -hydroxybutyrate and niacin, also known as nicotinic acid or vitamin B3, can also bind and activate the receptor (Singh et al., 2014). Since we demonstrated that IL-33, GM-CSF and IL-5 induce upregulation of CD98 on BM eosinophils from naïve mice, we used the same cytokines to test whether they may support expression of GPR109a on eosinophils. This time,

we also wanted to establish whether addition of the GPR109a agonists butyrate or niacin may affect GPR109a expression. The results showed that cytokine stimulation and addition of niacin in particular slightly enhanced expression of GPR109a on BM or lung eosinophils (Fig. 3.6E).

These data show for the first time that only a subset of murine eosinophils expresses higher levels of the butyrate and niacin receptor GPR109a in the lung but not in the blood or BM of allergic mice. Moreover, expression of this receptor on eosinophils may be dictated by the factors present in the lung environment, rendering such cells more responsive to stimulation with butyrate or niacin.



Figure 3.6: Lung (i)EOS express high levels of GPR109a

A) Representative staining of sorted (r)EOS, (i)EOS, monocytes and neutrophils from the lungs of HDM-treated mice for GPR109a (green) and counterstained with DAPI (blue) (scale bar 10 μ m). B) Representative staining of sorted (r)EOS, (i)EOS and monocytes from the lungs of HDM-treated mice for GPR43 (red) and counterstained with DAPI (blue) (scale bar 10 μ m). C) Representative staining of sorted (r)EOS, (i)EOS and monocytes for GPR41 (green) and counterstained with DAPI (blue) (scale bar 10 μ m). C) Representative staining of sorted (r)EOS, (i)EOS and monocytes from the lungs of HDM-treated mice for GPR41 (green) and counterstained with DAPI (blue) (scale bar 10 μ m). D) The percentage of eosinophils expressing GPR109a was quantified by flow cytometry in the lungs, BM and blood of naive and HDM-treated mice. E) The percentage of lung and BM eosinophils from naïve

mice expressing GPR109a following culture in the presence or absence of IL-33, GM-CSF and IL-5 alone or with butyrate or niacin for 24 hours was quantified by flow cytometry. Data shown are from at least two representative experiments. n = 2-4 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test (D) or one-way ANOVA (E): *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

3.3.7 Oral administration of butyrate ameliorates BM and lung eosinophilia following exposure to HDM

SCFAs are the products of dietary fibre fermented by intestinal commensal bacteria, and are therefore present in high amounts in the intestines (Tan et al., 2014). There they maintain homeostasis by fortifying barriers of defence and by their anti-inflammatory effects (Koh et al., 2016). Despite SCFAs being largely concentrated in the gut, they can be absorbed into the bloodstream and there is evidence for SCFA-mediated anti-inflammatory effects in the periphery (Dang and Marsland, 2019). Importantly, several studies suggest that SCFAs are beneficial in reducing allergic inflammatory responses (Maslowski et al., 2009; Trompette et al, 2014; Cait et al., 2018). Although Theiler et al. (2019) has recently shown that butyrate may affect eosinophil survival and migration, the full spectrum of effects on lung eosinophil populations still has to be addressed.

Our data showed that (i)EOS express higher levels of the butyrate-selective GPR109a compared to (r)EOS. To firstly understand whether the gut microbiota and derived metabolites could affect eosinophil phenotype at steady-state we looked at lung eosinophils from specific pathogen free (SPF) mice i.e. with a normal microbiome, and germ-free (GF) mice. Interestingly, GF mice showed reduced levels of eosinophils in the BM, whereas increased proportions were found in the lung (Fig. 3.7A). Closer examination identified both (r)EOS and (i)EOS in the lungs of GF mice whereas, as also shown in previous experiments, SPF mice have very low proportions of (i)EOS at steady-state (Fig. 3.7A). Comparable to our mouse model of allergic asthma, expression of CD98 and CD101 was also present on (i)EOS from naïve GF mice (Fig. 3.7B). These data therefore suggest that the gut microbiome or derived metabolites can affect the lung environment and impact eosinophil phenotype and function.

The results from GF mice prompted us to investigate whether administration of the SCFA butyrate could have beneficial effects in reducing allergic inflammation in our model and whether this was reflected by changes in (r)EOS and (i)EOS. To this end, we orally administered butyrate in the drinking water to BALB/c mice for a period of 2 weeks prior and then during HDM treatment (Fig. 3.7C). Allergic mice treated with butyrate showed that this SCFA significantly decreased the frequencies of eosinophils and (i)EOS in particular (Fig. 3.7D). Butyrate not only decreased (i)EOS proportions in the lung but also their activation, as shown by reduced expression of both CD98 and CD101 (Fig. 3.7E). HDM-induced eosinophilia in the BM was also decreased by butyrate, suggesting that oral treatment with the SCFA may target eosinophils at several sites

(Fig. 3.7D). The anti-inflammatory effects of butyrate on eosinophils were also extended to the whole lung environment, as shown by reduced mRNA expression of Th2-associated inflammatory mediators (Fig. 3.7F). We measured expression of IL-13 and IL-4, the key cytokines involved in orchestrating Th2 responses (Junttila, 2018), Relm- α and Ym-1, effector molecules known to be abundantly released during Th2 inflammatory responses (Sutherland et al., 2018), CCL11, an eosinophil-selective chemokine (Broide and Sriramarao, 2001), and Muc5ac, a mucin expressed on goblet cells within the tracheal and bronchial epithelium known to be highly expressed during asthma development (Bonser and Erle, 2017). Allergen exposure upregulated expression of all transcripts analysed, which was significantly reduced by treatment with butyrate, suggesting that this SCFA can induce broad anti-inflammatory effects in the lung tissue.

In summary, our data support the idea that the microbiota and derived SCFAs, with butyrate in particular, are important in balancing immune responses at mucosal sites. In this case, GF mice showed that the gut microbiome may have an important role in promoting tolerance and homeostasis not only in the intestine but also in the airways. Moreover, we showed that the anti-inflammatory effects of butyrate were evidenced by reduced eosinophilia and eosinophil activation as well as expression of Th2 mediators in the lungs of HDM-treated mice. Therefore, butyrate reduced lung inflammation via direct targeting of eosinophils, indirect changes to the inflamed environment, or both.



Figure 3.7: Oral administration of butyrate ameliorates BM and lung eosinophilia following exposure to HDM

A) Eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of SPF and GF mice and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. B) The percentage of eosinophils expressing CD101 and CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of SPF and GF mice. C) Experimental timeline. 8-12 week old female BALB/c WT mice were

administered 300 mM butyrate in the drinking water for two weeks prior and during HDM treatment. Mice were euthanised 24 hours after the last challenge with HDM (on day 12). D) Eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung and BM of naive mice and mice treated with HDM or butyrate alone and HDM with butyrate and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. E) The percentage of eosinophils expressing CD101 and CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung and BM of naive mice and BM of naive mice and mice treated with HDM or butyrate alone and HDM or butyrate alone and HDM with butyrate. F) Expression of IL-4, IL-13, Ym-1 ReIm- α , Muc5ac and CCL11 was established in lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM or butyrate alone and HDM with butyrate following RNA extraction and qPCR. Data shown are from at least two representative experiments. n = 3-5 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test (A, B) or one-way ANOVA (D, E, F): *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

3.3.8 Intranasal administration of butyrate ameliorates lung eosinophilia following exposure to HDM in a GPR109a-dependent manner

Butyrate is thought to provide anti-inflammatory effects mostly through inhibition of HDACs (Park et al., 2015, Chang et al., 2014; Aoyama et al., 2010; Thio et al., 2018; Theiler et al., 2019). However, our data suggest that agonism of GPR109a may be crucially important in allergic lung inflammation. To further evaluate whether butyrate-induced anti-inflammatory effects on lung (i)EOS are mediated by GPR109a, we intranasally administered butyrate or the specific GPR109a agonist niacin for 2 weeks prior and throughout the HDM administration protocol (Fig. 3.8A). Treatment with both butyrate and niacin decreased HDM-induced lung eosinophilia (Fig. 3.8B) but did not affect BM eosinophils as with oral treatment (data not shown), suggesting that priming of the BM is not necessary for butyrate-induced anti-inflammatory effects. Intranasal administration of butyrate and niacin also reduced eosinophil activation, which was evidenced by decreased expression of CD98 as well as phosphorylated mTOR (Fig. 3.8C).

Activation of GPR109a, which is coupled to $G_{i/o}$, leads to inhibition of cAMP production and downstream phosphorylation and activation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK)1/2 (Li et al., 2011). We therefore assessed the expression of phosphorylated ERK1/2 in (i)EOS to further understand whether niacin and butyrate may directly induce similar effects through binding of GPR109a. The results showed that both butyrate and niacin significantly increased expression of phosphorylated ERK1/2 on (i)EOS following HDM exposure, suggesting that butyrate-induced effects may indeed be mediated through binding of GPR109a (Fig. 3.8D).

Although we detected expression of GPR109a on lung neutrophils, DCs, AMs and CD4⁺ T cells (data not shown), we saw no significant differences in the proportions of these cells in the lung or in their expression of activation-associated markers following treatment with butyrate or niacin, suggesting that these agents may better target eosinophils (Fig. 3.8E).

Our results showed no differences in the proportions of CD4⁺ T cells following treatment with butyrate or niacin (Fig. 3.8E), however SCFA-induced anti-inflammatory effects have been

associated with increased levels of activated Tregs (CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ T cells) in several studies (Singh et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2013; Zaiss et al., 2015). For this reason, we investigated whether butyrate and niacin treatment indirectly mediated anti-inflammatory effects on eosinophils via Treg induction. Neither butyrate or niacin increased proportions of Tregs as percentages of CD45⁺ cells (Fig. 3.8F) or as percentages of CD4⁺ T cells (data not shown), suggesting that butyrate does not induce Treg expansion in our experiments.

Similar to oral treatment with butyrate, intranasal administration of butyrate or niacin induced anti-inflammatory effects in the whole lung environment, as shown by reduced mRNA expression of Th2-associated inflammatory mediators (Fig. 3.8G).

Since we established that intranasal administration of butyrate or niacin prior to and during HDM treatment induced anti-inflammatory effects on eosinophils in the lung, we aimed to understand whether limiting the administration of butyrate or niacin to only the HDM challenge period would induce the same effects (Supplementary Fig. 5A). The results showed that both butyrate and niacin were still effective in reducing eosinophilia and eosinophil activation in the lung when given only during the HDM challenge (Supplementary Fig. 5B), suggesting that pre-treatment during the sensitisation period is not necessarily required to dampen inflammatory responses in the lung. As before, treatment with butyrate or niacin during the challenge with HDM also decreased mRNA expression of Th2 mediators (Supplementary Fig. 5C), suggesting that the anti-inflammatory effect is extended to the whole lung tissue.

To further demonstrate that agonism of GPR109a mediates butyrate- and niacin-induced antiinflammatory effects on eosinophils, we also administered a specific GPR109a agonist developed by GSK. Due to the compound's properties, the agonist could only be administered orally, therefore mice were given the drug by oral gavage during the challenge phase with HDM. The results showed that oral administration of the agonist was effective in decreasing lung eosinophilia and eosinophil activation in the lung of HDM-treated mice, although not as dramatically as with intranasal administration with butyrate or niacin (Supplementary Fig. 5D). Although oral administration of this compound might not be the most effective method of delivery, these data suggest that agonism of GPR109a is beneficial in reducing Th2 inflammatory responses in the lung.

Overall, these results illustrate that butyrate significantly decreases inflammation in the lungs of allergic mice and that this is associated with decreased eosinophil activation. We showed that the GPR109a agonist niacin as well as the GSK-developed GPR109a agonist also mirrored butyrate-induced reductions in (i)EOS numbers and activation reinforcing the hypothesis that these effects are mediated by GPR109a expressed on (i)EOS.



Figure 3.8: Intranasal administration of butyrate ameliorates lung eosinophilia following exposure to HDM in a GPR109a-dependent manner

A) Experimental timeline. 8-12 week old female BALB/c WT mice were administered 30 mM butyrate or niacin i.n. twice a week for two weeks prior and during HDM treatment. Mice were euthanised 24 hours after the last challenge with HDM (on day 12). B) Eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with butyrate or niacin and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. C) The percentage of eosinophils expressing CD101 and pmTOR was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naive

mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with butyrate or niacin. D) Tregs (CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ cells) were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with butyrate or niacin and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. E) The percentage of (i)EOS expressing pERK1/2 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with butyrate or niacin. F) Neutrophils, DCs (Siglec-F⁻CD11c⁺CD11b⁺ cells) and AMs (Siglec-F⁺CD11c⁺CD11b⁻ cells) as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells, the percentage of DCs expressing CD98 and pmTOR, and the percentage of neutrophils expressing CD98 and CD29 were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with butyrate or niacin. G) Expression of IL-4, IL-33, Ym-1, Relm- α and CCL11 was established in lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with butyrate or niacin. G) Expression of IL-4, IL-33, Ym-1, Relm- α and CCL11 was established in lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with butyrate or niacin. G) Expression of IL-4, IL-33, Ym-1, Relm- α and CCL11 was established in lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with butyrate or niacin and qPCR. Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 3-4 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with one-way ANOVA: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01;

3.3.9 Agonism of GPR109a is effective in reducing inflammation in a mouse model of neutrophilic asthma

Allergic asthma has been determined to be a heterogeneous disease with several distinct pathologic phenotypes (Borish, 2016; Brussino et al., 2018). Although eosinophilic asthma is more prevalent, there is evidence for neutrophils being the predominant cellular infiltrate in cases of severe and persistent asthma, asthma exacerbations and corticosteroid-resistant asthma (Wang et al., 2016). Although the knowledge about the mechanisms, phenotypes and treatments for asthma has increased over the last decades, severe asthma and asthma control in particular are the main unmet needs in the field (Varsano et al., 2017).

We previously showed that not only eosinophils but also lung neutrophils express GPR109a; for these reasons, we decided to investigate whether agonism of GPR109a could also be beneficial in ameliorating neutrophilic asthma. To this end, we developed a mouse model of mixed granulocytic asthma by administering LPS (Yu and Chen, 2018), together with HDM on days 7, 9 and 11 of our challenge model (Fig. 3.9A). The results showed that addition of LPS to our HDM model dramatically increased neutrophil levels in the lungs (Fig. 3.9B) as well as their expression of CD98 (Fig. 3.9C). The mechanisms underlying neutrophilic asthma are still unclear, however there is evidence for increased levels of neutrophil chemotactic and activating mediators, such as IL-8, IL-17A and TNF- α , in the airways (Yang et al., 2018). We therefore also measured IL-17A and TNF- α expression in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, in addition to IL-13, IL-5 and IFN- γ , all of which were increased in mice treated with HDM+LPS (Fig. 3.9D). Similarly to our previous results, intranasal administration of butyrate or niacin during the challenge phase with HDM and LPS was effective in reducing lung neutrophilia, CD98 expression on neutrophils as well as cytokine release from T cells (Fig. 3.9B-D), suggesting that agonism of GPR109a may also be beneficial in this asthmatic phenotype.

As before, we also administered the GPR109a agonist developed by GSK to this mouse model to further demonstrate that agonism of GPR109a may mediate butyrate- and niacin-induced anti-inflammatory effects on neutrophils. Oral administration of the agonist was effective in decreasing neutrophilia as well as neutrophil expression of CD98 also in this model (Supplementary Fig. 6A). The anti-inflammatory effects of the GPR109a agonist were also evidenced by decreased lung mRNA expression of IL-17A, TNF- α , IFN- γ and Th2 cytokines (Supplementary Fig. 6B).

Importantly, these data suggest that agonism of GPR109a can be beneficial in ameliorating allergic lung inflammation when either eosinophils or neutrophils are the major inflammatory infiltrates.



Figure 3.9: Agonism of GPR109a is also effective in reducing inflammation in a mouse model of neutrophilic asthma

A) Experimental timeline. 8-12 week old female BALB/c WT mice were administered 30 mM butyrate or niacin i.n. during the challenge phase of HDM treatment. 5 μg LPS were also administered i.n. with HDM on day 7-9-11. Mice were euthanised 24 hours after the last challenge with HDM (on day 12). B) Neutrophils were quantified

by flow cytometry in the lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM+LPS alone or with butyrate or niacin and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. C) The percentage of neutrophils expressing CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM+LPS alone or with butyrate or niacin. D) The percentage of T cells expressing IL-17A, TNF- α , IFN- γ , IL-5 and IL-13 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naive mice treated with HDM+LPS alone or with butyrate or niacin. D) The percentage of T cells expressing IL-17A, TNF- α , IFN- γ , IL-5 and IL-13 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM+LPS alone or with butyrate or niacin. Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 3-4 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with one-way ANOVA: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

3.3.10 Asthmatic patients also have two populations of eosinophils in the lung and blood with a similar phenotype to mouse eosinophils

To investigate the potential existence of separate eosinophil populations in humans, we used the gating strategy showed in Supplementary Fig. 7A to identify eosinophils by assessing the surface expression of Siglec-8 (i.e. the human ortholog of murine Siglec-F), CCR3, IL-5Rα, CD98 and CD101 on blood and lung samples from asthmatic patients (APs) and healthy controls (HCs). As with eosinophils from allergic mice, eosinophils from the blood and lungs of APs upregulated expression of Siglec-8 compared to HCs, resulting in the potential identification of two different populations of eosinophils that could be distinguished as Siglec-8^{hi}CD11b⁺ and Siglec-8^{int}CD11b⁺ (Fig. 3.10A). In contrast to murine lung eosinophils, about 20% of human lung eosinophils expressed CD101 already in HCs, together with low expression of CD98 and GPR109a (Fig. 3.10B). However, similarly to murine lung eosinophils from HCs expressed very low levels of CD101, CD98 and GPR109a, as we also showed in the murine counterparts (Fig. 3.10B). Due to limited sample availability, we could not establish expression of GPR109a on eosinophils from the blood of APs but we identified higher expression of CD101 and CD98 (Fig. 3.10B), suggesting phenotypic similarities in eosinophils from allergic mice and humans.

In order to understand whether the lung environment might support eosinophil activation and expression of CD101 and CD98 in humans, we exposed isolated blood eosinophils to IL-33, GM-CSF and IL-5, as we did with murine eosinophils. We also assessed whether addition of butyrate on niacin would also affect GPR109a expression as we detected on murine eosinophils. To this end, we isolated blood eosinophils from the blood of HCs using enrichment columns and identified a CD16⁻CD66b⁺cell population in an enriched granulocyte suspension. The purity of the sorted eosinophil population was close to 100%, as assessed by flow cytometry and cytospins (Supplementary Fig. 7B-C). Moreover, immunofluorescence staining with the eosinophil-specific granule EPX (magenta) showed expression of the protein on the isolated cells (Supplementary Fig. 7D). We then exposed the isolated eosinophils to IL-33, GM-CSF and IL-5 alone or with niacin or butyrate. The results showed that, similarly to our results from mice experiments, cytokine stimulation increased expression of CD98 on blood eosinophils, which however was only slightly reduced by niacin (Fig. 3.10C). Importantly, cytokine stimulation with

niacin induced an increase in GPR109a expression above the levels on untreated cells (Fig. 3.10C).

Our data potentially show the existence of two different populations of eosinophils in asthmatic patients, which can be distinguished by expression of Siglec-8 and increased expression of CD98 and CD101 as in allergic mice. Similarly to our *in vitro* experiments with murine eosinophils, we showed that IL-33, GM-CSF and IL-5 may enhance expression of CD98 and GPR109a. Additionally, treatment with butyrate or niacin also affected CD98 and GPR109a expression, therefore suggesting that human eosinophils may also be targeted by agonism of GPR109a.



Figure 3.10: Asthmatic patients also show two populations of eosinophils in the lung and blood with similar phenotype to mouse eosinophils

A) Siglec-8 expression was quantified on eosinophils (Siglec-8⁺CD11b⁺ cells) from the blood and lung of HCs and APs and expressed as MFI. B) The percentage of eosinophils expressing CD101, CD98 and GPR109a was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung and blood of HCs and APs. C) The percentage of blood eosinophils from HCs expressing CD98 and GPR109a following culture in the presence or absence of IL-33, GM-CSF and IL-5 alone or with butyrate or niacin for 24 hours was quantified by flow cytometry. Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 1-2 per experiment. Error bars show \pm SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test (A, B) one-way ANOVA (C): *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001.

3.4 DISCUSSION

Here we have shown that (i)EOS (Siglec-F^{hi}CD11b^{hi} eosinophils) and (r)EOS (Siglec-F^{int}CD11b^{int} eosinophils) represent two phenotypically distinct populations of eosinophils found in the airways of allergic mice. Factors enriched in the lung environment supported eosinophil activation during allergic responses, showing that (i)EOS were pro-inflammatory and more metabolically active than (r)EOS and this correlated with expression of CD98. Importantly, we identified Siglec-F^{hi}CD98⁺ eosinophils being a common feature of lung inflammation. For the first time, we have also shown that lung (i)EOS upregulate expression of the receptor GPR109a and that agonism of this receptor can directly affect eosinophil phenotype and function *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Finally, we also provide evidence for the potential existence of two populations of eosinophils in the lungs and blood of asthmatic patients that may express GPR109a and be responsive to agonism of this receptor.

Our results firstly demonstrated that mice exposed to the allergen HDM developed airway, blood and BM eosinophilia. However, we detected two populations of eosinophils, identified as (i)EOS (Siglec-F^{hi} eosinophils) and (r)EOS (Siglec-F^{int} eosinophils) only in the airways and blood of allergic mice, suggesting that these cells are generated following egress from the BM or the lungs. (i)EOS in the lung and BAL showed upregulation of CD11b, whereas (i)EOS in the blood did not show upregulation of this molecule. Previous studies have documented the existence of two separate populations of eosinophils in murine models of allergic asthma (Mesnil et al., 2016; Abdala Valencia et al., 2015). (r)EOS were reported not to be affected by allergen exposure and to have homeostatic functions, whereas (i)EOS to increase in response to allergen inhalation and to be pro-inflammatory (Mesnil et al., 2016). Conversely, our results showed a simultaneous decrease in the levels of (r)EOS with an increase in (i)EOS following HDM administration, which was also concomitant to transition from a Siglec-F^{int}CD11b^{int} to a Siglec-F^{hi}CD11b^{hi} phenotype. Upregulation of the integrin CD11b has been associated with cell activation and a proinflammatory phenotype in humans and mice (Duan et al., 2016; Arnold et al., 2018). The function of Siglec-F on eosinophils remains a controversial topic. On the one hand, Siglec-F engagement has been shown to induce eosinophil apoptosis, suggesting that upregulation of Siglec-F on eosinophils represents a negative feedback mechanism to regulate proinflammatory responses in an autocrine manner (Zhang et al., 2007; Zimmermann et al., 2008). On the other hand, Siglec-F upregulation on eosinophils has been associated with increased eosinophil survival and cytokine release (Willebrand and Voehringer, 2016), suggesting that this receptor may actually possess both inhibitory and activatory properties. These observations together with our results, suggest that recruitment of eosinophils from the BM is enhanced by allergen exposure and that, once in the lung, BM-derived eosinophils are shaped by local changes in the environment. Although at steady-state eosinophils are defined as tissue-resident cells (Weller and Spencer, 2017), with the use of lung-shielded chimeras and intravascular staining we found that lung eosinophils are not long-lived self-renewing cells like AMs (Guilliams et al., 2013). Conversely, lung eosinophils require constant replenishment from the BM to maintain their tissue pool. We also observed that HDM exposure increased the frequencies of host-derived eosinophils in the lung. This is concomitant with the appearence of (i)EOS in the airways, normally absent at steady-state, leading to the hypothesis that (i)EOS may be generated from local BM-derived (r)EOS. Administration of low doses of HDM supported our hypothesis by revealing that this treatment regime was not sufficient to trigger systemic or airway eosinophilia, but it induced local generation of (i)EOS. Unaltered proportions of EoPs in the BM, blood and lungs of HDM-treated mice compared to controls suggested the possibility that (i)EOS are not generated from local progenitor cells. However, we cannot fully rule out that changes in EoPs occurred at different time points we did not analyse or that (i)EOS are being generated in the circulation prior to entering the lung. Nevertheless, these results importantly suggest that eosinophils are plastic cells susceptible to changes in the local tissue microenvironment, which modulates their phenotype to potentially favour their adaptation.

Phenotypically, (i)EOS, but not (r)EOS, have been reported to express CD101 (Mesnil et al., 2016), which we confirmed in our analysis. In addition, we saw that (i)EOS expressed elevated levels of CD98, which has not been reported before. Interestingly, the majority of (i)EOS did not co-express the two molecules, allowing identification of four further subpopulations. It would therefore be interesting to provide more in-depth analysis of such populations to improve our understanding of eosinophil biology. CD98 is known to support cell growth and survival by multiple mechanisms: it allows amino acid transport by coupling with LAT1 and it associates with integrins regulating their functions (Cormerais et al., 2016). Our data showed that CD98 expression by (i)EOS indeed correlated with increased amino acid uptake and concurrently activation of the mTOR signalling pathway, as well as with glucose uptake, which was associated with CD98, suggesting that CD98 may fulfil its role of a pleiotropic molecule on eosinophils. Cellular metabolism is essential in determining immune cell function and metabolic changes are crucial in dictating how cells respond to a variety of signals. Our data show that (i)EOS as they

released higher amounts of IL-4 and IL-6, together with the granule protein EPX. Altogether these data further support the hypothesis that (i)EOS represent a subset of (r)EOS more sensitive to changes in the tissue microenvironment, involving their metabolic reprogramming which may be necessary to adapt to such alterations.

Although little is known about eosinophil metabolism, our results are in agreement with Jones et al., (2019), who showed that human blood eosinophils are plastic cells able to upregulate glycolysis and the TCA cycle upon activation. Moreover, data from Porter et al., (2018) suggest that, although both human eosinophils and neutrophils use glycolysis, eosinophils also access additional pathways such as glucose oxidation and mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation. This supports the idea that eosinophils show significant metabolic flexibility, which allows them to better adapt to tissue requirements. Inflamed tissues are often hypoxic, due to increased cellular oxygen demand and reduced oxygen availability. Hypoxia is a pro-inflammatory stimulus, which activates HIF-1 α signalling, resulting in a metabolic shift from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis and we showed that lung (i)EOS can be identified by their expression of HIF-1 α . Enhanced glycolysis in eosinophils may therefore allow them to perform their functions in environments with limited oxygen availability (Porter et al., 2018).

In vitro assays further led us to identify IL-33, IL-5 and GM-CSF as factors capable of increasing CD98 and Siglec-F expression on eosinophils over a period of 24 hours. These observations are also supported by Jones et al. (2019), who showed that IL-5, GM-CSF and IL-3 induce eosinophil glycolysis. Although IL-5, GM-CSF and IL-3 are known as 'eosinophilopoietins' (Melo et al., 2013), a role for IL-33 in supporting eosinophil development, survival and activation has only emerged recently (Johnston et al., 2016 and 2017; Willebrand and Voehringer, 2016). Our results indicate the importance of IL-33 in driving metabolic adaptation of (i)EOS since IL-33 deficient mice displayed reduced expression of CD98 compared to heterozygous controls. Although IL-33 is reported to indirectly affect eosinophils through GM-CSF or IL-5, our data show that IL-33 can activate eosinophils in the absence of other cytokines. In fact, there is evidence for IL-33R (ST2) expression on eosinophils, which can directly mediate effects of IL-33 on these cells (Stolarski et al., 2010). Furthermore, eosinophil stimulation with IL-33 or IL-5 is correlated with increased surface expression of CD11b, increased adhesion and granule protein release (Angulo et al., 2019). However, the combination of IL-33, IL-5 and GM-CSF did not lead to release of EPX in our study, which was achieved only using a non-specific Ca²⁺ ionophore. This could be because eosinophil activation can vary at different time points (Esnault and Kelly, 2016), or because not all granule proteins may be released following stimulation with those cytokines (Angulo et al., 2019). Exposure of BM eosinophils to IL-33 and the Ca²⁺ ionophore lonomycin but not either factor alone for a shorter period of 3 hours showed that this treatment induced the generation of a Siglec-F^{int} and a Siglec-F^{hi} population of BM eosinophils, reminiscent of (r)EOS and (i)EOS seen in the lungs of allergic mice. This suggests that triggering of Ca²⁺ influx into eosinophils over a shorter period of time led us to capture eosinophils in a transition state i.e. from Siglec-F^{int} to Siglec-F^{hi} as shown following a 24 hours stimulation.

Further phenotypic analysis of (i)EOS and (r)EOS confirmed previous studies in that (i)EOS displayed more segmented nuclei and were localised around the bronchi in the lung, whereas (r)EOS showed typical ring-shaped nuclei and were located in the parenchyma (Mesnil et al., 2016; Abdala Valencia et al., 2015). Although we did not see differences in CCR3 expression between (i)EOS and (r)EOS as previously reported, we saw that (r)EOS expressed higher levels of IL-5Rα compared to (i)EOS together with STAT5, suggesting that (i)EOS decrease responsiveness to the cytokine. Accordingly, other studies have shown that eosinophils decrease expression of IL-5R α in response to antigen challenge and that this is partly mediated by proteolytic cleavage of membrane-bound IL-5Ra, which in turn contributes to the presence of soluble IL-5Rα (Liu et al., 2002; Wilson et al., 2011). Additionally, (r)EOS expressed greater levels of other molecules associated with regulatory functions compared to (i)EOS, including the integrin CD29, the co-stimulatory molecule CD86 and the immunomodulatory enzyme IDO. (r)EOS have indeed been associated with homeostatic functions, such as inhibition of BMderived DC-mediated activation of Th2 cells (Mesnil et al., 2016). Conversely, (i)EOS expressed additional proteins associated with pro-inflammatory functions and cell activation, such as the LPS receptor TLR-4, membrane-bound IgE, the transcription factor STAT1, the activation marker CD69, the adhesion molecule CD34, the receptor CD300c/d and the integrin CD11c. Increased expression of the latter on lung eosinophils from allergic mice was previously reported by Abdala Valencia et al. (2015), showing increased capacity of these cells to interact with the respiratory mucosa through fibrinogen binding.

Although we and others have pointed out changes in eosinophil phenotype in allergic asthma, it is not known whether similarities or differences in eosinophils exist across murine models of lung inflammation. Surprisingly, in three different models of parasite-induced lung inflammation as well as after Influenza infection, we detected (i)EOS and (r)EOS in the lungs, with (i)EOS expressing CD98. These data reveal that eosinophil transition from (r)EOS into (i)EOS with an activated phenotype are a common characteristic of lung inflammatory responses. Moreover, these changes depend on the nature of the inflammatory response but not on the causing stimulus. This is significant as (i)EOS expressing CD98 may be considered as a common biomarker to identify lung inflammatory responses.

Interestingly, our phenotypic analysis of lung eosinophils suggested that (i)EOS expressed higher levels of the SCFA receptors GPR109a and GPR43, but not GPR41, compared to (r)EOS. SCFAs are the metabolic product of undigestible fibres fermented by the intestinal

microbiota, with the most abundant being acetate, propionate and butyrate. While GPR43 and GPR41 are activated by all three SCFAs, GPR109a is activated only by butyrate (Macia et al., 2015). GPR109a is known to be expressed in adipocytes and immune cells, including macrophages, DCs and neutrophils (Tunaru et al., 2003; Singh et al., 2015; Zandi-Nejad et al., 2013) but, to our knowledge, this is the first time that a subset of murine eosinophils is reported to express GPR109a. In contrast to our findings, Kostylina et al. (2008) reported that mature neutrophils but not eosinophils express GPR109a. However, their study was based on analysis of human blood rather than cells from tissues. Our data have shown that the signals present in the tissue microenvironment are crucial in the modulation of eosinophil phenotype, suggesting that the properties of circulatory eosinophils are not representative of eosinophils from different tissue compartments.

Several studies suggest that SCFAs have beneficial effects on inflammatory disease pathogenesis, including allergic asthma (Maslowski et al., 2009; Trompette et al, 2014; Cait et al., 2018). We observed that GF mice, which are devoid of the intestinal microbiota, had both lung (r)EOS and (i)EOS at steady-state. This is in comparison to normal SPF mice which only have (r)EOS, thus supporting the idea that the microbiota and their derived metabolites, such as butyrate, play an important role in the regulation of immune responses in the lung and may prevent the generation of aberrant inflammatory responses to inhaled particulates. In support of this, Cahenzli et al. (2013) found that naïve GF mice had higher serum IgE levels compared to naïve SPF mice and showed that appropriate microbial exposure during early life has to occur in order to induce immune-regulatory mechanisms able to maintain serum IgE levels at baseline. Interestingly, full colonization of the lung by eosinophils occurs a week after birth in mice, suggesting that this may be correlated to simultaneous development of the gut microbiota (Mesnil et al., 2016). Further evidence for a link between commensals and eosinophils comes from both murine and human studies showing that reduced microbial diversity in the gut leads to increased susceptibility to developing eosinophilia and allergic airway inflammation (Stokes et al., 2015; Wesemann and Nagler, 2016; Zhang et al., 2020).

Although butyrate has recently been shown to affect eosinophil survival and migration (Theiler et al., 2019), it is still not known whether lung eosinophils can be directly targeted by SCFAs during allergic lung inflammation. Our experiments firstly revealed that lung (i)EOS but not blood (i)EOS or BM eosinophils expressed high levels of the butyrate-selective GPR109a and that its expression on eosinophils could be induced by cytokine stimulation and enhanced by addition of the GPR109a agonists butyrate or niacin. Based on these data, we hypothesised that butyrate could directly mediate anti-inflammatory effects on eosinophils through binding of GPR109a. Oral or intranasal administration of the SCFA was indeed effective in ameliorating lung inflammation in allergic mice, and it showed remarkable inhibition of the (i)EOS phenotype.

Administration of niacin also showed comparable effects on (i)EOS phenotype. Butyrate or niacin also enhanced expression of phosphorylated ERK1/2, which is activated downstream of GPR109a (Li et al., 2011). Further experiments using GPR109a KO mice will be required to fully confirm the effects of agonism of GPR109a on lung eosinophils. Nevertheless, to our knowledge, this is the first time that the effects of GPR109a agonists have been shown in the context of allergic asthma.

Tregs have been implicated in mediating the anti-inflammatory effects of SCFA in several studies (Singh et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2013; Zaiss et al., 2015). In contrast, our experiments showed that the frequencies Tregs were not not altered by either butyrate or niacin following HDM challenge. Moreover, butyrate or niacin did not affect the phenotype and activation of other cell types in the lung, including CD4⁺ T cells, neutrophils, DCs and AMs. These data therefore suggest that eosinophils can be specifically targeted by GPR109a agonists in our model and strongly suggest that agonism of this receptor can directly affect eosinophil phenotype and activation. Further experiments involving transfer of BM eosinophils from GPR109a KO mice into eosinophil-deficient mice will enable us to better establish the specific effects that agonism of GPR109a has on eosinophils.

It is increasingly recognised that asthma is a very heterogeneous disease and in patients with severe asthma neutrophils represent the predominant inflammatory infiltrate. Importantly, patients with neutrophilic asthma are often resistant to corticosteroid treatment and lack alternative personalised treatment options (Fajt and Wenzel, 2015). Since we established that lung neutrophils express GPR109a, we administered butyrate or niacin to a mouse model of mixed granulocytic lung allergy to understand whether agonism of the receptor mediated anti-inflammatory effects. Treatment with butyrate or niacin was anti-inflammatory also in this model, resulting in decreased neutrophilia, neutrophil activation and cytokine release from T cells. These data therefore suggest that agonism on GPR109a may ameliorate both Th2 and non-Th2 allergic inflammatory responses.

In the majority of human studies, eosinophils are obtained from the circulation or sputum due to sample accessibility and availability. However, there is evidence for the existence of eosinophils not only in the lungs of APs but also in healthy individuals (Kraft et al., 1999; Willetts et al., 2011). Our data confirm the presence of eosinophils in the lung and blood of HCs and APs, the latter showing that these cells can be distinguished into Siglec-8^{hi}CD11b⁺ and Siglec-8^{int}CD11b⁺ similarly to our results from murine studies. This is in contrast to Mesnil et al. (2016) who concluded that lung eosinophils cannot be distinguished based on expression of Siglec-8. In the same study, lung eosinophils were shown to express CD62L, whereas BAL eosinophils in our

study, but notably, we detected significant expression of CD98, CD101 and GPR109a on eosinophils from APs. Similarly to their murine counterparts, we also showed that cytokine stimulation enhanced expression of CD98 and GPR109a on blood eosinophils, suggesting that the lung environment has a major role in dictating eosinophil phenotype and function also in humans. Moreover, we showed that treatment with niacin or butyrate enhanced expression of GPR109a on cytokine-stimulated eosinophils, suggesting that these cells may also be responsive to agonism of the receptor. This opens up the possibility that agonism of GPR109a may represent a suitable treatment option for patients with Th2 and non-Th2 asthma.

One limitation of our study is that the samples received were all from asthmatic subjects with cancer that were not selected on the basis of a defined medical history or treatment plan. Only asthmatic patients on immunosuppressant drugs or with autoimmune diseases were excluded from our study. As such, we analysed a small heterogeneous cohort of patients whose disease origins and severity varied considerably. Nevertheless, our results suggest the existence of two populations of eosinophils in the human lung and blood with remarkably similar characteristics to the murine counterpart. A larger number of samples as well as further immunophenotyping with the use of flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry would therefore be required to better establish the reliability of our preliminary data.

In conclusion, this study indicates that lung eosinophils are short-lived plastic cells that can quickly adapt to tissue requirements by profoundly changing their phenotype and functional characteristics during Th2 lung inflammatory responses. In addition, we highlight a crucial role for the microbiome in regulating lung eosinophils and suggest that GPR109a may represent an intriguing target for therapeutic interventions to slow the progression of lung inflammatory diseases.

3.5 SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES





A) Gating strategy to identify lung eosinophils. Cells were identified as follows: SSC-A versus FSC-A to remove cellular debris; FSC-H versus FSC-A for doublet exclusion; Zombie Live-Dead versus CD45 to identify live haematopoietic populations; lineage versus CD45 to exclude contaminating populations (lineage defined as
TCRB, B220, NK1.1, Ly6C and Ly6G to exclude T cells, B cells, NK cells, monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils respectively); Siglec-F versus CD11b to identify eosinophils (CD11b⁺Siglec-F⁺) and exclude alveolar macrophages (AMs) (Siglec-F⁺CD11b⁻). B) Eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometry in the spleen, small intestine, large intestine and eyes of naive and HDM-treated mice and expressed as a percentage of CD45+ cells. C) The percentage of AMs expressing CD45.1 and CD45.2 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naïve and HDM-treated lung shielded chimeric mice. D) The percentage of (i)EOS expressing AF700conjugated CD45 administered i.v and CD45.2 was guantified by flow cytometry in the lung and blood of HDMtreated mice. E) Eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung, BM and blood of naïve and HDMtreated mice (0.4 µg and 4 µg) and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. F) Gating strategy to identify EoPs. Cells were identified as follows: SSC-A versus FSC-A to remove cellular debris; FSC-H versus FSC-A for doublet exclusion; Zombie Live-Dead versus CD45 to identify live haematopoietic populations; lineage versus CD45 to exclude contaminating populations (lineage defined as TCRβ, B220, NK1.1, Ly6C, Ly6G and FccRI to exclude T cells, B cells, NK cells, monocytes, neutrophils and basophils and mast cells respectively); CD11c versus Siglec-F to exclude eosinophils and CD11c⁺ cells; c-Kit versus FSC-A to identify c-Kit⁺ cells; IL-5Rα versus CD34 or CD16/32 or c-Kit to identify EoPs. G) EoPs were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung, BM and blood of naïve and HDM-treated mice and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 3-6 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test: p < 0.05, p < 0.01; p < 0.01; p < 0.01.





A) Gene expression analysis of the microarray gene sequencing from Mesnil et al. (2016). Data are expressed as arbitrary units (A.U.). B) t-SNE map representing t-SNE guided gating of fcs files from the lungs of HDM-treated mice run with the markers Siglec-F, CD11b, CD101 and CD98. Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 3-4 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with one-way ANOVA: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.





Siglec-F^{hi} and Siglec-F^{int} eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometry from the BM of naïve mice cultured in the presence or absence of PAF, IL-33 or Ionomycin alone or PAF+Ionomycin and IL-33+Ionomycin for 3 hours and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. Data shown are representative from two independent experiments. n = 2 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with one-way ANOVA: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.





Gene expression analysis of the microarray gene sequencing from Mesnil et al. (2016). Data are expressed as arbitrary units (A.U.). Error bars show \pm SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with one-way ANOVA: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.





A) Experimental timeline. 8-12 week old female BALB/c WT mice were administered 30 mM butyrate or niacin i.n. during the challenge phase of HDM treatment. Mice were euthanised 24 hours after the last challenge (on day 12). B) Eosinophils as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells and their expression of CD101 and CD98 were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with butyrate or niacin. C) Expression of IL-4, IL-13, IL-33, Ym-1, Relm- α and CCL11 was established in lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with butyrate or niacin. D) Eosinophils as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells and their expression of CD101 and QPCR. D) Eosinophils as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells and their expression of CD101 and CD98 were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with butyrate or niacin following RNA extraction and qPCR. D) Eosinophils as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells and their expression of CD101 and CD98 were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with the GSK developed GPR109a agonist. Data shown

are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 3-4 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with one-way ANOVA: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.





A) Neutrophils as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells and their expression of CD98 were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM+LPS alone or with the GSK developed GPR109a agonist. B) Expression of IL-4, IL-13, IL-33, Ym-1, Relm- α , CCL11, TNF- α , IFN- γ and IL-17A was established in lung of naive mice and mice treated with HDM+LPS alone or with the GSK developed GPR109a agonist following RNA extraction and qPCR. Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 3-4 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with one-way ANOVA: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.



Figure 3.17: Supplementary figure 7.

A) Gating strategy to identify eosinophils in human lung or blood. Cells were identified as follows: SSC-A versus FSC-A to remove cellular debris; FSC-H versus FSC-A for doublet exclusion; Zombie Live-Dead versus CD45 to identify live haematopoietic populations; lineage versus SSC-A to exclude contaminating populations (lineage defined as TCR β , CD56, CD14, CD20, CD117 and CD123 to exclude T cells, NK cells, monocytes, B cells, mast cells and basophils respectively); CD16 versus CD24 to exclude neutrophils and CD24⁻ cells; Siglec-8 versus CD11b to identify eosinophils. B) Expression of CD16 and CD66b was quantified by flow cytometry on Isolated human blood eosinophils. C) Cytospin of isolated human blood eosinophils for EPX (magenta) and counterstained with DAPI (blue) (scale bar 50 μ m). Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments.

CHAPTER 4 – PAPER 2

Lung-initiated Th2 inflammation is associated with development of intestinal type 2 responses

4.1 ABSTRACT

Recent studies have reported increased incidence of gut inflammation in patients with pulmonary diseases, supporting a bi-directional relationship between these distal organs. Nevertheless, the underlying mechanisms are still poorly understood. This study investigated the impact of acute allergen exposure in the lung on the frequency and phenotype of immune cells within the gut. We revealed that intranasal administration of house dust mite (HDM) led to development of Th2 responses not only in the lung but also in the small (SI) and large intestine (LI). In the SI, eosinophils dominated the inflammatory response, whereas Th2 T cells and ILC2s were the main immune populations in the LI. Importantly, this resulted in structural and biochemical changes in the LI microenvironment, as well as shifts in the composition of the gut microbiota. These findings broaden our current understanding of inter-organ communication and may play a role in the development of novel therapies for asthmatic patients.

4.2 INTRODUCTION

Patients affected by chronic inflammatory diseases of the airways, such as asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), often show concomitant chronic inflammation of the gut (Marsland et al., 2015).

Patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) but no history of chronic lung disease often display airway inflammation or impaired lung function (Wang et al., 2013; Luo et al., 2008). Conversely, many asthmatic patients show alterations in their gut similar to those in their bronchial mucosa, including cellular atrophy, fibrosis, leukocyte infiltration and elevated cytokine levels (Vieira and Pretorius, 2010). Communication between the gut and the lung has also been evidenced by animal models of allergic asthma or ulcerative colitis (UC), showing simultaneous inflammatory responses in the colon and mesenteric lymph nodes (Huffnagle, 2010; Jung et al., 2019) or lung respectively (Liu et al., 2013).

Recently, alterations in the composition of the gut microbiota have been associated with predisposition to the pathogenesis of asthma both in humans and murine models (Hufnagl et al., 2020). Microbial dysbiosis in the first months of life has especially been linked with increased risk of developing asthma (Wesemann and Nagler, 2016; Zhang et al., 2020). This is clearly shown in GF mice, which are more prone to generate inflammatory responses and display impaired induction of oral tolerance (Frati et al., 2019).

The gut and the lung are very similar organs, as they share the same embryonic origin, structure, as well as exposure to commensals and pathogens (Budden et al., 2017). This further supports the evidence for a bi-directional relationship between these two sites. Nevertheless, the underlying mechanisms are still poorly understood. Moreover, the causality between lung and gut inflammation is also not clear (Tulic et al., 2016). Further mechanistic insight into the pathways and mediators are therefore necessary to improve our understanding of the lung-gut axis and inform the development of novel therapies.

Using a mouse model of HDM-induced allergic lung inflammation we found that allergen inhalation triggered Th2 responses in the gut, that could be distinguished between the SI and LI. In the LI we detected increased proportions of T cells and ILC2s secreting Th2 cytokines, whereas eosinophils dominated the Th2 response in the SI. We showed that IL-33 inhalation did not induce intestinal Th2 responses, suggesting that they may be antigen dependent. Moreover, we showed that HDM did not directly trigger the generation of Th2 responses in the gut and provided evidence for T cells migrating from the lung to the gut by upregulating guthoming receptors. In addition, cell-mediated Th2 responses affected the whole intestinal environment by inducing changes in goblet cell structure, mucin glycosylation as well as increasing HIF-1α expression and levels of Th2 mediators, with IL-33 being significantly elevated in the LI compared to the SI. Cell-mediated Th2 responses were reduced in the absence of IL-33, suggesting that this mediator is important in regulating Th2 immunity in the LI. Importantly, HDM-treated mice also displayed alterations in the composition of the gut microbiota, with a decrease in the relative abundance of Bacteroidetes and an increase in *Firmicutes*, suggesting that microbiome-mediated metabolic shifts may result from ongoing Th2 responses in the lung. Together these data further support the existence of a lung-gut axis, in which Th2 responses at one mucosal site can prime for similar responses in distant mucosal sites, and this may inform about therapeutic development for asthmatic patients.

4.3 RESULTS

4.3.1 Allergen inhalation triggers Th2 responses in the gut

Inhalation of allergens, such as HDM, is widely known to cause allergic lung inflammation both in humans and animal models (Daan de Boer et al., 2013). The inflammation is characterised by Th2 responses involving airway infiltration of antigen-specific CD4⁺T cells, primed by antigen presenting cells (APCs) in lung-draining lymph nodes, and airway eosinophilia. This leads to elevated production of Th2 cytokines, such as IL-4, IL-13 and IL-5, mucus hypersecretion and airway remodelling (Gregory and Lloyd, 2011). Recently, allergic responses in the lung have been correlated with concomitant gut inflammation and pathogenesis of diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) i.e. ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD) (Liu et

al., 2013; Wang et al, 2013). Changes in the gut microbiota in early life have also been suggested to play a major role in predisposing the development of allergic lung disease (Frati et al., 2019). Nevertheless, the mechanisms underlying lung-gut cross communication are still poorly understood (Tulic et al., 2016).

To establish whether inhalation of HDM caused simultaneous inflammatory responses in the lung and gut, we exposed WT BALB/c mice to a 11-day sensitisation and challenge protocol using 100 µg and 10 µg of HDM respectively and, 24 hours after the last challenge, tissues were collected for histological and flow cytometry analysis (Fig. 4.1A). As mentioned previously, cellular infiltration and activation are characteristic pathological features of lung allergic asthma and are observed in both central and peripheral airways. Cellular infiltration is normally assessed using histological staining techniques, such as Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) (Hamid, 2003). To firstly verify whether changes in cellular infiltration occurred both in the lung and the gut after HDM administration, we performed H&E staining of paraffin-embedded lung and gut tissue sections. This showed increased cellular infiltrate not only in the lungs of HDMexposed mice compared to naïve controls, but also in their SI and LI (Fig. 4.1B). Considering that CD4⁺ T cells are the main mediators of Th2 inflammatory responses in the lung during allergic asthma, we aimed at understanding whether numbers of these cells were increased in the gut mucosa following administration of HDM. Immunofluorescence analysis showed increased numbers of CD4⁺ cells, most likely T cells, in the LI but not in the SI of HDM-treated mice compared to naïve controls (Fig. 4.1C). Flow cytometry analysis also showed that CD4⁺ T cells were increased in the LI as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells (Fig. 4.1D). Although the SI lamina propria (LP) did not show an increase in the number of CD4⁺ T cells, their percentage was increased in the Peyer's Patches (PPs) of HDM-treated mice compared to naïve controls (Fig. 4.1E). Interestingly, flow cytometry analysis also showed that the proportions of CD8⁺ T cells and ILC2s were increased in the LI of HDM-treated mice compared to naïve controls (Fig. 4.1D). Both CD4⁺ T cells and CD8⁺ T cells in the LI (gating strategy shown in Supplementary Fig. 1A) were activated and polarised towards a Th2 phenotype as shown by increased production of the Th2 cytokines IL-13, IL-4, IL-5 and IL-33 (Fig. 4.1F-G) and expression of the transcription factor GATA3 (Supplementary Fig. 1B). Nevertheless, both cell types also upregulated release the Th1 cytokine IFN-y (Fig 4.1F-G) and expression of the transcription factor T-bet (Supplementary Fig. 1B). CD4⁺ T cells in the PPs also showed increased release of Th2 and Th1 cytokines following HDM administration (Fig. 4.11). ILCs have been categorized into three groups based on their developmental pathways, being group 1 ILCs (ILC1s), group 2 ILCs (ILC2s) and group 3 ILCs (ILC3s) (Bal et al., 2020). Like Th2 cells, ILC2s depend on the transcription factor GATA3 for their development and regulation of *II5* and *II13* gene expression (Zhu, 2017). Like T cells, also ILC2s in the LI (gating strategy shown in Supplementary Fig. 1C)

displayed upregulated expression of Th2 cytokines in addition to GATA3 and Ki67, the latter being a marker used to indicate cellular proliferation (Li et al., 2017) (Fig. 4.1H).

These results indicate that allergen inhalation not only induces Th2 inflammatory responses in the lung but also in the gut, especially in the LI LP compared to the SI LP. Our data then suggest that these responses are mediated by activated T cells- and ILC2s-producing Th2 cytokines. These data further support the idea that inter-organ communication occurs between the lung and the gut and provide additional evidence for Th2 responses taking places at mucosal sites distal from the primary site of inflammation.



Figure 4.1: Th2 cells are increased and activated in the gut

A) Experimental timeline. 8-12 week old female BALB/c WT mice were sensitised on day 0 with 100 µg HDM and challenged on day 7-11 with 10 µg HDM. Control mice sensitised and challenged with PBS. Mice were euthanised 24 hours after the last challenge (on day 12). B) Cellular infiltration was determined with H&E-stained sections of the lung, SI and LI from naïve and HDM-treated mice (scale bar 100 µm and 10 µm). C) CD4⁺ T

cells were quantified by IF staining of CD4 on gut tissue from naïve and HDM-treated mice (scale bar 100 µm and 10 µm). D) T cells and ILC2s were quantified by flow cytometry in the LI of naïve and HDM-treated mice and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. E) CD4⁺ T cells were quantified by flow cytometry in the PPs of naïve and HDM-treated mice and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. E) CD4⁺ T cells were quantified by flow cytometry in the PPs of naïve and HDM-treated mice and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. F) The percentage of CD4⁺ T cells expressing IL-13, IL-5, IL-33 and IFN- γ was quantified by flow cytometry in the LI of naive and HDM-treated mice. G) The percentage of CD8⁺ T cells expressing IL-13, IL-5, IL-33 and IFN- γ was quantified by flow cytometry in the LI of naive and HDM-treated mice. H) The percentage of ILC2s expressing IL-13, IL-5, GATA3 and Ki67 was quantified by flow cytometry in the LI of naive and HDM-treated mice. I) The percentage of CD4⁺ T cells expressing IL-13, IL-5, and IFN- γ was quantified by flow cytometry in the PPs of naive and HDM-treated mice. Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 3-5 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test: *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001

4.3.2 Allergen inhalation increases eosinophils and their activation in the SI

Together with T cells, increased levels of activated eosinophils are a characteristic feature of the allergic response in the lung (Fahy, 2009). Therefore, we sought to determine whether eosinophils also played a role in the Th2 response generated in the gut. Immunofluorescence analysis of the gut showed increased numbers of eosinophils, identified by expression of the granule major basic protein (MBP), in the SI but not in the LI of HDM-treated mice compared to naïve controls (Fig. 4.2A). Flow cytometry analysis also showed increased proportions of eosinophils in the SI and PPs but not in the LI of HDM-treated mice compared to controls (Fig. 4.2A-B). Interestingly, eosinophils were not increased in the LP of the SI but in its intraepithelial (IE) compartment (Fig. 4.2B), where they displayed higher expression of CD11b, compared to LP eosinophils, even at steady-state (Fig. 4.2C). We have previously shown that inflammatory eosinophils, or (i)EOS in the lung, upregulate expression of CD101 and CD98 following HDM administration (see Paper 1). Therefore, we looked to see whether eosinophils in the gut expressed such molecules and whether their expression was modulated by HDM treatment. Both eosinophils from the LP and IE compartment of the SI expressed CD101 and CD98 at steady-state, but only IE eosinophils upregulated both molecules following HDM treatment (Fig. 4.2D). Similar to LP eosinophils, eosinophils from the LI expressed CD101 and CD98 at steadystate but their expression was unaltered by HDM (data not shown). Interestingly we also noted a marked increase in IL-4⁺ eosinophils in the PPs of HDM-treated mice compared to controls (Fig. 4.2E), suggesting that these cells may be a major source of this Th2 cytokine in the SI following allergen inhalation.

These data suggest that eosinophil-mediated Th2 responses are predominant in the SI compared to the LI, where we saw that T cells are the main immune populations. Moreover, we showed that eosinophil heterogeneity is not only present in the lung during inflammation, but that different populations of eosinophils may exist in the SI where their phenotype and function can be modulated by inhalation of HDM.



Figure 4.2: Eosinophils are increased and activated in the SI and PPs

A) Eosinophils were quantified (count per crypt over 20 crypts) by IF staining of major basic protein (MBP) on gut tissue from naïve and HDM-treated mice (scale bar 100 μ m). B) Eosinophils were quantified by flow

cytometry in the SI and PPs of naïve and HDM-treated mice and expressed as a percentage of CD45⁺ cells. C) Expression of CD11b was quantified by flow cytometry on eosinophils from the IE and LP of the SI of naïve and HDM-treated mice and expressed as MFI. D) The percentage of eosinophils expressing CD101 and CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the IE and LP of the SI of naïve and HDM-treated mice. E) The percentage of eosinophils expressing IL-4 was quantified by flow cytometry in the PPs of naïve and HDM-treated mice. Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 3-4 per experiment. Error bars show \pm SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001

4.3.3 Th2 responses in the gut are indirectly induced by HDM

Since intranasal administration may lead to inadvertent delivery of allergen to the GI tract, we aimed to understand whether Th2 responses in the gut were either directly or indirectly caused by intranasal exposure to HDM. To this end, we firstly administered HDM intratracheally, which, compared to intranasal administration, involves direct delivery of the antigen to the airways, as we showed following administration of Evan's blue (Supplementary Fig. 3A). Similar to intranasal administration, intratracheal administration of HDM induced a Th2 response in the gut, demonstrated by increased frequencies of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and their production of Th2 cytokines both in the LI and PPs (Fig. 4.3A-E). To provide further evidence that HDM does not directly trigger an inflammatory response in the gut, we labelled the antigen with AF647 Antibody Labelling Kit (Invitrogen) and delivered it intranasally or by oral gavage to establish whether APCs underwent antigen uptake in the lung, mediastinal (MED) lymph nodes (LNs), mesenteric (MES) LNs or SI. Flow cytometry analysis showed that ~40% and ~20% of DCs in the lung and MED LNs respectively were positive for HDM when delivered intranasally, indicating that these cells performed antigen uptake (Fig. 4.3F-G). Conversely, DCs in the SI and MES LNs did not show HDM uptake when delivered intranasally (Fig. 4.3F-G). Likewise, when HDM was orally administered, DCs did not uptake the antigen neither in the gut nor in the lung (Fig. 4.3F-G). These results were matched by histological analysis of lung and SI tissue, showing that when HDM was delivered intranasally and not orally, only cells in the lung but not in the SI were labelled (Fig. 4.3I). These data suggest that HDM does not reach the gut mucosa when either intranasally or orally administered and, consequently, APCs like DCs do not perform antigen uptake. Flow cytometry analysis also revealed that cells other than DCs, including AMs, eosinophils and B cells had the ability to uptake HDM in the lung (Fig. 4.3H), suggesting the possibility of them acting as APCs or directly responding to antigen challenge.

These results therefore imply that Th2 responses found in the gut are not the result of direct contact with HDM but may be induced indirectly.



Magenta: HDN Blue: DAPI

Figure 4.3: Th2 responses in the gut are indirectly induced by allergen inhalation

A) T cells were quantified by flow cytometry in the LI of naive and HDM i.t.-treated mice and expressed as percentage of CD45⁺ cells. B-C) The percentage of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells expressing IL-13, IL-4, IL-5, IL-33 and IFN-γ was quantified by flow cytometry in the LI of naive and HDM i.t.-treated mice. D) T cells were quantified by flow cytometry in the PPs of naive and HDM i.t.-treated mice and expressed as percentage of CD45⁺ cells. E) The percentage of CD4⁺ T cells expressing IL-13, IL-4, IL-5, IL-33 and IFN-γ was quantified by flow cytometry in the PPs of naive and HDM i.t.-treated mice and expressed as percentage of CD45⁺ cells. E) The percentage of CD4⁺ T cells expressing IL-13, IL-4, IL-5, IL-33 and IFN-γ was quantified by flow cytometry in the PPs of naive and HDM i.t.-treated mice. F-G) The percentage of HDM⁺ DCs (CD11c⁺major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-II⁺) was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung, MED LNs, MES LNs and SI of mice treated with PBS or HDM either administered intranasally or orally. H) The percentage of HDM⁺ cells was quantified by flow cytometry in the lung of mice treated with PBS or HDM either administered intranasally coreally.

or orally. I) Representative staining of lung and SI tissue for HDM⁺ cells (magenta) and counterstained with DAPI (blue) (scale bar 100 μ m). Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 3-4 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with one-way ANOVA: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001

4.3.4 Intranasal administration of IL-33 does not induce Th2 responses in the gut

Following allergen inhalation, DCs uptake antigens in the airways and subsequently colocalise with naïve CD4⁺ T cells in lung-draining LNs. There, DCs present antigens to T-cells via MHC-II and, via expression of co-stimulatory molecules, lead to T cell activation and differentiation into antigen-specific Th2 cells (Grinnan et al., 2006). Having established that HDM does not enter the GI tract after intranasal or intratracheal administration, we explored whether antigen non-specific activation could account for the Th2 responses we detected in the gut. To this end, instead of HDM we intranasally administered the cytokine IL-33, which is known to trigger allergic asthma in mice (Kurowska-Stolarska et al., 2009; Chan et al., 2019). Increased levels of activated eosinophils are a characteristic feature of the allergic response in the lung (Fahy, 2009), and we showed that inhalation of IL-33 triggered the same features as HDM in the lung, namely eosinophilia, generation of (i)EOS and their upregulation of CD101 and CD98 (Fig. 4.4A-B and see Paper 1). However, flow cytometry analysis of the LI showed that IL-33 inhalation neither resulted in increased frequencies of CD4⁺ T cells or ILC2s (Fig. 4.4C) nor in their activation (Fig. 4.4D-E) compared to administration of HDM.

Taken together, these data suggest that antigen delivery, and subsequent generation of antigen specific T cells, may be necessary for the generation of Th2 responses in the gut mucosa, which were not generated following cytokine-induced allergic lung inflammation.



Figure 4.4: IL-33 i.n. does not induce gut inflammation

A) Eosinophils were quantified by flow cytometry in the lungs of naive and IL-33-treated mice and expressed as percentage of CD45⁺ cells. B) The percentage of (i)EOS positive for CD101 and CD98 was quantified by flow cytometry in the lungs of of naive and IL-33-treated mice. C) CD4⁺ T cells and ILC2s were quantified by flow cytometry in the LI of naive and IL-33-treated mice and expressed as percentage of CD45⁺ cells. D) The percentage of CD4⁺ T cells expressing IL-13, IL-5, IL-33 and IFN- γ was quantified by flow cytometry in the LI of naive and IL-33-treated mice. Data shown are from one experiment. n = 3-5. Error

bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001

4.3.5 T cells in the lung, blood and MED LNs upregulate gut-homing receptors

In addition to their role as initiators of the adaptive immune response, there is evidence that lung DCs can induce expression of gut-homing receptors on antigen-specific T cells allowing their migration from the lung to the gut following intranasal immunisation (Ruane et al., 2013; Jung et al., 2019). Integrin α 4 β 7 (or LPAM-1) and CCR9 have been identified as SI-homing receptors (Berlin et al., 1995, Zabel et al., 1999), whereas more recent studies identified GPR15, GPR55 and GPR18 to be involved in cell migration within or to the LI (Sumida et al., 2018, Wang et al., 2014, Kim et al., 2013). We therefore hypothesised that circulating T cells could migrate from the lung to the gut and be involved in the generation of a Th2 response following HDM administration. To verify our hypothesis, HDM-treated mice or naïve controls received intraperitoneal administration of FTY720, which is an inhibitor of lymphocyte egress from LNs, and frequencies of T cells from the lung, MED LNs, blood and MES LNs were determined. Expression of the SI-homing receptors $\alpha 4\beta 7$ and CCR9, as well as the LI-homing receptors GPR15, GPR55 and GPR18 was also investigated. Our results showed that HDM treatment increased the frequencies of CD4⁺ (Fig. 4.5A) and CD8⁺ (data not shown) T cells in the MED LNs compared to naïve controls, whereas it decreased their frequencies in the MES LNs (Fig. 4.5A). As expected, treatment with FTY720 markedly decreased frequencies of CD4⁺ (Fig. 4.5A) and CD8⁺ (data not shown) T cells in the lung and circulation of HDM-treated mice but increased their frequencies in the MES LNs (Fig. 4.5A). HDM treatment decreased the frequencies of CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells in the MED and MES LNs, which was reversed by FTY720 (Fig. 4.5B). Our results also showed that HDM treatment decreased expression of SI- and LI-homing receptors on CD4⁺ and double positive T cells from the lung, blood and MED LNs compared to naïve controls but increased their expression on CD4⁺ and double positive T cells from the MES LNs (Fig. 4.5C-E). Treatment with FTY720 increased expression of SI- and to a greater extent LIhoming receptor on CD4⁺ (Fig 4.5C-D) and CD8⁺ (data not shown) T-cells from the lungs, MED LNs and blood. Upregulated expression of CCR9, GPR18 and $\alpha 4\beta 7$ was detected on lung T cells, whereas T cells in the MED LNs upregulated expression of CCR9, GPR18 and GPR55 (Fig. 4.5C); T cells in the blood also showed upregulation of GPR18, $\alpha 4\beta 7$ and GPR55, in addition to GPR15 (Fig. 4.5D). Conversely, expression of CCR9, GPR18 and GPR55 on CD4⁺ T-cells from the MES LNs was downregulated following treatment with FTY720 (Fig. 4.5D). CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells displayed the highest expression of CCR9 in all tissues (data not shown) and this was significantly upregulated by FTY720 in the MED LNs (Fig. 4.5E). HDM induced expression of CCR9, GPR55 and GPR18 on CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells in the MES LNs, but again their expression was reduced by FTY720 (Fig. 4.5E).

These results suggest that following HDM administration T cells acquire expression of gut homing receptors in the lung, blood and MED LNs, which may license their migration to the gut. High expression of CCR9 on CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells compared to single positive T cells may also suggest that double positive T cells preferentially migrate to the SI. Moreover, upregulation of gut-homing receptors was not uniformly induced on T cells but may be regulated in a receptor-and tissue-specific manner.





A-B) T cells were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung, MED LNs, blood and MES LNs of naïve mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with HDM+FTY720 and expressed as percentage of CD45⁺ cells. C-D) The percentage of CD4⁺ T cells expressing CCR9, GPR55, LPAM-1, GPR15 and GPR18 were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung, MED LNs, blood and MES LNs of naïve mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with HDM+FTY720. E) The percentage of CD4⁺ T cells expressing CCR9⁺ T cells expressing CCR9, GPR55, LPAM-1, GPR15 and GPR18 were quantified by flow cytometry in the lung, MED LNs, blood and MES LNs of naïve mice and mice treated with HDM alone or with HDM+FTY720. E) The percentage of CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells expressing CCR9, GPR55, LPAM-1, GPR15 and GPR18 were quantified by flow cytometry in the MED and MES LNs of naïve mice and mice treated with HDM

alone or with HDM+FTY720. Data shown are from one experiment. n = 3-4. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

4.3.6 HDM-induced Th2 responses in the gut affect the whole intestinal environment

After having investigated the cell-specific nature of the Th2 inflammation being generated in the gut following inhalation of HDM, we wanted to understand whether these responses were associated with development of downstream type 2 effector molecules. To answer this question, we analysed the cytokine milieu of the whole SI and LI and compared this to the lung. The results showed that mRNA expression of cytokines known to be associated with Th2 responses, such as IL-4, IL-13, as well as Relm- α and Ym-1 (Sutherland et al., 2018), were not only upregulated in the lung following HDM administration but also in the SI and to a lesser extent in the LI (Fig. 4.6A). In contrast, mRNA expression of IL-33 was higher in the LI compared to the SI (Fig. 4.6A). mRNA expression of the chemokine CCL11 which is involved with eosinophil recruitment (Broide and Sriramarao, 2001), was also upregulated in the SI but not in the LI (Fig. 4.6A). Analysis of secreted cytokines in the supernatant of lysed tissues confirmed the presence of type 2 associated factors in the gut, evidenced by high levels of IL-4, IL-13, Relm-α, Ym-1 and IL-33. Of note, IL-4, Relm-α and Ym-1 were predominant in the SI, whereas IL-13 and IL-33 were highest in the LI (Fig. 4.6B). Immunofluorescence staining of the lung revealed that HDM induced Ym-1 (red) production by cellular infiltrates scattered throughout the alveoli, whereas Relm- α (green) was mainly released by epithelial cells around the bronchi (Fig. 4.6C). HDM also induced expression of Relm- α and Ym-1 in the SI and LI compared to controls (Fig. 4.6C). However, in contrast to the lung, these molecules were co-expressed by the same cells in the gut (Fig. 4.6C). Neither CD4⁺ T cells nor eosinophils stained for Relm- α or Ym-1 (data not shown), suggesting that additional cell types contribute to the Th2 response in the gut.

IL-33 is known to play a major role in the activation of ILC2s (Moro et al., 2010) and Th2 cells (Schmitz et al., 2005). Since we detected higher expression of IL-33 mRNA and protein in the LI compared to the SI of HDM-treated mice, we investigated the role of this cytokine in the activation of T cells and ILC2s by using *II-33–LacZ* gene trap (Gt) reporter strain (II-33^{Gt/Gt}), which lack endogenous IL-33 (Pichery et al., 2012). The results showed that the HDM-induced increase in the proportions of T cells or ILC2s that we detected in comparison to naïve mice (Fig. 1C-D) was reduced in the LI in the absence of IL-33 (Fig. 4.6D). IL-33 deficiency also decreased HDM-induced activation of both CD4⁺ T cells and ILC2s compared to controls (Fig. 4.6E-F).

These results suggest that Th2 responses in the gut may lead to polarision of the whole intestinal environment by increasing the expression and levels of Th2 cytokines. Moreover, IL-33 may be

involved in the generation of such responses and may have a role in lymphocyte recruitment and activation in the LI.



Figure 4.6: Effects of Th2 inflammation on the gut environment

A) Expression of IL-4, IL-13, Ym-1 Relm- α , IL-33 and CCL11 was established in lung, SI and LI of naive and HDM-treated mice following RNA extraction and qPCR. B) Levels of IL-4, IL-13, Ym-1 Relm- α and IL-33 were determined by ELISA in the supernatant of lysed lung, SI and LI tissue of naïve and HDM-treated mice. C)

Representative staining of lung, SI and LI tissue for Ym-1 (red), Relm- α (green) and counterstained with DAPI (blue) (scale bar 100 µm and 50 µm). D) T cells and ILC2s were quantified by flow cytometry in the LI of HDM-treated II-33^{Gt/Gt} and II-33^{+/Gt} mice and expressed as percentage of CD45⁺ cells. E) The percentage of CD4⁺ T cells expressing IL-13, IL-5, IL-33 and IFN- γ was quantified by flow cytometry in the LI of HDM-treated II-33^{Gt/Gt} mice. F) The percentage of ILC2s expressing IL-13, IL-5, Gata3 and Ki67 was quantified by flow cytometry in the LI of HDM-treated II-33^{Gt/Gt} and II-33^{+/Gt} mice. F) The percentage of ILC2s expressing IL-13, IL-5, Gata3 and Ki67 was quantified by flow cytometry in the LI of HDM-treated II-33^{Gt/Gt} and II-33^{+/Gt} mice. Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 3-4 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

4.3.7 HDM-induced structural changes in the LI may be correlated with alterations in the composition of the gut microbiota

Goblet cell hyperplasia is another characteristic pathological feature of lung allergic asthma and is mainly induced by high levels of IL-13 (Junttila, 2018). Since we established that Th2 cytokines significantly increased in the gut following HDM administration, with IL-13 particularly in the LI, we evaluated whether changes in goblet cells were also present. To do so, lung and gut sections were stained with PAS-Alcian blue, which showed goblet cells being more filled and intensely stained in the lung. This was also identified in the gut but it was predominant in the LI compared to the SI (Fig. 4.7A).

Together with IL-13, HIF-1 α signalling has also been found to promote goblet cell hyperplasia (Polosukhin et al., 2011). Therefore, we also assessed cellular expression of HIF-1 α by immunofluorescence staining. Our results showed an increase in the number of cells expressing HIF-1 α (Fig. 4.7B), suggesting that its signalling might contribute to the changes seen in goblet cells.

Alterations in goblet cell structure have been correlated with changes in mucin glycosylation (Kim and Khan, 2013), therefore we investigated whether this was also present in our model. To this end, we performed dual immunofluorescence labelling for Muc2 (green), the major component of the intestinal mucus (Birchenough et al., 2015), and lectins (red), as specific molecular probes to detect mucin carbohydrates (Kawano et al., 1984). The most striking differences were observed in the expression of soybean agglutinin (SBA), which recognises α -D-N-acetyl-galactosamine (GalNAc) and α and β galactose (Gal) (Rao et al., 1998), and peanut agglutinin (PNA), which recognises D-Gal(1-3)GalNAc (Natchiar et al., 2007). Increased binding of these lectins was detected in the LI of mice exposed to HDM compared to controls (Fig. 4.7C), suggesting that changes in goblet cell structure are accompanied by alterations in their glycosylation pattern.

Defective goblet cell activity and structure have not only been correlated with inflammation but also with dysbiosis of the gut microbiome (Corfield, 2018). We therefore investigated whether the alterations in goblet cells we identified were associated with changes in the composition of the gut microbiome. To this end, we determined the abundance of the phyla *Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, Verrucomicrobia* and *Proteobacteria,* and the species *Segmented filamentous bacterium* (*SFB*), *Lactobacillae, F. prausnitzii* (*Firmicutes*), *Helicobacter* (*Proteobacteria*), *Veillonella* and *Prevotella* (*Bacteroidetes*) relative to 16S by qPCR from the faeces of control and HDM-treated mice. The results showed decreased abundance of *Bacteroidetes, Veillonella* and *β Proteobacteria,* and unaltered *Lactobacillae* in HDM-treated mice, whereas all the other phyla and species analysed showed a trend towards an increase (Fig. 4.7D).

Together, these data suggest that exposure to HDM not only induces cell-specific changes in phenotype and function, but affects the overall gut environment, including mucus production and mucin glycosylation, that may potentially cause subsequent alterations in the composition of the microbiome.



Figure 4.7: HDM inhalation induces changes in goblet cells and microbial dysbiosis in the gut

A) Goblet cells were quantified (count per crypt over 20 crypts) using PAS and Alcian-blue stained sections of lung, SI and LI from naive and HDM-treated mice (scale bar 100 µm). B) HIF-1 α expressing cells were quantified (count per crypt over 20 crypts) by IF staining of HIF-1 α on on sections of LI from naive and HDM-treated mice (scale bar 100 µm). C) Goblet cells and lectin⁺ goblet cells were quantified by IF staining of Muc2, SBA or PNA on sections of LI from naive and HDM-treated mice (scale bar 100 µm). D) The relative abundance of *Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, Verrucomicrobia, SFB, Helicobacter, Veillonella, Lactobacillae, F. prausnitzii, β Proteobacteria, γδ Proteobacteria* and *Prevotella* was quantified by qPCR following DNA extraction from faeces of naïve and HDM-treated mice. Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 3-4 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

4.4 DISCUSSION

Our results show that allergen inhalation not only triggered type 2 immune responses in the lung but it also induced the generation of such responses in the gut mucosa. Th2 responses in the gut were associated with activated T cells and ILC2s in the LI and eosinophils in the SI. Cytokine-induced lung allergy did not induce type 2 immune responses in the gut, suggesting that these inflammatory responses may be antigen dependent. We showed that T cells may mediate such responses by migrating from the lung to the gut as they upregulated expression of gut homing-receptors in the lung, circulation and MED LNs. HDM-induced inflammatory responses affected the whole gut microenvironment, which was characterised by increased expression and levels of Th2 cytokines, increased numbers of cells expressing HIF-1 α , changes in mucus production and mucin glycosylation, as well as alterations in the composition of the commensal microbiota.

Several studies suggest the existence of a lung-gut axis, in which these tissues can communicate during the development of inflammatory disease originating from either organ (Bienenstock et al., 1978; Camus, et al., 1993; Tulic et al., 2016; Keely et al., 2012; West et al., 2015). Although many explanations for this cross-communication have been proposed, no definitive conclusions have been drawn yet. Moreover, whether the inflammatory process shifts from the gut to the airways or vice versa is still not known (Wang et al., 2013). Our results firstly support the idea that tissue cross-communication occurs during inflammatory responses, since inhalation of HDM triggered Th2 inflammation in both the lung and the gut. Inflammatory responses in the LI involved increased proportions of activated T cells and ILC2s secreting Th2 cytokines in the LI. IL-4, IL-13 and IL-5 are the central cytokines involved in orchestrating Th2 responses mainly by targeting Th2 cells and ILC2s (Paul and Zhu, 2010; Löhning et al., 1998; Hodzic et al., 2017; Wynn, 2015).

Enhanced release of the Th1 cytokine IFN- γ by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in the LI was also detected in our experiments. The role of IFN- γ release during Th2 responses is controversial,

as it has been shown to either promote homeostasis or contribute to the inflammatory responses both in the lung (Huang et al., 2001; Randolph et al., 1999; Nakagome et al., 2009; Hansen et al., 1999) and in the gut (Brasseit et al., 2018; Eriguchi et al., 2018; Ost et al., 2017; Farin et al., 2014). Interestingly, our data show that CD8⁺ T cells also predominantly secreted Th2 cytokines and a smaller amount of IFN- γ . This agrees with other studies showing that in the presence of IL-4, CD8⁺ T cells may convert into Th2 cytokine producing cells, which have been identified in Th2-driven diseases (Erard et al., 1993; Coyle et al., 1995; Jia et al., 2013; Seneviratne et al., 2007). These data therefore suggest that T cells and ILC2s were involved in the generation of inflammatory responses in the LI by secreting high levels of Th2 cytokines, whereas release of IFN- γ may either promote the ongoing inflammatory response or be associated with balancing Th2 responses to avoid extensive tissue damage.

Together with T cells, eosinophils are also important mediators of Th2 responses (Spencer and Weller, 2010). Although we did not detect changes in eosinophils in the LI, our results showed an increase in eosinophil numbers and proportions in the SI of HDM-treated mice compared to controls. Similar to Olbrich et al. (2020) and Xenakis et al. (2018), we also noticed that eosinophils isolated from the IE compartment of the SI expressed higher levels of CD11b compared to eosinophils from the LP. Upregulation of CD11b and CD11c on eosinophils has been associated with inflammation, cellular activation and trans-epithelial migration (Mesnil et al., 2016, Abdala Valencia et al., 2016), thereby suggesting that IE eosinophils display a more activated phenotype compared to LP eosinophils already at steady-state. Our analysis also showed that IE eosinophils but not LP eosinophils upregulated expression of CD101 and CD98 in HDM-treated mice compared to controls. We have previously demonstrated that inflammatory eosinophils in the airways of allergic mice upregulate such molecules (see Paper 1), suggesting that IE eosinophils are more prone to activation than their LP counterparts. Like CD4⁺ T cells, eosinophils are also a major source of IL-4 (Bjerke et al., 1996) and our analysis highlighted the presence of IL-4⁺ eosinophils in the PPs of allergic mice, suggesting that, together with IE eosinophils, they could mediate a Th2 response in the SI. These data firstly support the idea that eosinophils are plastic cells able to adapt and change their phenotype depending on the inflammatory response and tissue milieu they are localised in. Secondly, these results suggest that HDM-induced Th2 responses can be distinguished between the LI and SI: T cells and ILC2s may be the main mediators in the LI, whereas eosinophils in the SI.

To investigate the mechanisms underlying communication between the lung and the gut following allergen inhalation, we firstly demonstrated that HDM when intratracheally, intranasally or orally administered did not reach the gut or MES LNs. Unlike intranasal administration, which may lead to inadvertent delivery of the allergen to the GI tract, we confirmed that intratracheal instillations were restricted to the airways. We then showed that intratracheal delivery of HDM

still induced Th2 responses in the gut, shown by increased frequencies of T cells and enhanced cytokine release. Although HDM labelling and fluorescence analysis might not be sensitive enough to detect small amounts of antigen, we also showed that uptake of labelled HDM by APCs only occurred in the lung and MED LNs following intranasal delivery of HDM, suggesting that Th2 responses in the gut are generated via indirect mechanisms. Although we cannot completely rule out that some of the antigen may reach the GI tract, other studies have shown that intranasal or oral administration of substances is confined to the airways or stomach respectively (Olbrich et al., 2020; Lundholm et al., 1999; Trolle et al., 2000).

Previous studies suggest that inflammatory responses in the gut following intranasal immunisation are caused by lung-derived antigen-specific T cells migrating to the gut (Ruane et al., 2013; Jung et al., 2019). Accordingly, our results showed that, in contrast to antigen-driven inflammation induced by HDM, cytokine-driven Th2 responses induced by IL-33 were restricted to the airways and did not occur in the gut mucosa, suggesting that Th2 responses taking place in the gut may be antigen dependent.

To provide further evidence, we performed experiments to block the egress of T cells from LNs using FTY720. This resulted in a drop in the frequency of T cells in the lung and blood but accumulation of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in the MES LNs and CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells in the MED LNs, confirming that expansion of T cells occurred at lymphoid sites. More importantly, we observed that FTY720 induced upregulation of LI-, and to a lesser extent, SI-homing receptors on both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, whereas CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells highly expressed and upregulated the SI-homing receptor CCR9 in the lung, circulation and MED LNs. By contrast, expression of these receptors was significantly reduced in the MES LNs, suggesting that circulating T cells may migrate to the gut via upregulation of gut-homing receptors and be involved in the generation of Th2 responses in the LI.

Importantly, we not only identified cell-specific changes in the gut, but the Th2 response generated following inhalation of HDM had profound effects on the whole intestinal environment. This was shown by elevated mRNA expression and levels of Th2 cytokines, namely IL-4, IL-13, IL-5, IL-33, Relm- α and Ym-1, with IL-13 and IL-33 being predominantly increased in the LI compared to the SI. IL-4 and IL-13 signal through the IL-4 receptor α -chain (IL-4R α) inducing phosphorylation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 6 (STAT6) (Minton, 2008). The receptor formed by IL-4/IL-4R α with γ c is a type I IL-4 receptor and the IL-4/IL-4R α complex binding IL-13R α 1 is a type II IL-4 receptor (Nelms et al., 1999). In fact, based on the tissue distribution and cellular expression of type I and II IL-4R, IL-4 and IL-13 exert different functions. IL-4 mainly regulates lymphocyte functions, such as Th2 differentiation and B-cell IgG1 and IgE class switch from IgM, whereas IL-13 acts as effector cytokine inducing smooth muscle

contraction, goblet cell hyperplasia and increased mucus production (Junttila, 2018). Goblet cell hyperplasia, thus hypersecretion of stored mucins, leads to goblet cell depletion, resulting in defective mucin synthesis and barrier functions (Kim and Ho, 2010). Our results showed marked goblet cell hyperplasia in the LI and to a lesser extent in the SI, which could be attributed to the presence of higher levels of IL-13 in the LI (Kondo et al., 2006; Zhu et al., 1999; Finkelman et al., 2004). Together with IL-13, HIF-1 α signalling has also been found to promote goblet cell hyperplasia (Polosukhin et al., 2011). HIF-1 α is activated and stabilised in hypoxic conditions, and, although the gut normally is under a relative level of hypoxia, inflammation is frequently characterised by reductions in tissue oxygen levels (Bartels et al., 2013). Our results showed an increase in the number of cells expressing HIF-1 α in the LI of HDM-treated mice compared to controls, suggesting it being a consequence of the ongoing inflammatory responses and a potential contributor to the changes seen in goblet cells.

Following allergen exposure, IL-33 is produced at high levels by epithelial and endothelial cells in the lung (Hammad et al., 2009) and has been shown to exacerbate antigen-induced asthma (Sjöberg et al., 2017). Gut inflammatory responses also involve increased production of IL-33 by endothelial cells (Sedhom et al., 2013), which has been shown to worsen inflammation, promote fibrosis (Pastorelli et al., 2011; Lopetuso et al., 2012) and induce goblet cell hyperplasia through IL-13 production by ILC2s (Waddell et al., 2019). Although non-haematopoietic cells are the main producers of IL-33, there is evidence that myeloid cells, such as AMs and mast cells, can also secrete this cytokine (Chang et al., 2011; Shimokawa et al., 2017). Our data firstly confirmed that allergen exposure in the lung is associated with upregulation of IL-33 and that levels of the cytokine were also highly upregulated in the LI but not in the SI, suggesting that IL-33 may be particularly important in regulating Th2 responses in this region of the gut. With the use of IL-33 deficient mice, we further showed that IL-33 may be one of the key factors involved in initiating Th2 responses in the LI, as absence of the cytokine significantly reduced HDM-induced Th2 cell and ILC2 activation. Interestingly, our data also indicate that T cells and eosinophils released IL-33, which has not been reported before. This suggests that these cells may contribute to secretion of IL-33 to maintain the ongoing inflammatory response in the gut. Nevertheless, further work will be required to confirm this.

Our results also showed that HDM induced upregulation of the chemokine CCL11 in the lung and SI but not in the LI. CCL11 specifically recruits eosinophils to tissues by binding to CCR3 expressed on their surface (Klion, 2017), therefore suggesting that eosinophils are recruited to the lung and SI following HDM exposure but not to the LI. This is in agreement with our data showing that numbers of eosinophils and their activation are increased in the SI but not in the LI of HDM-treated mice. Relm- α and Ym-1 are effector molecules known to be abundantly released during Th2 inflammatory responses (Sutherland et al., 2018). Upregulation of such molecules occurs following binding of IL-4/IL-13 to IL-4R α in several cell types, including eosinophils, macrophages and epithelial cells (Holcomb et al., 2000; Raes et al., 2002; Nair et al., 2009). The functions of Relm- α and Ym-1 are still not completely understood, as there is evidence for these molecules inducing both pro- and anti-inflammatory effects (Munitz et al., 2008 and 2012; Nair et al., 2009; Sutherland et al., 2014). Although we did not investigate the specific functions of Relm- α and Ym-1 in our study, we confirmed that these molecules are highly expressed and produced during Th2 responses in both the lung and the gut. Interestingly, cellular expression of Relm- α and Ym-1 differed between the two tissues. In the lung, cells localised throughout the alveoli solely expressed Ym1 and these cells have been identified to be AMs or neutrophils (Sutherland et al., 2018). On the other hand, Relm- α was only expressed by epithelial cells surrounding the bronchi. In the gut, Relm- α and Ym-1 were co-expressed by the same cell type, suggesting that expression of such molecules is regulated in a tissue- and cell-dependent manner.

Importantly, we not only identified goblet cell hyperplasia in the LI of HDM-treated mice, but changes in mucin glycosylation and composition of the commensal microbiome were also highlighted in this study and these are characteristic features of several inflammatory diseases, such as IBD, cancer, asthma and obesity (Arrieta et al., 2015; Fujimura et al., 2016; Wesemann and Nagler, 2016; Zhang et al., 2020; Morampudi et al., 2016; Kim and Ho, 2010).

The protein backbone of mucins contains tandem repeat units of varying length consisting of the amino acids proline, serine, and threonine, which create sites for O-glycosylation by O-linked oligosaccharides. The majority of these O-linked oligosaccharides are composed of N-acetyl galactosamine (GalNAc), N-acetyl glucosamine (GlcNAc), galactose (Gal), fucose (Fuc), and are often terminated by sialic acids (Grondin et al, 2020). The formation of these oligosaccharide chains is governed by several glycosyltransferases, each of which is specific for every link of the chain (Shirazi et al., 2000; Argüeso et al., 2003). Lectin histochemistry has been used in the evaluation of glycoprotein expression and changes in glycoproteins have been suggested to be responsible where the patterns of lectin binding were modified (Fiorentino et al., 2018). We detected increased binding of the lectin SBA and PNA on the goblet cells of HDM-treated mice compared to controls. Binding of SBA and PNA, that recognise GalNAc residues, therefore indicates an increase in these terminals on the mucin oligosaccharide chains and alterations in the activity of glycotransferases may therefore be responsible for this. Non-enzymatic mechanisms might also contribute to altered glycosylation; intestinal inflammation causes oxidative stress, which has been shown to induce degradation of glycans or glycoconjugates (Song et al., 2016).

The mucus layer in the gut has the important role of keeping commensals and luminal contents away from the apical mucosal cell surface. Moreover, it represents an essential source of nutrients, together with undigested dietary carbohydrates, for the intestinal microbiota. In turn the bacteria reciprocally modulate mucin synthesis and secretion, as well as epithelial cell functions. Disruption in these balanced interactions may therefore result in a defective mucus barrier, inflammation or injury of the intestinal mucosa. Together with goblet cell hyperplasia, changes in the carbohydrate content of mucins has also been correlated with a defective mucus barrier as well as with microbial dysbiosis, by altering the expression of binding sites of specific bacteria and the availability of nutrients. Cleavage of glycans found on Muc2 by enzymes expressed by several bacterial species is in fact an essential mechanism for their nourishment (Allaire et al., 2018; Alemao et al., 2020). The most abundant phyla found in the gut microbiota are the Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes, with fewer Proteobacteria, Verrucomicrobia, and Actinobacteria. As mentioned above, together with changes in goblet cells, dysbiosis of the gut microbiome has been identified in several inflammatory diseases. Despite some inconsistencies among studies, patients with IBD show a trend towards depletion of Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes with concomitant increases in Proteobacteria and Actinobacteria (Kim and Ho, 2010; Pozuelo et al., 2015). Asthmatic patients have also been reported to show decreased Bacteroidetes but increased Firmicutes (Martinez and Guerra, 2018). Other studies have also shown that microbial dysbiosis occurring in infancy increases the likelihood to develop asthma in adulthood, involving significant decreases in the species of Lachnospira, Veillonella, Faecalibacterium, Rothia and Akkermansia as well as reduced levels of the short chain fatty acid (SCFA) acetate (Arrieta et al., 2015; Arrieta et al., 2018; Barcik et al., 2020). In obese mice and humans, a diminished population of *Bacteroidetes* with a higher proportion of *Firmicutes* have also been observed (Xu et al., 2020). This is in agreement with other studies demonstrating that consumption of a diet high in fat and low in fibres results in increased Firmicutes and decreased Bacteroidetes (Wang and Jia, 2016; Schroeder et al., 2018). In contrast, high-fibre intake and consequent increased SCFA production are beneficial for mucosal health. SCFAs are the result of undigestible carbohydrates being fermented by several commensal species, and the most abundant SCFAs in the gut are butyrate, acetate and propionate. Butyrate is produced mainly by Firmicutes, whereas acetate and propionate by Bacteroidetes (Macfarlane, 2003).

Our results showed an increase in the relative abundance of *Firmicutes* and a decrease in *Bacteroidetes* in the faeces of HDM-treated mice compared to controls, therefore suggesting that butyrate-producing bacteria could be dominant. Although all SCFAs have been shown to provide anti-inflammatory effects via receptor binding or inhibition of histone deacetylase (HDAC) activity, they differ in their function and tissue distribution, with butyrate being used preferentially as an energy source by colonocytes, propionate contributing to gluconeogenesis

in the liver and acetate achieving the highest systemic concentrations in blood (Morrison and Preston, 2016). Not only changes in nutrient supply but also alterations in the pH and oxygen availability in the gut environment play a role in shaping the gut microbiota (Walker et al., 2015). Decreased luminal pH to 5.5 and oxygen consumption are associated with increased butyrate-producing bacteria (Walker et al., 2025; Louis and Flint, 2017). Increased tissue hypoxia, thus expression of HIF-1 α , has also been associated with decreased pH (Kumar et al., 2020). We can therefore hypothesise that following inhalation of HDM, increased inflammatory responses in the LI may have caused upregulation of HIF-1 α and the generation of a more hypoxic and acidic environment, that, together with alterations in goblet cells and mucus production, may have affected the composition of the gut microbiome, preferentially selecting butyrate-producing bacteria. In fact, butyrate has been reported to enhance oxygen consumption and HIF-1 α stabilisation, that promote barrier integrity and reduce inflammation in the gut (Taylor and Colgan, 2007).

In conclusion, this study provides further mechanistic evidence for the existence of lung-gut communication during allergic lung inflammation. Importantly, our results showed how Th2 inflammatory responses generated in the gut could be distinguished between the SI and LI and resulted in profound changes to the gut microenvironment. Moreover, we observed that inflammatory responses were associated with dysbiosis of the gut microbiota and hypothesised that this reprogramming was achieved to promote restoration of barrier integrity and gut homeostasis.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES



Figure 4.8: Supplementary Figure 1.

A) Gating strategy to identify CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in murine LI. Cells were identified as follows: SSC-A versus FSC-A to remove cellular debris; FSC-H versus FSC-A for doublet exclusion; Zombie Live-Dead versus CD45 to identify live haematopoietic populations; lineage versus CD45 to exclude contaminating populations (lineage defined as B220, NK1.1, Ly6C, Ly6G and Siglec-F to exclude B cells, NK cells, monocytes, neutrophils and eosinophils respectively); TCR β versus CD11b to identify TCR β^+ T cells; CD4 versus CD8 to identify CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. B) The percentage of CD4⁺ T cells expressing GATA3 and T-bet was quantified by flow cytometry in the LI of naive and HDM-treated mice. C) Gating strategy to identify ILC2s in murine LI. Cells were identified as follows: SSC-A versus FSC-A to remove cellular debris and identify lymphocytes; FSC-H versus FSC-A for doublet exclusion; Zombie Live-Dead versus CD45 to identify live haematopoietic populations; CD3 CD5 NK1.1 versus B220 CD11b CD11c to exclude contaminating cells; CD90.2 versus CD127 to identify ILC3; CD90.2 versus KLRG1 to identify ILC2s. Data shown are representative from at least two independent experiments. n = 2-3 per experiment. Error bars show ± SEM. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student's t test: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001



В





Figure 4.9: Supplementary Figure 2.

A-C) Pictures taken following intratracheal administration of Evan's blue. The dye is localised in the lungs but not in the stomach or gut.

CHAPTER 5 – GENERAL DISCUSSION

Asthma is a chronic obstructive disease involving inflammation of the respiratory tract (Kim et al., 2013). Although inhalation of allergens is a major cause of asthma pathology, a combination of genetic predisposition and environmental factors may promote development of the disease (van Tilburg Bernardes and Arrieta, 2017).

There has been a sharp increase in the global prevalence of asthma and approximately 300 million people worldwide currently have the disease, with its prevalence increasing by 50% every decade. Poor diagnosis and undertreament of the disease have contributed to increasing asthma-associated morbidity, mortality and economic burden over the last 40 years, resulting in considerable healthcare costs and loss of work productivity (Braman, 2006). Asthma onset is most common among children and recently this has been shown to be correlated with alterations in the infant gut microbiota pre- and post-natally (Liu, 2015). Several studies over the last 50 years have indeed demonstrated cross-communication between the gut and lung despite being anatomically distant from each other (Bienenstock et al., 1978; Camus, et al., 1993; Tulic et al., 2016; Keely et al., 2012; West et al., 2015). Nevertheless, mechanistic evidence of how cross-talk between these distal tissues occurs is still lacking.

Although the use of inhaled bronchodilators and corticosteroids are useful and effective in treating asthma over a short period of time, long-term therapy causes significant side effects, including increased AHR and impaired growth (van Schayck, 2013; Dunlap and Fulmer, 1984). Moreover, it is increasingly recognised that asthma is a very heterogenous disease with different phenotypes and endotypes i.e. observable combinations of clinical, biological and physiological characteristics with associated molecular mechanisms (Kuruvilla et al., 2019). Asthma has long been characterised by aberrant Th2 responses, involving significant infiltration of the bronchial mucosa by Th2 lymphocytes and eosinophils, goblet cell hyperplasia and increased serum IgE levels (Nathan et al., 2009). Although Th2 asthma is more prevalent, the heterogeneous nature of the disease has led to the discovery that non-Th2 inflammation can underlie its development, with neutrophils and Th1/Th17 lymphocytes being the predominant cellular infiltrates (Borish, 2016; Brussino et al., 2018). Despite similar clinical symptoms, patients may therefore respond very differently to the same therapeutic interventions and this awareness has increased the need for more tailored treatments (Kuruvilla et al., 2019). Biologic therapies have been developed to target specific inflammatory mediators and despite these therapeutics showing efficacy in reducing asthma symptoms and eosinophilia, they are still not curative. Additionally, patients with neutrophilic asthma are often resistant to corticosteroid treatment and lack alternative personalised treatment options (Fajt and Wenzel 2015).

Considering the relationship between the gut and the lung, manipulation of the microbiota and derived metabolites, such as SCFAs, has recently been investigated as a potential strategy to provide therapeutic benefits in gut and lung inflammatory diseases. The most abundant SCFAs in the gut are butyrate, acetate and propionate and all have been shown to mediate anti-inflammatory effects by binding to their receptors GPR43, GPR41 or GPR109a or by directly modulating gene transcription via inhibition of HDACs (Dang and Marsland, 2019). Moreover, despite SCFAs being largely concentrated in the gut, there is evidence for SCFA-mediated anti-inflammatory effects in the periphery and in the context of allergic lung inflammation (Maslowski et al., 2009; Trompette et al, 2014; Cait et al., 2018). Nevertheless, whether eosinophils or neutrophils can be directly targeted by SCFAs during allergic asthma remains unexplored.

Recently, two different populations of eosinophils have been identified in the airways of allergic mice and shown to possess homeostatic and pro-inflammatory features, hence defined as resident - (r)EOS and inflammatory - (i)EOS respectively (Mesnil et al., 2016). Nevertheless, it remains unclear how and where these two populations of eosinophils originate, and how their phenotype correlates to their function. The factors that may dictate properties of (r)EOS and (i)EOS have also not been defined. Moreover, whether it is possible to identify (r)EOS and (i)EOS in the human lung and target one of the two populations from a therapeutic stand point has not been addressed.

Thus, the overarching aims of the PhD were to better elucidate the precise effects of Th2 inflammation on eosinophils and whether these responses extend to peripheral organs in order to understand whether SCFAs can be used as eosinophil-targeted therapies in allergic asthma.

A combination of *in vivo* and *in vitro* models was employed to assesses the local and distal effects of lung Th2 inflammatory responses on granulocyte and lymphocyte populations in the lung, circulation, BM and intestines, and the consequences of SCFA treatment on such cells and tissue microenvironments. The work illustrated in **Paper 1** focussed on: 1. assessing the effects of Th2 inflammation on lung (r)EOS and (i)EOS and how this may dictate their phenotype and function and 2. establishing whether SCFAs can be used as eosinophil-targeted therapies utilising flow cytometry, histology and transcriptional analysis.

In agreement with previous reports, administration of the allergen HDM caused allergic inflammation of the airways, which was characterised by marked Th2 responses, airway and BM eosinophilia (Gregory and Lloyd, 2011; Buday and Plevkova, 2014; Jacobsen et al., 2014; Inman, 2000) as well as generation of Siglec-F^{hi}CD11b^{hi} (i)EOS in the airways and circulation (Mesnil et al., 2016) but not in the BM of allergic mice. This led us to hypothesise that, contrary to current assumptions, (r)EOS and (i)EOS are not terminally differentiated eosinophil

populations arising in the BM. With the use of lung-shielded chimeras and intravascular staining we demonstrated that lung eosinophils are not long-lived tissue-resident cells, such as AMs (Guilliams et al., 2013), and that (i)EOS may potentially arise locally from (r)EOS when in the lung, suggesting that environmental factors contribute to the process. Further work using a BM-transfer model, in which eosinophils from WT mice are transferred i.n. in the lungs of allergic eosinophil-deficient Δ dblGATA recipients should clarify whether (i)EOS are lung- or blood-borne.

Further phenotypic analysis of (r)EOS and (i)EOS allowed us to suggest that (r)EOS are more responsive to IL-5 compared to (i)EOS and to confirm the pro-inflammatory nature of (i)EOS. For the first time, we showed that (i)EOS were characterised by marked expression of CD98 with associated metabolic activation, involving increased nutrient uptake and enhanced glycolysis. Importantly, blood (i)EOS expressed very low levels of CD98 compared to lung (i)EOS, reinforcing our hypothesis that the lung environment could have a major role in shaping eosinophil phenotype and function. This led us to identify GM-CSF, IL-5 and IL-33 in particular as specific factors able to induce upregulation of Siglec-F and CD98 on BM or lung eosinophils. More importantly, we determined that (i)EOS expressing CD98 were not only present in allergic lung inflammation but represented a characteristic feature of other murine models of lung inflammation.

The first step to evaluate whether treatment with SCFAs could target eosinophils and be therapeutic in allergic asthma involved assessment of SCFA receptor expression on lung eosinophils. Interestingly, we discovered that (i)EOS expressed higher levels of the butyrate-selective GPR109a when compared to (r)EOS, which led to the hypothesis that butyrate may directly target (i)EOS. As for CD98, blood (i)EOS expressed very low levels of the receptor compared to the lung counterpart, highlighting the importance of the tissue microenvironment in determining eosinophil characteristics. Oral or intranasal treatment with the SCFA or niacin, another agonist of GPR109a, led us to find out that agonism on this receptor reduced proportions of (i)EOS and their activation, together with Th2 inflammatory responses in the lung. Moreover, we determined that lung neutrophils expressed GPR109a and that agonism on the receptor was also effective in reducing neutrophilic and Th1/Th17 responses in a mouse model of mixed granulocytic asthma. Further work involving the use of GPR109a KO mice will clearly determine whether agonism of GPR109a mediates anti-inflammatory effects on granulocyte and lymphocyte populations.

Finally, assessment of our findings from mouse models in humans, provided some evidence for lung and blood eosinophils from APs to upregulate Siglec-8, CD98 and GPR109a expression, like their murine counterparts. However, more samples and further phenotyping would be required to confirm the reliability of these preliminary results.
The findings of this work are important in that they could inform the development of novel therapies for asthma. Clinical trials have shown that treatment with eosinophil-targeted biologics, aimed at disrupting IL-5 signalling in eosinophils, do not provide significant clinical improvement in APs (Borish, 2016). This may be explained because those therapeutics were designed to target all eosinophils, without distinguishing them into separate populations. We showed that (r)EOS may respond better to IL-5 compared to (i)EOS, suggesting that IL-5 neutralisation may predominantly affect homeostatic (r)EOS and less so pro-inflammatory (i)EOS. With this work we provide evidence for alternative druggable pathways that could be antagonised to prevent or reduce eosinophil activation, including IL-33 and CD98-mTOR signalling, and glycolysis. We also highlight the importance of the gut microbiota and derived metabolites in influencing peripheral immunity and show that agonism on the butyrate-selective GPR109a may be able to counteract granulocyte and lymphocyte-mediated inflammatory responses in Th2 and non-Th2 asthma.

In **Paper 2**, examination of the systemic effects of HDM-induced lung allergic inflammation allowed us to further expose the complex relationship between the lung and the gut. Here we focussed on: 1. describing the systemic effects of allergic lung inflammation on immune cells in distal tissues with particular focus on the gut and 2. investigate the mechanisms underlying such inter-organ communication.

The gut is a very similar organ to the lung, as they share the same embryonic origin, comparable functions, structure and exposure to bacteria, and there is now robust evidence suggesting a bi-directional relationship between these distal organs (Tulic et al., 2016). Several studies have shown development of GI disorders in asthmatic subjects and vice versa; however, how this occurs mechanistically is still poorly understood (Tulic et al., 2016).

Our results broadly support the idea that cross-communication between the lung and the gut occurs during allergic asthma, but we provide additional mechanistic evidence that may enhance our understanding of how this occurs. Importantly, we showed that inflammatory responses generated in the gut were distinct when comparing the SI and LI. We detected an eosinophil-dominated Th2 response in the SI and showed heterogeneity of eosinophil populations according to their location and expression of CD11b, CD101 and CD98 as we previously documented for lung eosinophils. We also measured increased frequencies of eosinophils in the spleen of allergic mice and it would be interesting to investigate the significance of this. Olbrich et al., 2020 showed that following epicutaneous immunisation increased levels of eosinophils can be found in the lungs. It would be interesting to investigate whether the reverse occurs in our model i.e. lung inflammation promotes eosinophil infiltration in the skin, together with the SI. In the LI, T cells and ILC2s dominated the Th2 response, which was characterised by high levels of IL-13 and IL-33, that we associated with marked goblet cell

hyperplasia and initiation or maintenance of such responses respectively. Importantly, we determined that Th2 responses in the gut were not the result of direct contact with the antigen but were potentially mediated by circulating T cells upregulating gut-homing receptors in distal sites, which has already been reported (Ruane et al., 2013; Jung et al., 2019). Further work involving the use of an HDM-specific tetramer should better define whether antigen-specific T cells are indeed present in the gut of allergic mice. Ruane et al., 2013 specifies that lung DCs induce expression of the SI-homing receptor LPAM-1 on T cells in a TGF- β and RA-dependent manner and that this provided protective immunity in the GI tract. It would be interesting to determine whether lung DCs mediate upregulation of gut-homing receptors and required TGFβ and RA in our model and whether this occurs for both SI- and LI-gut homing receptors. Although Jung et al. (2019) also showed migration of T cells following i.n. immunisation, this induced colitis mediated by Th1 inflammatory responses. We also detected increased release of IFN-y by T cells in our study, however levels of Th2 cytokines were predominant. Jung et al. (2019) administered OVA i.p. and i.t. to C57BL/6 mice in their study whereas we administered HDM i.n. to BALB/c mice, suggesting that differences in the antigen, mode of delivery or mouse strain may be responsible for changes in the nature of the inflammatory response.

We also showed that Th2 responses altered the mucosal microenvironment of the LI by increasing expression of HIF1- α and altering the glycosylation patterns on mucins. Microbial dysbiosis has been associated with such changes in gut and lung inflammatory diseases (Arrieta et al., 2015; Fujimura et al., 2016; Wesemann and Nagler, 2016; Zhang et al., 2020; Morampudi et al., 2016; Kim and Ho, 2010) and our study also identified a relative increase in the abundance of Firmicutes and a decrease in Bacteroidetes in the faeces of allergic mice. Although 16s sequencing would have provided a more complete identification of changes in bacterial phyla and species, our results led us to hypothesise that an increase in *Firmicutes* may be favoured due to their butyrate-producing activity. As we mentioned previously, all SCFAs have been reported to provide anti-inflammatory effects, but butyrate is used preferentially as an energy source by colonocytes compared to acetate or propionate (Morrison and Preston, 2016). Moreover, butyrate enhances oxygen consumption in the gut, which promotes barrier integrity and reduces inflammation (Taylor and Colgan, 2007). It would be useful to supplement this study with measurements of SCFA levels in the gut and circulation to better establish whether our hypothesis is reliable. Another possibility is that alterations in the gut microbiome may promote an overall metabolic state that could support Th2 responses at other sites, which could be beneficial for protection (e.g. against helminths), but that would be detrimental in allergic asthma. Assessment of whether the changes observed here are exacerbated or totally altered in a mouse model of chronic asthma would also be useful.

Although more work is required to better understand whether these findings can be translated into humans, this study provides new insights into the organ cross-talk relevant to allergic

disease progressions and highlights the differences and similarities with respect to the nature of the inflammatory response at each site.

Together, through the application of *in vivo* and *in vitro* allergy models, the data presented here shed more light on the complex inter-organ relationship between the lung and the gut, where one influences the immune properties of the other and vice-versa. With a focus on allergic asthma, we showed that allergic lung inflammation triggers Th2 responses in the intestines and can significantly modulate eosinophil phenotype and function at both sites. Intestinal Th2 responses potentially result in a metabolic shift allowing for more butyrate to be produced, that in turn may promote anti-inflammatory effects in the lung by binding to GPR109a expressed on lung eosinophils (Fig. 5.1).



Figure 5.1: Inter-organ communication between the lung and the gut during allergic asthma and its effects on eosinophils.

A) Inhalation of HDM triggers development of Th2 responses in the lung, which are characterised by increased infiltration of lymphocytes and eosinophils, mucus production, expression of Relm- α by the peribronchial epithelium and Ym-1 by interstitial macrophages. Th2 responses also involve increased expression and levels of IL-5, GM-CSF and IL-33, which can modulate BM-derived eosinophil phenotype by increasing Siglec-F, CD98 and GPR109a expression. These cells, showed further pro-inflammatory characteristics, including increased

expression of CD11b, CD101 and HIF-1α, metabolic activity, release of EPX, IL-4 and IL-6 and morphological changes. B) Allergen inhalation triggers BM haematopoiesis and increased release of Siglec-FintCD11bint eosinophils in the circulation. C) BM-derived Siglec-F^{int}CD11b^{int} eosinophils in the circulation are recruited to the lung where they are exposed to Th2 signals and undergo phenotypical and functional changes. Siglec-F^{hi}CD11b^{hi} eosinophils may then extravasate in the circulation. D) BM-derived Siglec-F^{int}CD11b^{ht} eosinophils in the circulation are also recruited to the spleen. E) Allergen inhalation also induces Th2 responses in the gut which can be distringuished between the SI and LI. In the SI they were characterised by increased numbers of Siglec-FintCD11b^{int} eosinophils showing increased expression of CD98 and CD101 in the IE compartment and increased tissue expression and levels of Relm-α, Ym-1 and IL-4. In the LI, Th2 responses featured increased frequencies of T cells- and ILC2s-secreting Th2 cytokines, goblet cell hyperplasia, changes in mucin glycosylation as well as shifts in the composition of the microbiome favouring butyrate-producing Firmicutes over Bacteroidetes. Butyrate is known to provide anti-inflammatory effects and is the only SCFA able to bind GPR109a. We propose that agonism of GPR109a expressed on lung Siglec-F^{hi}CD11b^{int} eosinophils by GPR109a agonists such as butyrate (or the vitamin niacin) is beneficial in reducing the inflammatory eosinophil phenotype and lung inflammation during allergy. F) T cells circulating from the lung and MED LNs to the gut via the MES LNs may mediate Th2 responses through upregulation of gut-homing receptors.

CHAPTER 6 – REFERENCES

Abdala Valencia, H., Loffredo, L.F., Misharin, A.V. and Berdnikovs, S., 2016. Phenotypic plasticity and targeting of Siglec-F high CD 11clow eosinophils to the airway in a murine model of asthma. *Allergy*, 71(2), pp.267-271.

Ackerman, S.J., Kephart, G.M., Francis, H., Awadzi, K., Gleich, G.J. and Ottesen, E.A., 1990. Eosinophil degranulation. An immunologic determinant in the pathogenesis of the Mazzotti reaction in human onchocerciasis. *The Journal of Immunology*, *144*(10), pp.3961-3969.

Adamko, D.J., Wu, Y., Gleich, G.J., Lacy, P. and Moqbel, R., 2004. The induction of eosinophil peroxidase release: improved methods of measurement and stimulation. *Journal of immunological methods*, 291(1-2), pp.101-108.

Ajendra, J., Chenery, A.L., Parkinson, J.E., Chan, B.H., Pearson, S., Colombo, S.A., Boon, L., Grencis, R.K., Sutherland, T.E. and Allen, J.E., 2020. IL-17A both initiates, via IFNγ suppression, and limits the pulmonary type-2 immune response to nematode infection. *Mucosal immunology*, *13*(6), pp.958-968.

Akashi, K., Traver, D., Miyamoto, T. and Weissman, I.L., 2000. A clonogenic common myeloid progenitor that gives rise to all myeloid lineages. *Nature*, 404(6774), pp.193-197.

Akuthota, P., Wang, H. and Weller, P.F., 2010. Eosinophils as antigen-presenting cells in allergic upper airway disease. *Current opinion in allergy and clinical immunology*, 10(1), p.14.

Aldebert, D., Lamkhioued, B., Desaint, C., Gounni, A.S., Goldman, M., Capron, A., Prin, L. and Capron, M., 1996. Eosinophils express a functional receptor for interferon alpha: inhibitory role of interferon alpha on the release of mediators. *Blood.*

Alemao, C.A., Budden, K.F., Gomez, H.M., Rehman, S.F., Marshall, J.E., Shukla, S.D., Donovan, C., Forster, S.C., Yang, I.A., Keely, S. and Mann, E.R., 2020. Impact of diet and the bacterial microbiome on the mucous barrier and immune disorders. *Allergy*.

Allaire, J.M., Morampudi, V., Crowley, S.M., Stahl, M., Yu, H., Bhullar, K., Knodler, L.A., Bressler, B., Jacobson, K. and Vallance, B.A., 2018. Frontline defenders: goblet cell mediators dictate host-microbe interactions in the intestinal tract during health and disease. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, *314*(3), pp.G360-G377.

Allen, J.E. and Sutherland, T.E., 2014, August. Host protective roles of type 2 immunity: parasite killing and tissue repair, flip sides of the same coin. In *Seminars in immunology* (Vol. 26, No. 4, pp. 329-340). Academic Press.

Amin, K., Janson, C. and Bystrom, J., 2016. Role of eosinophil granulocytes in allergic airway inflammation endotypes. *Scandinavian journal of immunology*, *84*(2), pp.75-85.

Anand, S. and Mande, S.S., 2018. Diet, microbiota and gut-lung connection. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 9, p.2147.

Anderson, K.G., Mayer-Barber, K., Sung, H., Beura, L., James, B.R., Taylor, J.J., Qunaj, L., Griffith, T.S., Vezys, V., Barber, D.L. and Masopust, D., 2014. Intravascular staining for discrimination of vascular and tissue leukocytes. *Nature protocols*, *9*(1), pp.209-222.

Anderson, K.G., Sung, H., Skon, C.N., Lefrancois, L., Deisinger, A., Vezys, V. and Masopust, D., 2012. Cutting edge: intravascular staining redefines lung CD8 T cell responses. *The Journal of Immunology*, *189*(6), pp.2702-2706.

Angulo, E.L., McKernan, E.M., Fichtinger, P.S. and Mathur, S.K., 2019. Comparison of IL-33 and IL-5 family mediated activation of human eosinophils. *PloS one*, 14(9).

Aoyama, M., Kotani, J. and Usami, M., 2010. Butyrate and propionate induced activated or nonactivated neutrophil apoptosis via HDAC inhibitor activity but without activating GPR-41/GPR-43 pathways. *Nutrition*, 26(6), pp.653-661.

Ardain, A., Marakalala, M.J. and Leslie, A., 2019. Tissue-resident innate immunity in the lung. *Immunology.*

Argüeso, P., Tisdale, A., Mandel, U., Letko, E., Foster, C.S. and Gipson, I.K., 2003. The celllayer-and cell-type-specific distribution of GalNAc-transferases in the ocular surface epithelia is altered during keratinization. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, *44*(1), pp.86-92.

Arnold, I.C., Artola-Borán, M., Tallón de Lara, P., Kyburz, A., Taube, C., Ottemann, K., van den Broek, M., Yousefi, S., Simon, H.U. and Müller, A., 2018. Eosinophils suppress Th1 responses and restrict bacterially induced gastrointestinal inflammation. *Journal of experimental medicine*, *215*(8), pp.2055-2072.

Arrieta, M.C., Arévalo, A., Stiemsma, L., Dimitriu, P., Chico, M.E., Loor, S., Vaca, M., Boutin, R.C., Morien, E., Jin, M. and Turvey, S.E., 2018. Associations between infant fungal and bacterial dysbiosis and childhood atopic wheeze in a nonindustrialized setting. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *142*(2), pp.424-434.

Arrieta, M.C., Stiemsma, L.T., Dimitriu, P.A., Thorson, L., Russell, S., Yurist-Doutsch, S., Kuzeljevic, B., Gold, M.J., Britton, H.M., Lefebvre, D.L. and Subbarao, P., 2015. Early infancy microbial and metabolic alterations affect risk of childhood asthma. *Science translational medicine*, *7*(307), pp.307ra152-307ra152.

Babayan, S.A., Read, A.F., Lawrence, R.A., Bain, O. and Allen, J.E., 2010. Filarial parasites develop faster and reproduce earlier in response to host immune effectors that determine filarial life expectancy. *PLoS biology*, 8(10).

Bagnasco, D., Ferrando, M., Varricchi, G., Passalacqua, G. and Canonica, G.W., 2016. A critical evaluation of anti-IL-13 and anti-IL-4 strategies in severe asthma. *International archives of allergy and immunology*, *170*(2), pp.122-131.

Bal, S.M., Golebski, K. and Spits, H., 2020. Plasticity of innate lymphoid cell subsets. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, pp.1-14.

Bandeira-Melo, C. and Weller, P.F., 2005. Mechanisms of eosinophil cytokine release. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, *100*, pp.73-81.

Barcik, W., Boutin, R.C., Sokolowska, M. and Finlay, B.B., 2020. The Role of Lung and Gut Microbiota in the Pathology of Asthma. *Immunity*, 52(2), pp.241-255.

Barnes, P.J. and Adcock, I.M., 1995. Steroid resistance in asthma. QJM: An International Journal of Medicine, 88(7), pp.455-468.

Barnes, P.J., 2008. The cytokine network in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *118*(11), pp.3546-3556.

Barnes, P.J., 2017. Counterpoint: will new anti-eosinophilic drugs be useful in asthma management? No. *Chest*, 151(1), pp.17-20.

Bartels, K., Grenz, A. and Eltzschig, H.K., 2013. Hypoxia and inflammation are two sides of the same coin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *110*(46), pp.18351-18352.

Bartemes, K.R. and Kita, H., 2012. Dynamic role of epithelium-derived cytokines in asthma. *Clinical immunology*, *143*(3), pp.222-235.

Bartemes, K.R., McKinney, S., Gleich, G.J. and Kita, H., 1999. Endogenous platelet-activating factor is critically involved in effector functions of eosinophils stimulated with IL-5 or IgG. *The Journal of Immunology*, 162(5), pp.2982-2989.

Beck, J.M., Young, V.B. and Huffnagle, G.B., 2012. The microbiome of the lung. *Translational Research*, *160*(4), pp.258-266.

Behm, C.A. and Ovington, K.S., 2000. The role of eosinophils in parasitic helminth infections: insights from genetically modified mice. *Parasitology Today*, *16*(5), pp.202-209.

Belkaid, Y. and Hand, T.W., 2014. Role of the microbiota in immunity and inflammation. *Cell*, *157*(1), pp.121-141.

Beller, A., Rausch, S., Strandmark, J., Zänker, M., Arbach, O., Kruglov, A. and Berek, C., 2014. Eosinophils promote generation and maintenance of immunoglobulin-A-expressing plasma cells and contribute to gut immune homeostasis. *Immunity*, *40*(4), pp.582-593.

Bellini, A., Marini, M.A., Bianchetti, L., Barczyk, M., Schmidt, M. and Mattoli, S., 2012. Interleukin (IL)-4, IL-13, and IL-17A differentially affect the profibrotic and proinflammatory functions of fibrocytes from asthmatic patients. *Mucosal immunology*, *5*(2), pp.140-149.

Berger, A., 2000. Th1 and Th2 responses: what are they? BMJ 321 (7258), 424

Biddlestone, J., Bandarra, D. and Rocha, S., 2015. The role of hypoxia in inflammatory disease. *International journal of molecular medicine*, *35*(4), pp.859-869.

Bienenstock, J., McDermott, M., Befus, D. and O'Neill, M., 1978. A common mucosal immunologic system involving the bronchus, breast and bowel. In *Secretory immunity and infection* (pp. 53-59). Springer, Boston, MA.

Birchenough, G.M., Johansson, M.E., Gustafsson, J.K., Bergström, J.H. and Hansson, G.C., 2015. New developments in goblet cell mucus secretion and function. *Mucosal immunology*, *8*(4), pp.712-719.

Bittner-Eddy, P.D., Fischer, L.A., Tu, A.A., Allman, D.A. and Costalonga, M., 2017. Discriminating between interstitial and circulating leukocytes in tissues of the murine oral mucosa avoiding nasal-associated lymphoid tissue contamination. *Frontiers in immunology*, *8*, p.1398.

Bjerke, T., Gaustadnes, M., Nielsen, S., Nielsen, L.P., Schiøtz, P.O., Rudiger, N., Reimert, C.M., Dahl, R., Christensen, I. and Poulsen, L.K., 1996. Human blood eosinophils produce and secrete interleukin 4. *Respiratory medicine*, *90*(5), pp.271-277.

Blanchard, C., Mishra, A., Saito-Akei, H., Monk, P., Anderson, I. and Rothenberg, M.E., 2005. Inhibition of human interleukin-13-induced respiratory and oesophageal inflammation by antihuman-interleukin-13 antibody (CAT-354). *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, 35(8), pp.1096-1103.

Blumenthal, R.D., Samoszuk, M., Taylor, A.P., Brown, G., Alisauskas, R. and Goldenberg, D.M., 2000. Degranulating eosinophils in human endometriosis. *The American journal of pathology*, *156*(5), pp.1581-1588.

Bochner, B.S., 2018. The eosinophil: For better or worse, in sickness and in health. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology, 121(2), pp.150-155.*

Boorgula, M.P., Taub, M.A., Rafaels, N., Daya, M., Campbell, M., Chavan, S., Shetty, A., Cheadle, C., Barkataki, S., Fan, J. and David, G., 2019. Replicated methylation changes associated with eczema herpeticum and allergic response. *Clinical epigenetics*, *11*(1), p.122.

Borish, L., 2016. The immunology of asthma: asthma phenotypes and their implications for personalized treatment. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology,* 117(2), pp.108-114.

Bouchery, T., Kyle, R., Camberis, M., Shepherd, A., Filbey, K., Smith, A., Harvie, M., Painter, G., Johnston, K., Ferguson, P. and Jain, R., 2015. ILC2s and T cells cooperate to ensure maintenance of M2 macrophages for lung immunity against hookworms. *Nature communications*, *6*(1), pp.1-13.

Bouchery, T., Volpe, B., Shah, K., Lebon, L., Filbey, K., LeGros, G. and Harris, N., 2017. The study of host immune responses elicited by the model murine hookworms Nippostrongylus brasiliensis and Heligmosomoides polygyrus. *Current protocols in mouse biology*, 7(4), pp.236-286.

Braman, S.S., 2006. The global burden of asthma. Chest, 130(1), pp.4S-12S.

Brasseit, J., Chung, K., Cheong, K.C., Noti, M., Zysset, D., Hoheisel-Dickgreber, N., Genitsch, V., Corazza, N. and Mueller, C., 2018. Divergent roles of interferon-γ and innate lymphoid cells in innate and adaptive immune cell-mediated intestinal inflammation. *Frontiers in immunology*, 9, p.23.

Broere, F. and van Eden, W., 2019. T cell subsets and T cell-mediated immunity. In *Nijkamp* and *Parnham's Principles of Immunopharmacology* (pp. 23-35). Springer, Cham.

Broide, D. and Sriramarao, P., 2001. Eosinophil trafficking to sites of allergic inflammation. *Immunological reviews*, *179*(1), pp.163-172.

Brooks, C., Pearce, N. and Douwes, J., 2013. The hygiene hypothesis in allergy and asthma: an update. *Current opinion in allergy and clinical immunology*, 13(1), pp.70-77.

Brussino, L., Heffler, E., Bucca, C., Nicola, S. and Rolla, G., 2018. Eosinophils target therapy for severe asthma: critical points. *BioMed research international*, 2018.

Buday, T. and Plevkova, J., 2014. House dust mite allergy models—reliability for research of airway defensive mechanisms. *Open Journal of Molecular and Integrative Physiology*, 2014.

Buitenhuis, M., Baltus, B., Lammers, J.W.J., Coffer, P.J. and Koenderman, L., 2003. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5a (STAT5a) is required for eosinophil differentiation of human cord blood–derived CD34+ cells. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology*, *101*(1), pp.134-142.

Butrous, G., 2019. Schistosome infection and its effect on pulmonary circulation. *Global cardiology science & practice*, 2019(1).

Buys, J., Wever, R., van Stigt, R. and Ruitenberg, E.J., 1981. The killing of newborn larvae of Trichinella spiralis by eosinophil peroxidase in vitro. *European journal of immunology*, *11*(10), pp.843-845.

Cabieses, B., Uphoff, E., Pinart, M., Antó, J.M. and Wright, J., 2014. A systematic review on the development of asthma and allergic diseases in relation to international immigration: the leading role of the environment confirmed. *PloS one*, *9*(8).

Cadman, E.T., Thysse, K.A., Bearder, S., Cheung, A.Y., Johnston, A.C., Lee, J.J. and Lawrence, R.A., 2014. Eosinophils are important for protection, immunoregulation and pathology during infection with nematode microfilariae. *PLoS pathogens*, *10*(3).

Cahenzli, J., Köller, Y., Wyss, M., Geuking, M.B. and McCoy, K.D., 2013. Intestinal microbial diversity during early-life colonization shapes long-term IgE levels. *Cell host & microbe*, 14(5), pp.559-570.

Cait, A., Hughes, M.R., Antignano, F., Cait, J., Dimitriu, P.A., Maas, K.R., Reynolds, L.A., Hacker, L., Mohr, J., Finlay, B.B. and Zaph, C., 2018. Microbiome-driven allergic lung inflammation is ameliorated by short-chain fatty acids. *Mucosal immunology*, *11*(3), pp.785-795.

Campbell, E.M., Kunkel, S.L., Strieter, R.M. and Lukacs, N.W., 1998. Temporal role of chemokines in a murine model of cockroach allergen-induced airway hyperreactivity and eosinophilia. *The Journal of Immunology*, *161*(12), pp.7047-7053.

Camus, P., Piard, F., Ashcroft, T., Gal, A.A. and Colby, T.V., 1993. The lung in inflammatory bowel disease. *Medicine*, 72(3), pp.151-183.

Cantor, J.M. and Ginsberg, M.H., 2012. CD98 at the crossroads of adaptive immunity and cancer. *Journal of cell science*, *125*(6), pp.1373-1382.

Capron, M., Torpier, G. and Capron, A., 1979. In vitro killing of S. mansoni schistosomula by eosinophils from infected rats: role of cytophilic antibodies. *The Journal of Immunology*, *123*(5), pp.2220-2230.

Carretero, R., Sektioglu, I.M., Garbi, N., Salgado, O.C., Beckhove, P. and Hämmerling, G.J., 2015. Eosinophils orchestrate cancer rejection by normalizing tumor vessels and enhancing infiltration of CD8+ T cells. *Nature immunology*, *16*(6), p.609.

Chan, B.C., Lam, C.W., Tam, L.S. and Wong, C.K., 2019. IL33: Roles in allergic inflammation and therapeutic perspectives. *Frontiers in immunology*, 10.

Chang, P.V., Hao, L., Offermanns, S. and Medzhitov, R., 2014. The microbial metabolite butyrate regulates intestinal macrophage function via histone deacetylase inhibition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(6), pp.2247-2252.

Chang, Y.J., Kim, H.Y., Albacker, L.A., Baumgarth, N., McKenzie, A.N., Smith, D.E., DeKruyff, R.H. and Umetsu, D.T., 2011. Innate lymphoid cells mediate influenza-induced airway hyperreactivity independently of adaptive immunity. *Nature immunology*, *12*(7), pp.631-638.

Chaplin, D.D., 2010. Overview of the immune response. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 125(2), pp.S3-S23.

Chapman, D.G., Tully, J.E., Nolin, J.D., Janssen-Heininger, Y.M. and Irvin, C.G., 2014. Animal models of allergic airways disease: where are we and where to next?. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*, *115*(12), pp.2055-2064.

Chaudhary, N. and Marr, K.A., 2011. Impact of Aspergillus fumigatus in allergic airway diseases. *Clinical and translational allergy*, *1*(1), p.4.

Cheepsattayakorn, A. and Cheepsattayakorn, R., 2014. Parasitic pneumonia and lung involvement. *BioMed Research International*, 2014.

Chen, C.C., Kobayashi, T., Iijima, K., Hsu, F.C. and Kita, H., 2017. IL-33 dysregulates regulatory T cells and impairs established immunologic tolerance in the lungs. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *140*(5), pp.1351-1363.

Chen, L., Grabowski, K.A., Xin, J.P., Coleman, J., Huang, Z., Espiritu, B., Alkan, S., Xie, H.B., Zhu, Y., White, F.A. and Clancy, J., 2004. IL-4 induces differentiation and expansion of Th2 cytokine-producing eosinophils. *The Journal of Immunology*, 172(4), pp.2059-2066.

Chu, H.W., Balzar, S., Westcott, J.Y., Trudeau, J.B., Sun, Y., Conrad, D.J. and Wenzel, S.E., 2002. Expression and activation of 15-lipoxygenase pathway in severe asthma: relationship to eosinophilic phenotype and collagen deposition. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, *32*(11), pp.1558-1565.

Chu, V.T. and Berek, C., 2012. Immunization induces activation of bone marrow eosinophils required for plasma cell survival. *European journal of immunology*, *42*(1), pp.130-137.

Claesson, H.E., Griffiths, W.J., Brunnström, Å., Schain, F., Andersson, E., Feltenmark, S., Johnson, H.A., Porwit, A., Sjöberg, J. and Björkholm, M., 2008. Hodgkin Reed–Sternberg cells express 15-lipoxygenase-1 and are putative producers of eoxins in vivo: Novel insight into the inflammatory features of classical Hodgkin lymphoma. *The FEBS Journal*, 275(16), pp.4222-4234.

Coffman, R.L., Seymour, B.W., Hudak, S., Jackson, J. and Rennick, D., 1989. Antibody to interleukin-5 inhibits helminth-induced eosinophilia in mice. *Science*, *245*(4915), pp.308-310.

Coleman, M.M., Ruane, D., Moran, B., Dunne, P.J., Keane, J. and Mills, K.H., 2013. Alveolar macrophages contribute to respiratory tolerance by inducing FoxP3 expression in naive T cells. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*, 48(6), pp.773-780.

Colley, D.G. and Secor, W.E., 2014. Immunology of human schistosomiasis. *Parasite immunology*, *36*(8), pp.347-357.

Conroy, D.M. and Williams, T.J., 2001. Eotaxin and the attraction of eosinophils to the asthmatic lung. *Respiratory research*, 2(3), p.150.

Cooper, P.J., 2009. Interactions between helminth parasites and allergy. *Current opinion in allergy and clinical immunology*, 9(1), p.29.

Corfield, A.P., 2018. The interaction of the gut microbiota with the mucus barrier in health and disease in human. *Microorganisms*, *6*(3), p.78.

Cormerais, Y., Giuliano, S., LeFloch, R., Durivault, J., Tambutté, E., Massard, P.A., de la Ballina, L.R., Endou, H., Wempe, M.F., Palacin, M. and Parks, S.K., 2016. Genetic disruption of the multifunctional CD98/LAT1 complex demonstrates the key role of essential amino acid transport in the control of mTORC1 and tumor growth. *Cancer research*, *76*(15), pp.4481-4492.

Coyle, A.J., Erard, F., Bertrand, C., Walti, S., Pircher, H. and Le Gros, G., 1995. Virus-specific CD8+ cells can switch to interleukin 5 production and induce airway eosinophilia. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, *181*(3), pp.1229-1233.

Culley, F.J., Brown, A., Girod, N., Pritchard, D.I. and Williams, T.J., 2002. Innate and cognate mechanisms of pulmonary eosinophilia in helminth infection. *European journal of immunology*, 32(5), pp.1376-1385.

Dahl, R., 2006. Systemic side effects of inhaled corticosteroids in patients with asthma. *Respiratory medicine*, 100(8), pp.1307-1317.

Dang, A.T. and Marsland, B.J., 2019. Microbes, metabolites, and the gut–lung axis. *Mucosal immunology*, 12(4), pp.843-850.

De Monchy, J.G., Kauffman, H.F., Venge, P., Koëter, G.H., Jansen, H.M., Sluiter, H.J. and de Vries, K., 1985. Bronchoalveolar eosinophilia during allergen-induced late asthmatic reactions. *American review of respiratory disease*, *131*(3), pp.373-376.

Dedkova, E.N., Sigova, A.A. and Zinchenko, V.P., 2000. Mechanism of action of calcium ionophores on intact cells: ionophore-resistant cells. *Membr cell biol*, *13*(3), pp.357-368.

Del Giudice, M.M., Maiello, N., Decimo, F., Fusco, N., Sullo, N., Capasso, M., Salpietro, V., Gitto, E., Ciprandi, G., Marseglia, G.L. and Perrone, L., 2012. Airways allergic inflammation and L. reuterii treatment in asthmatic children. *Journal of Biological Regulators and Homeostatic Agents*, *26*(1 SUPPL).

Dent, L.A., Daly, C.M., Mayrhofer, G., Zimmerman, T., Hallett, A., Bignold, L.P., Creaney, J. and Parsons, J.C., 1999. Interleukin-5 Transgenic Mice Show Enhanced Resistance to Primary Infections with Nippostrongylus brasiliensis but Not Primary Infections with Toxocara canis. *Infection and immunity*, *67*(2), pp.989-993.

DENT, L.A., MUNRO, G.H., PIPER, K.P., SANDERSON, C.J., FINLAY, D.A., DEMPSTER, R.K., BIGNOLD, L.P., HARKIN, D.G. and HAGAN, P., 1997. Eosinophilic interleukin 5 (IL-5) transgenic mice: eosinophil activity and impaired clearance of Schistosoma mansoni. *Parasite immunology*, 19(7), pp.291-300.

Deplancke, B. and Gaskins, H.R., 2001. Microbial modulation of innate defense: goblet cells and the intestinal mucus layer. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 73(6), pp.1131S-1141S.

Dewitz, C., McEachern, E., Shin, S., Akong, K., Nagle, D.G., Broide, D.H., Akuthota, P. and Alexander, L.E.C., 2017. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1α inhibition modulates airway hyperresponsiveness and nitric oxide levels in a BALB/c mouse model of asthma. *Clinical Immunology*, *176*, pp.94-99.

Dharmage, S.C., Perret, J. and Custovic, A., 2019. Epidemiology of asthma in children and adults. *Frontiers in pediatrics*, 7, p.246.

DiScipio, R.G., Daffern, P.J., Jagels, M.A., Broide, D.H. and Sriramarao, P., 1999. A comparison of C3a and C5a-mediated stable adhesion of rolling eosinophils in postcapillary venules and transendothelial migration in vitro and in vivo. *The Journal of Immunology*, 162(2), pp.1127-1136.

Doetze, A., Satoguina, J., Burchard, G., Rau, T., Löliger, C., Fleischer, B. and Hoerauf, A., 2000. Antigen-specific cellular hyporesponsiveness in a chronic human helminth infection is mediated by Th3/Tr1-type cytokines IL-10 and transforming growth factor-β but not by a Th1 to Th2 shift. *International immunology*, *12*(5), pp.623-630.

Dold, S., Heinrich, J., Wichmann, H.E. and Wjst, M., 1998. Ascaris-specific IgE and allergic sensitization in a cohort of school children in the former East Germany. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *102*(3), pp.414-420.

Douwes, J., Gibson, P., Pekkanen, J. and Pearce, N., 2002. Non-eosinophilic asthma: importance and possible mechanisms. *Thorax*, *57*(7), pp.643-648.

Doyle, A.D., Jacobsen, E.A., Ochkur, S.I., McGarry, M.P., Shim, K.G., Nguyen, D.T., Protheroe, C., Colbert, D., Kloeber, J., Neely, J. and Shim, K.P., 2013. Expression of the secondary granule proteins major basic protein 1 (MBP-1) and eosinophil peroxidase (EPX) is required for eosinophilopoiesis in mice. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology*, *122*(5), pp.781-790.

Doyle, A.D., Jacobsen, E.A., Ochkur, S.I., Willetts, L., Shim, K., Neely, J., Kloeber, J., LeSuer, W.E., Pero, R.S., Lacy, P. and Moqbel, R., 2013. Homologous recombination into the eosinophil peroxidase locus generates a strain of mice expressing Cre recombinase exclusively in eosinophils. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, 94(1), pp.17-24.

Duan, M., Steinfort, D.P., Smallwood, D., Hew, M., Chen, W., Ernst, M., Irving, L.B., Anderson, G.P. and Hibbs, M.L., 2016. CD11b immunophenotyping identifies inflammatory profiles in the mouse and human lungs. *Mucosal immunology*, *9*(2), pp.550-563.

Dunlap, N.E. and Fulmer, J.D., 1984. Corticosteroid therapy in asthma. *Clinics in chest medicine*, 5(4), pp.669-683.

Durham, S.R., Loegering, D.A., Dunnette, S., Gleich, G.J. and Kay, A.B., 1989. Blood eosinophils and eosinophil-derived proteins in allergic asthma. *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, *84*(6), pp.931-936.

Dyer, K.D., Percopo, C.M., Xie, Z., Yang, Z., Kim, J.D., Davoine, F., Lacy, P., Druey, K.M., Moqbel, R. and Rosenberg, H.F., 2010. Mouse and human eosinophils degranulate in response to platelet-activating factor (PAF) and LysoPAF via a PAF-receptor–independent mechanism: evidence for a novel receptor. *The Journal of Immunology*, *184*(11), pp.6327-6334.

Elias, J.A., Homer, R.J., Hamid, Q. and Lee, C.G., 2005. Chitinases and chitinase-like proteins in TH2 inflammation and asthma. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 116(3), pp.497-500.

Enaud, R., Prevel, R., Ciarlo, E., Beaufils, F., Wieërs, G., Guery, B. and Delhaes, L., 2020. The Gut-Lung Axis in Health and Respiratory Diseases: A Place for Inter-Organ and Inter-Kingdom Crosstalks. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, *10*, p.9.

Enobe, C.S., Araujo, C.A., Perini, A., Martins, M.A., Macedo, M.S. and Macedo-Soares, M.F., 2006. Early stages of Ascaris suum induce airway inflammation and hyperreactivity in a mouse model. *Parasite immunology*, *28*(9), pp.453-461.

Erard, F., Wild, M.T., Garcia-Sanz, J.A. and Le Gros, G., 1993. Switch of CD8 T cells to noncytolytic CD8-CD4-cells that make TH2 cytokines and help B cells. *Science*, *260*(5115), pp.1802-1805.

Eriguchi, Y., Nakamura, K., Yokoi, Y., Sugimoto, R., Takahashi, S., Hashimoto, D., Teshima, T., Ayabe, T., Selsted, M.E. and Ouellette, A.J., 2018. Essential role of IFN-γ in T cell– associated intestinal inflammation. *JCI insight*, *3*(18).

Esnault, S. and Kelly, E.A., 2016. Essential mechanisms of differential activation of eosinophils by IL-3 compared to GM-CSF and IL-5. *Critical Reviews™ in Immunology*, *36*(5).

Fahy, J.V., 2009. Eosinophilic and neutrophilic inflammation in asthma: insights from clinical studies. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*, 6(3), pp.256-259.

Fajt, M.L. and Wenzel, S.E., 2015. Asthma phenotypes and the use of biologic medications in asthma and allergic disease: the next steps toward personalized care. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *135*(2), pp.299-310.

Fallon, P.G. and Mangan, N.E., 2007. Suppression of TH 2-type allergic reactions by helminth infection. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *7*(3), pp.220-230.

Farhan, R.K., Vickers, M.A., Ghaemmaghami, A.M., Hall, A.M., Barker, R.N. and Walsh, G.M., 2016. Effective antigen presentation to helper T cells by human eosinophils. *Immunology,* 149(4), pp.413-422.

Farin, H.F., Karthaus, W.R., Kujala, P., Rakhshandehroo, M., Schwank, G., Vries, R.G., Kalkhoven, E., Nieuwenhuis, E.E. and Clevers, H., 2014. Paneth cell extrusion and release of antimicrobial products is directly controlled by immune cell–derived IFN-γ. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *211*(7), pp.1393-1405.

Feleszko, W., Jaworska, J., Rha, R.D., Steinhausen, S., Avagyan, A., Jaudszus, A., Ahrens, B., Groneberg, D.A., Wahn, U. and Hamelmann, E., 2007. Probiotic-induced suppression of allergic sensitization and airway inflammation is associated with an increase of T regulatory-dependent mechanisms in a murine model of asthma. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, 37(4), pp.498-505.

Feltenmark, S., Gautam, N., Brunnström, Å., Griffiths, W., Backman, L., Edenius, C., Lindbom, L., Björkholm, M. and Claesson, H.E., 2008. Eoxins are proinflammatory arachidonic acid metabolites produced via the 15-lipoxygenase-1 pathway in human eosinophils and mast cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *105*(2), pp.680-685.

Filbey, K.J., Camberis, M., Chandler, J., Turner, R., Kettle, A.J., Eichenberger, R.M., Giacomin, P. and Le Gros, G., 2019. Intestinal helminth infection promotes IL-5-and CD4+ T cell-dependent immunity in the lung against migrating parasites. *Mucosal immunology*, *12*(2), pp.352-362.

Finn, P.W. and Bigby, T.D., 2009. Innate immunity and asthma. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*, 6(3), pp.260-265.

Fiorentino, M.A., Paolicchi, F.A., Campero, C.M. and Barbeito, C.G., 2018. Lectin binding patterns and immunohistochemical antigen detection in placenta and lungs of Brucella abortusbovine infected fetuses. *Open veterinary journal*, *8*(1), pp.57-63.

Frati, F., Salvatori, C., Incorvaia, C., Bellucci, A., Di Cara, G., Marcucci, F. and Esposito, S., 2019. The role of the microbiome in Asthma: The Gut–Lung axis. *International journal of molecular sciences*, *20*(1), p.123.

Frigas, E., DA, L. and GJ, G., 1980. Cytotoxic effects of the guinea pig eosinophil major basic protein on tracheal epithelium.

Frumento, G., Zuo, J., Verma, K., Croft, W., Ramagiri, P., Chen, F.E. and Moss, P., 2019. CD117 (c-Kit) Is Expressed During CD8+ T Cell Priming and Stratifies Sensitivity to Apoptosis According to Strength of TCR Engagement. *Frontiers in immunology*, *10*, p.468.

Fujimura, K.E., Sitarik, A.R., Havstad, S., Lin, D.L., Levan, S., Fadrosh, D., Panzer, A.R., LaMere, B., Rackaityte, E., Lukacs, N.W. and Wegienka, G., 2016. Neonatal gut microbiota associates with childhood multisensitized atopy and T cell differentiation. *Nature medicine*, *22*(10), pp.1187-1191.

Fulkerson, P.C., Schollaert, K.L., Bouffi, C. and Rothenberg, M.E., 2014. IL-5 triggers a cooperative cytokine network that promotes eosinophil precursor maturation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 193(8), pp.4043-4052.

Furusawa, Y., Obata, Y., Fukuda, S., Endo, T.A., Nakato, G., Takahashi, D., Nakanishi, Y., Uetake, C., Kato, K., Kato, T. and Takahashi, M., 2013. Commensal microbe-derived butyrate induces the differentiation of colonic regulatory T cells. *Nature*, *504*(7480), pp.446-450.

Garcia, G., Taillé, C., Laveneziana, P., Bourdin, A., Chanez, P. and Humbert, M., 2013. Antiinterleukin-5 therapy in severe asthma. *European Respiratory Review*, 22(129), pp.251-257.

Gazzinelli-Guimaraes, P.H., de Queiroz Prado, R., Ricciardi, A., Bonne-Année, S., Sciurba, J., Karmele, E.P., Fujiwara, R.T. and Nutman, T.B., 2019. Allergen presensitization drives an eosinophil-dependent arrest in lung-specific helminth development. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *129*(9).

Gebreselassie, N.G., Moorhead, A.R., Fabre, V., Gagliardo, L.F., Lee, N.A., Lee, J.J. and Appleton, J.A., 2012. Eosinophils preserve parasitic nematode larvae by regulating local immunity. *The Journal of Immunology*, *188*(1), pp.417-425.

Gleich, G.J. and Adolphson, C.R., 1986. The eosinophilic leukocyte: structure and function. In *Advances in immunology* (Vol. 39, pp. 177-253). Academic Press.

Gleich, G.J., Frigas, E., Loegering, D.A., Wassom, D.L. and Steinmuller, D., 1979. Cytotoxic properties of the eosinophil major basic protein. *The Journal of Immunology*, *123*(6), pp.2925-2927.

Goh, Y.S., Henderson, N.C., Heredia, J.E., Eagle, A.R., Odegaard, J.I., Lehwald, N., Nguyen, K.D., Sheppard, D., Mukundan, L., Locksley, R.M. and Chawla, A., 2013. Eosinophils secrete IL-4 to facilitate liver regeneration. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(24), pp.9914-9919.

Gollwitzer, E.S., Saglani, S., Trompette, A., Yadava, K., Sherburn, R., McCoy, K.D., Nicod, L.P., Lloyd, C.M. and Marsland, B.J., 2014. Lung microbiota promotes tolerance to allergens in neonates via PD-L1. *Nature medicine*, 20(6), p.642.

Gonzalez, J.P. and Brogden, R.N., 1987. Nedocromil sodium. Drugs, 34(5), pp.560-577.

Gonzalo, J.A., Lloyd, C.M., Wen, D., Albar, J.P., Wells, T.N., Proudfoot, A., Martinez-a, C., Dorf, M., Bjerke, T., Coyle, A.J. and Gutierrez-Ramos, J.C., 1998. The coordinated action of CC chemokines in the lung orchestrates allergic inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, *188*(1), pp.157-167.

Gouon-Evans, V., Rothenberg, M.E. and Pollard, J.W., 2000. Postnatal mammary gland development requires macrophages and eosinophils. *Development*, 127(11), pp.2269-2282.

Goyal, J.P., Kumar, P. and Singh, S., 2019. Association of Blood Eosinophil and Neutrophil with Asthma Control in Children. *European Respiratory Journal.*

Greenfeder, S., Umland, S.P., Cuss, F.M., Chapman, R.W. and Egan, R.W., 2001. Th2 cytokines and asthma the role of interleukin-5 in allergic eosinophilic disease. *Respiratory research*, *2*(2), p.71.

Gregory, L.G. and Lloyd, C.M., 2011. Orchestrating house dust mite-associated allergy in the lung. *Trends in immunology*, *32*(9), pp.402-411.

Grinnan, D., Sung, S.S., Dougherty, J.A., Knowles, A.R., Allen, M.B., Rose III, C.E., Nakano, H., Gunn, M.D., Fu, S.M. and Rose Jr, C.E., 2006. Enhanced allergen-induced airway inflammation in paucity of lymph node T cell (plt) mutant mice. *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, 118(6), pp.1234-1241.

Grondin, J.A., Kwon, Y.H., Far, P.M., Haq, S. and Khan, W.I., 2020. Mucins in intestinal mucosal defense and inflammation: learning from clinical and experimental studies. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *11*, p.2054.

Guerra, E.S., Lee, C.K., Specht, C.A., Yadav, B., Huang, H., Akalin, A., Huh, J.R., Mueller, C. and Levitz, S.M., 2017. Central role of IL-23 and IL-17 producing eosinophils as immunomodulatory effector cells in acute pulmonary aspergillosis and allergic asthma. *PLoS pathogens*, 13(1), p.e1006175.

Guillard, C., Chrétien, S., Pelus, A.S., Porteu, F., Muller, O., Mayeux, P. and Duprez, V., 2003. Activation of the Mitogen-activated Protein Kinases Erk1/2 by Erythropoietin Receptor via a Gi Protein βγ-Subunit-initiated Pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(13), pp.11050-11056.

Guilliams, M., De Kleer, I., Henri, S., Post, S., Vanhoutte, L., De Prijck, S., Deswarte, K., Malissen, B., Hammad, H. and Lambrecht, B.N., 2013. Alveolar macrophages develop from fetal monocytes that differentiate into long-lived cells in the first week of life via GM-CSF. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *210*(10), pp.1977-1992.

Gurish, M.F., Humbles, A., Tao, H., Finkelstein, S., Boyce, J.A., Gerard, C., Friend, D.S. and Austen, K.F., 2002. CCR3 is required for tissue eosinophilia and larval cytotoxicity after infection with Trichinella spiralis. *The Journal of Immunology*, *168*(11), pp.5730-5736.

Hall, L.R., Mehlotra, R.K., Higgins, A.W., Haxhiu, M.A. and Pearlman, E., 1998. An essential role for interleukin-5 and eosinophils in helminth-induced airway hyperresponsiveness. *Infection and Immunity*, 66(9), pp.4425-4430.

Halnes, I., Baines, K.J., Berthon, B.S., MacDonald-Wicks, L.K., Gibson, P.G. and Wood, L.G., 2017. Soluble fibre meal challenge reduces airway inflammation and expression of GPR43 and GPR41 in asthma. *Nutrients*, 9(1), p.57.

Hamid, Q., 2003. Gross pathology and histopathology of asthma. *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, *111*(2), pp.431-432.

Hammad, H., Chieppa, M., Perros, F., Willart, M.A., Germain, R.N. and Lambrecht, B.N., 2009. House dust mite allergen induces asthma via Toll-like receptor 4 triggering of airway structural cells. *Nature medicine*, *15*(4), p.410.

Hammad, H., Plantinga, M., Deswarte, K., Pouliot, P., Willart, M.A., Kool, M., Muskens, F. and Lambrecht, B.N., 2010. Inflammatory dendritic cells—not basophils—are necessary and sufficient for induction of Th2 immunity to inhaled house dust mite allergen. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 207(10), pp.2097-2111.

Hansen, G., Berry, G., DeKruyff, R.H. and Umetsu, D.T., 1999. Allergen-specific Th1 cells fail to counterbalance Th2 cell–induced airway hyperreactivity but cause severe airway inflammation. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *103*(2), pp.175-183.

Hartl, D., Tirouvanziam, R., Laval, J., Greene, C.M., Habiel, D., Sharma, L., Yildirim, A.Ö., Cruz, C.S.D. and Hogaboam, C.M., 2018. Innate immunity of the lung: from basic mechanisms to translational medicine. *Journal of innate immunity*, 10(5-6), pp.487-501

Harvie, M., Camberis, M., Tang, S.C., Delahunt, B., Paul, W. and Le Gros, G., 2010. The lung is an important site for priming CD4 T-cell-mediated protective immunity against gastrointestinal helminth parasites. *Infection and immunity*, *78*(9), pp.3753-3762.

Hasenberg, M., Stegemann-Koniszewski, S. and Gunzer, M., 2013. Cellular immune reactions in the lung. *Immunological reviews*, *251*(1), pp.189-214.

Heredia, J.E., Mukundan, L., Chen, F.M., Mueller, A.A., Deo, R.C., Locksley, R.M., Rando, T.A. and Chawla, A., 2013. Type 2 innate signals stimulate fibro/adipogenic progenitors to facilitate muscle regeneration. *Cell*, 153(2), pp.376-388.

Hodzic, Z., Schill, E.M., Bolock, A.M. and Good, M., 2017. IL-33 and the intestine: the good, the bad, and the inflammatory. *Cytokine*, *100*, pp.1-10.

Hoffman, W., Lakkis, F.G. and Chalasani, G., 2016. B cells, antibodies, and more. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 11(1), pp.137-154.

Hogan, S.P., Rosenberg, H.F., Moqbel, R., Phipps, S., Foster, P.S., Lacy, P., Kay, A.B. and Rothenberg, M.E., 2008. Eosinophils: biological properties and role in health and disease. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, 38(5), pp.709-750

Holcomb, I.N., Kabakoff, R.C., Chan, B., Baker, T.W., Gurney, A., Henzel, W., Nelson, C., Lowman, H.B., Wright, B.D., Skelton, N.J. and Frantz, G.D., 2000. FIZZ1, a novel cysteine-rich secreted protein associated with pulmonary inflammation, defines a new gene family. *The EMBO journal*, *19*(15), pp.4046-4055.

Hougee, S., Vriesema, A.J.M., Wijering, S.C., Knippels, L.M.J., Folkerts, G., Nijkamp, F.P., Knol, J. and Garssen, J., 2010. Oral treatment with probiotics reduces allergic symptoms in ovalbumin-sensitized mice: a bacterial strain comparative study. *International archives of allergy and immunology*, 151(2), pp.107-117.

Huang, T.J., MacAry, P.A., Eynott, P., Moussavi, A., Daniel, K.C., Askenase, P.W., Kemeny, D.M. and Chung, K.F., 2001. Allergen-specific Th1 cells counteract efferent Th2 cell-dependent bronchial hyperresponsiveness and eosinophilic inflammation partly via IFN-γ. *The Journal of Immunology*, *166*(1), pp.207-217.

Huerta-Yepez, S., Baay-Guzman, G.J., Bebenek, I.G., Hernandez-Pando, R., Vega, M.I., Chi, L., Riedl, M., Diaz-Sanchez, D., Kleerup, E., Tashkin, D.P. and Gonzalez, F.J., 2011. Hypoxia inducible factor promotes murine allergic airway inflammation and is increased in asthma and rhinitis. *Allergy*, *66*(7), pp.909-918.

Huffnagle, G.B., 2010. The microbiota and allergies/asthma. PLoS pathogens, 6(5).

Hufnagl, K., Pali-Schöll, I., Roth-Walter, F. and Jensen-Jarolim, E., 2020, February. Dysbiosis of the gut and lung microbiome has a role in asthma. In *Seminars in Immunopathology* (pp. 1-19). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.

Humbles, A.A., Conroy, D.M., Marleau, S., Rankin, S.M., Palframan, R.T., Proudfoot, A.E., Wells, T.N., Li, D., Jeffery, P.K., Griffiths-Johnson, D.A. and Williams, T.J., 1997. Kinetics of eotaxin generation and its relationship to eosinophil accumulation in allergic airways disease: analysis in a guinea pig model in vivo. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, *186*(4), pp.601-612.

Humbles, A.A., Lloyd, C.M., McMillan, S.J., Friend, D.S., Xanthou, G., McKenna, E.E., Ghiran, S., Gerard, N.P., Yu, C., Orkin, S.H. and Gerard, C., 2004. A critical role for eosinophils in allergic airways remodeling. *Science*, *305*(5691), pp.1776-1779.

Hunt, L.W., Frigas, E., Butterfield, J.H., Kita, H., Blomgren, J., Dunnette, S.L., Offord, K.P. and Gleich, G.J., 2004. Treatment of asthma with nebulized lidocaine: a randomized, placebocontrolled study. *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, 113(5), pp.853-859.

Hussell, T. and Bell, T.J., 2014. Alveolar macrophages: plasticity in a tissue-specific context. *Nature reviews immunology*, 14(2), pp.81-93

Hwang, C.S., Park, S.C., Cho, H.J., Park, D.J., Yoon, J.H. and Kim, C.H., 2019. Eosinophil extracellular trap formation is closely associated with disease severity in chronic rhinosinusitis regardless of nasal polyp status. *Scientific reports*, *9*(1), pp.1-8.

Inman, M.D., 2000. Bone marrow events in animal models of allergic inflammation and hyperresponsiveness. *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, *106*(5), pp.S235-S241.

Iwasaki, H. and Akashi, K., 2007. Myeloid lineage commitment from the hematopoietic stem cell. *Immunity*, *26*(6), pp.726-740.

Jacobsen, E.A., Helmers, R.A., Lee, J.J. and Lee, N.A., 2012. The expanding role (s) of eosinophils in health and disease. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology*, *120*(19), pp.3882-3890.

Jacobsen, E.A., Lee, N.A. and Lee, J.J., 2014. Re-defining the unique roles for eosinophils in allergic respiratory inflammation. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, *44*(9), pp.1119-1136.

Jacobsen, E.A., LeSuer, W.E., Willetts, L., Zellner, K.R., Mazzolini, K., Antonios, N., Beck, B., Protheroe, C., Ochkur, S.I., Colbert, D. and Lacy, P., 2014. Eosinophil activities modulate the immune/inflammatory character of allergic respiratory responses in mice. *Allergy*, *69*(3), pp.315-327.

Janeway Jr, C.A., Travers, P., Walport, M. and Shlomchik, M.J., 2001. Principles of innate and adaptive immunity. In *Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease. 5th edition*. Garland Science.

Jang, S.O., Kim, H.J., Kim, Y.J., Kang, M.J., Kwon, J.W., Seo, J.H., Kim, H.Y., Kim, B.J., Yu, J. and Hong, S.J., 2012. Asthma prevention by Lactobacillus rhamnosus in a mouse model is associated with CD4+ CD25+ Foxp3+ T cells. *Allergy, asthma & immunology research*, 4(3), pp.150-156.

Jia, Y., Takeda, K., Han, J., Joetham, A., Marcus, R.A., Lucas, J.J., O'Connor, B.P. and Gelfand, E.W., 2013. Stepwise epigenetic and phenotypic alterations poise CD8+ T cells to mediate airway hyperresponsiveness and inflammation. *The Journal of Immunology*, *190*(8), pp.4056-4065.

Johansson, K. and McSorley, H.J., 2019. Interleukin-33 in the developing lung—Roles in asthma and infection. *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology*, *30*(5), pp.503-510.

Johnston, L.K. and Bryce, P.J., 2017. Understanding interleukin 33 and its roles in eosinophil development. *Frontiers in medicine*, 4, p.51.

Johnston, L.K., Hsu, C.L., Krier-Burris, R.A., Chhiba, K.D., Chien, K.B., McKenzie, A., Berdnikovs, S. and Bryce, P.J., 2016. IL-33 precedes IL-5 in regulating eosinophil commitment and is required for eosinophil homeostasis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 197(9), pp.3445-3453.

Jones, N., Vincent, E.E., Felix, L.C., Cronin, J.G., Scott, L.M., Hole, P.S., Lacy, P. and Thornton, C.A., 2019. Interleukin-5 drives glycolysis and reactive oxygen species-dependent citric acid cycling by eosinophils. *Allergy*.

Jung, K.H., Shin, D., Kim, S., Kim, W., Kim, J., Lee, G. and Bae, H., 2019. Intratracheal ovalbumin administration induces colitis through the IFN- γ pathway in mice. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *10*, p.530.

Jung, Y., Wen, T., Mingler, M.K., Caldwell, J.M., Wang, Y.H., Chaplin, D.D., Lee, E.H., Jang, M.H., Woo, S.Y., Seoh, J.Y. and Miyasaka, M., 2015. IL-1β in eosinophil-mediated small intestinal homeostasis and IgA production. *Mucosal immunology*, 8(4), pp.930-942.

Junttila, I.S., 2018. Tuning the cytokine responses: an update on interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-13 receptor complexes. *Frontiers in immunology*, 9, p.888.

Kabesch, M., Depner, M., Dahmen, I., Weiland, S.K., Vogelberg, C., Niggemann, B., Lau, S., Illig, T., Klopp, N., Wahn, U. and Reinhardt, D., 2007. Polymorphisms in eosinophil pathway genes, asthma and atopy. *Allergy*, *62*(4), pp.423-428.

Kanda, A., Driss, V., Hornez, N., Abdallah, M., Roumier, T., Abboud, G., Legrand, F., Staumont-Sallé, D., Quéant, S., Bertout, J. and Fleury, S., 2009. Eosinophil-derived IFN-γ induces airway hyperresponsiveness and lung inflammation in the absence of lymphocytes. *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, *124*(3), pp.573-582.

Kang, B.N., Ha, S.G., Bahaie, N.S., Hosseinkhani, M.R., Ge, X.N., Blumenthal, M.N., Rao, S.P. and Sriramarao, P., 2013. Regulation of serotonin-induced trafficking and migration of eosinophils. *PLoS One*, 8(1).

Kasubuchi, M., Hasegawa, S., Hiramatsu, T., Ichimura, A. and Kimura, I., 2015. Dietary gut microbial metabolites, short-chain fatty acids, and host metabolic regulation. *Nutrients*, 7(4), pp.2839-2849.

Kay, A.B., 2005. The role of eosinophils in the pathogenesis of asthma. *Trends in molecular medicine*, *11*(4), pp.148-152.

Kay, A.B., Barata, L., Meng, Q., Durham, S.R. and Ying, S., 1997. Eosinophils and eosinophilassociated cytokines in allergic inflammation. *International archives of allergy and immunology*, *113*(1-3), pp.196-199.

Keely, S., Talley, N.J. and Hansbro, P.M., 2012. Pulmonary-intestinal cross-talk in mucosal inflammatory disease. *Mucosal immunology*, *5*(1), pp.7-18.

Kim, H.J., Alonzo, E.S., Dorothee, G., Pollard, J.W. and Sant'Angelo, D.B., 2010. Selective depletion of eosinophils or neutrophils in mice impacts the efficiency of apoptotic cell clearance in the thymus. *PloS one*, *5*(7).

Kim, J.J. and Khan, W.I., 2013. Goblet cells and mucins: role in innate defense in enteric infections. *Pathogens*, *2*(1), pp.55-70.

Kim, Y.M., Kim, Y.S., Jeon, S.G. and Kim, Y.K., 2013. Immunopathogenesis of allergic asthma: more than the th2 hypothesis. *Allergy, asthma & immunology research, 5*(4), pp.189-196.

Kim, Y.S. and Ho, S.B., 2010. Intestinal goblet cells and mucins in health and disease: recent insights and progress. *Current gastroenterology reports*, 12(5), pp.319-330.

Kirino, Y., Mio, M. and Kamei, C., 2000. Regulatory mechanism of eosinophil peroxidase release from guinea pig eosinophils. *The Japanese Journal of Pharmacology*, *83*(4), pp.293-299.

Klion, A., 2017. Recent advances in understanding eosinophil biology. F1000Research, 6.

Klion, A.D. and Nutman, T.B., 2004. The role of eosinophils in host defense against helminth parasites. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *113*(1), pp.30-37.

Knott, M.L., Matthaei, K.I., Giacomin, P.R., Wang, H., Foster, P.S. and Dent, L.A., 2007. Impaired resistance in early secondary Nippostrongylus brasiliensis infections in mice with defective eosinophilopoeisis. *International journal for parasitology*, *37*(12), pp.1367-1378.

Koh, A., De Vadder, F., Kovatcheva-Datchary, P. and Bäckhed, F., 2016. From dietary fiber to host physiology: short-chain fatty acids as key bacterial metabolites. *Cell*, *165*(6), pp.1332-1345.

Kondo, M., Weissman, I.L. and Akashi, K., 1997. Identification of clonogenic common lymphoid progenitors in mouse bone marrow. *Cell*, 91(5), pp.661-672

Konieczna, P., Groeger, D., Ziegler, M., Frei, R., Ferstl, R., Shanahan, F., Quigley, E.M., Kiely, B., Akdis, C.A. and O'Mahony, L., 2012. Bifidobacterium infantis 35624 administration induces Foxp3 T regulatory cells in human peripheral blood: potential role for myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Gut*, 61(3), pp.354-366.

Kopf, M., Brombacher, F., Hodgkin, P.D., Ramsay, A.J., Milbourne, E.A., Dai, W.J., Ovington, K.S., Behm, C.A., Köhler, G., Young, I.G. and Matthaei, K.I., 1996. IL-5-deficient mice have a developmental defect in CD5+ B-1 cells and lack eosinophilia but have normal antibody and cytotoxic T cell responses. *Immunity*, *4*(1), pp.15-24.

Kostylina, G., Simon, D., Fey, M.F., Yousefi, S. and Simon, H.U., 2008. Neutrophil apoptosis mediated by nicotinic acid receptors (GPR109A). *Cell Death & Differentiation*, *15*(1), pp.134-142.

Kouro, T. and Takatsu, K., 2009. IL-5-and eosinophil-mediated inflammation: from discovery to therapy. *International immunology*, 21(12), pp.1303-1309.

Kraft, M., Martin, R.J., Wilson, S., Djukanovic, R. and Holgate, S.T., 1999. Lymphocyte and eosinophil influx into alveolar tissue in nocturnal asthma. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, *159*(1), pp.228-234.

Kroegel, C., Yukawa, T., Dent, G., Chanez, P., Chung, K.F. and Barnes, P.J., 1988. Plateletactivating factor induces eosinophil peroxidase release from purified human eosinophils. *Immunology*, *64*(3), p.559.

Kucharzik, T., Lugering, A., Yan, Y., Driss, A., Charrier, L., Sitaraman, S. and Merlin, D., 2005. Activation of epithelial CD98 glycoprotein perpetuates colonic inflammation. *Laboratory investigation*, *85*(7), pp.932-941.

Kumar, T., Pandey, R. and Chauhan, N.S., 2020. Hypoxia Inducible Factor-1α: The Curator of Gut Homeostasis. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, *10*.

Kurowska-Stolarska, M., Stolarski, B., Kewin, P., Murphy, G., Corrigan, C.J., Ying, S., Pitman, N., Mirchandani, A., Rana, B., van Rooijen, N. and Shepherd, M., 2009. IL-33 amplifies the polarization of alternatively activated macrophages that contribute to airway inflammation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 183(10), pp.6469-6477.

Kuruvilla, M.E., Lee, F.E.H. and Lee, G.B., 2019. Understanding asthma phenotypes, endotypes, and mechanisms of disease. *Clinical reviews in allergy & immunology*, *56*(2), pp.219-233.

Lambrecht, B.N. and Hammad, H., 2015. The immunology of asthma. *Nature immunology*, *16*(1), p.45.

Lambrecht, B.N., Pauwels, R.A. and Groth, B.F.D.S., 2000. Induction of rapid T cell activation, division, and recirculation by intratracheal injection of dendritic cells in a TCR transgenic model. *The Journal of Immunology*, 164(6), pp.2937-2946.

LeBien, T.W. and Tedder, T.F., 2008. B lymphocytes: how they develop and function. *Blood*, *112*(5), pp.1570-1580.

Lee, H.Y., Min, K.H., Lee, S.M., Lee, J.E. and Rhee, C.K., 2017. Clinical significance of serum vascular endothelial growth factor in young male asthma patients. *The Korean journal of internal medicine*, *32*(2), p.295.

Lee, J.J., Dimina, D., Macias, M.P., Ochkur, S.I., McGarry, M.P., O'Neill, K.R., Protheroe, C., Pero, R., Nguyen, T., Cormier, S.A. and Lenkiewicz, E., 2004. Defining a link with asthma in mice congenitally deficient in eosinophils. *Science*, *305*(5691), pp.1773-1776.

Lee, J.J., Jacobsen, E.A., McGarry, M.P., Schleimer, R.P. and Lee, N.A., 2010. Eosinophils in health and disease: the LIAR hypothesis. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, *40*(4), pp.563-575.

Lee, M.Y., Ahn, K.S., Kwon, O.K., Kim, M.J., Kim, M.K., Lee, I.Y., Oh, S.R. and Lee, H.K., 2007. Anti-inflammatory and anti-allergic effects of kefir in a mouse asthma model. *Immunobiology*, 212(8), pp.647-654.

Lefkowitz, D.L., Lincoln, J.A., Howard, K.R., Stuart, R., Lefkowitz, S.S. and Allen, R.C., 1997. Macrophage-mediated candidacidal activity is augmented by exposure to eosinophil peroxidase: a paradigm for eosinophil-macrophage interaction. *Inflammation*, 21(2), pp.159-172.

Lennartsson, J. and Rönnstrand, L., 2012. Stem cell factor receptor/c-Kit: from basic science to clinical implications. *Physiological reviews*, 92(4), pp.1619-1649.

Li, B.W., Stadhouders, R., De Bruijn, M.J., Lukkes, M., Beerens, D.M., Brem, M.D., KleinJan, A., Bergen, I., Vroman, H., Kool, M. and van IJcken, W.F., 2017. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells exhibit a dynamic phenotype in allergic airway inflammation. *Frontiers in immunology*, *8*, p.1684.

Li, G., Deng, X., Wu, C., Zhou, Q., Chen, L., Shi, Y., Huang, H. and Zhou, N., 2011. Distinct kinetic and spatial patterns of protein kinase C (PKC)-and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-dependent activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2 by human nicotinic acid receptor GPR109A. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(36), pp.31199-31212.

Liu, A.H., 2015. Revisiting the hygiene hypothesis for allergy and asthma. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 136(4), pp.860-865.

Liu, C., Zhang, X., Xiang, Y., Qu, X., Liu, H., Liu, C., Tan, M., Jiang, J. and Qin, X., 2018. Role of epithelial chemokines in the pathogenesis of airway inflammation in asthma. *Molecular medicine reports*, *17*(5), pp.6935-6941.

Liu, L.Y., Mathur, S.K., Sedgwick, J.B., Jarjour, N.N., Busse, W.W. and Kelly, E.A.B., 2006. Human airway and peripheral blood eosinophils enhance Th1 and Th2 cytokine secretion. *Allergy*, *61*(5), pp.589-597.

Liu, L.Y., Sedgwick, J.B., Bates, M.E., Vrtis, R.F., Gern, J.E., Kita, H., Jarjour, N.N., Busse, W.W. and Kelly, E.A., 2002. Decreased expression of membrane IL-5 receptor α on human eosinophils: I. Loss of membrane IL-5 receptor α on airway eosinophils and increased soluble

IL-5 receptor α in the airway after allergen challenge. *The Journal of Immunology*, *169*(11), pp.6452-6458.

Liu, Y., Wang, X.Y., Yang, X., Jing, S., Zhu, L. and Gao, S.H., 2013. Lung and intestine: a specific link in an ulcerative colitis rat model. *Gastroenterology research and practice*, 2013.

Lobo, S.M., Orrico, S.R.P., Queiroz, M.M., Cunrath, G.S., Chibeni, G.S., Contrin, L.M., Cury, P.M., de Almeida Burdmann, E., de Oliveira Machado, A.M., Togni, P. and De Backer, D., 2005. Pneumonia-induced sepsis and gut injury: effects of a poly-(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitor. *Journal of Surgical Research*, *129*(2), pp.292-297.

Löhning, M., Stroehmann, A., Coyle, A.J., Grogan, J.L., Lin, S., Gutierrez-Ramos, J.C., Levinson, D., Radbruch, A. and Kamradt, T., 1998. T1/ST2 is preferentially expressed on murine Th2 cells, independent of interleukin 4, interleukin 5, and interleukin 10, and important for Th2 effector function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *95*(12), pp.6930-6935.

Lopetuso, L.R., Scaldaferri, F. and Pizarro, T.T., 2012. Emerging role of the interleukin (IL)-33/ST2 axis in gut mucosal wound healing and fibrosis. *Fibrogenesis & tissue repair*, *5*(1), p.18.

Louis, P. and Flint, H.J., 2017. Formation of propionate and butyrate by the human colonic microbiota. *Environmental microbiology*, 19(1), pp.29-41.

Luckheeram, R.V., Zhou, R., Verma, A.D. and Xia, B., 2012. CD4+ T cells: differentiation and functions. *Clinical and developmental immunology*, 2012.

Luna-Gomes, T., Bozza, P. and Bandeira-Melo, C., 2013. Eosinophil recruitment and activation: the role of lipid mediators. *Frontiers in pharmacology*, *4*, p.27.

Lundholm, P., Asakura, Y., Hinkula, J., Lucht, E. and Wahren, B., 1999. Induction of mucosal IgA by a novel jet delivery technique for HIV-1 DNA. *Vaccine*, *17*(15-16), pp.2036-2042.

Luo, J.M., Liu, Z.Q. and Eugene, C.Y., 2008. Overexpression of pulmonary surfactant protein A like molecules in inflammatory bowel disease tissues. *Zhong nan da xue xue bao. Yi xue ban= Journal of Central South University. Medical sciences*, *33*(11), pp.979-986.

Macfarlane, S. and Macfarlane, G.T., 2003. Regulation of short-chain fatty acid production. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, *62*(1), pp.67-72.

Macia, L., Tan, J., Vieira, A.T., Leach, K., Stanley, D., Luong, S., Maruya, M., McKenzie, C.I., Hijikata, A., Wong, C. and Binge, L., 2015. Metabolite-sensing receptors GPR43 and GPR109A facilitate dietary fibre-induced gut homeostasis through regulation of the inflammasome. *Nature communications*, 6, p.6734

Maizels, R.M. and Yazdanbakhsh, M., 2003. Immune regulation by helminth parasites: cellular and molecular mechanisms. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *3*(9), pp.733-744.

Maizels, R.M., Balic, A., Gomez-Escobar, N., Nair, M., Taylor, M.D. and Allen, J.E., 2004. Helminth parasites–masters of regulation. *Immunological reviews*, *201*(1), pp.89-116.

Mangan, N.E., van Rooijen, N., McKenzie, A.N. and Fallon, P.G., 2006. Helminth-modified pulmonary immune response protects mice from allergen-induced airway hyperresponsiveness. *The Journal of Immunology*, *176*(1), pp.138-147.

Manz, M.G., Traver, D., Miyamoto, T., Weissman, I.L. and Akashi, K., 2001. Dendritic cell potentials of early lymphoid and myeloid progenitors. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology*, 97(11), pp.3333-3341.

Marichal, T., Mesnil, C. and Bureau, F., 2017. Homeostatic eosinophils: characteristics and functions. *Frontiers in medicine*, *4*, p.101.

Marshall, J.S., Warrington, R., Watson, W. and Kim, H.L., 2018. An introduction to immunology and immunopathology. *Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology,* 14(2), pp.1-10.

Martinez, F.D. and Guerra, S., 2018. Early origins of asthma. Role of microbial dysbiosis and metabolic dysfunction. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 197(5), pp.573-579.

Maslowski, K.M., Vieira, A.T., Ng, A., Kranich, J., Sierro, F., Yu, D., Schilter, H.C., Rolph, M.S., Mackay, F., Artis, D. and Xavier, R.J., 2009. Regulation of inflammatory responses by gut microbiota and chemoattractant receptor GPR43. *Nature*, *461*(7268), pp.1282-1286.

Masoli, M., Fabian, D., Holt, S., Beasley, R. and Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) Program, 2004. The global burden of asthma: executive summary of the GINA Dissemination Committee report. *Allergy*, *59*(5), pp.469-478.

Mathie, S.A., Dixon, K.L., Walker, S.A., Tyrrell, V., Mondhe, M., O'Donnell, V.B., Gregory, L.G. and Lloyd, C.M., 2015. Alveolar macrophages are sentinels of murine pulmonary homeostasis following inhaled antigen challenge. *Allergy*, 70(1), pp.80-89.

Matoso, A., Allen, D., Herzlinger, M., Ferreira, J., Chen, S., Lu, S., Fabre, V., Monahan, R., Yang, D., Noble, L. and Mangray, S., 2014. Correlation of ALOX15 expression with eosinophilic or reflux esophagitis in a cohort of pediatric patients with esophageal eosinophilia. *Human pathology*, *45*(6), pp.1205-1212.

Matthaei, K.I., Foster, P.S. and Young, I.G., 1997. The role of interleukin-5 (IL-5) in vivo: studies with IL-5 deficient mice. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, *92*, pp.63-68.

Mattiuzzi, C. and Lippi, G., 2020, January. Worldwide asthma epidemiology: insights from the Global Health Data Exchange database. In *International Forum of Allergy & Rhinology* (Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 75-80).

Matucci, A., Vultaggio, A., Maggi, E. and Kasujee, I., 2018. Is IgE or eosinophils the key player in allergic asthma pathogenesis? Are we asking the right question?. *Respiratory research*, 19(1), p.113.

Mawhorter, S.D., Stephany, D.A., Ottesen, E.A. and Nutman, T.B., 1996. Identification of surface molecules associated with physiologic activation of eosinophils. Application of wholeblood flow cytometry to eosinophils. *The Journal of Immunology*, *156*(12), pp.4851-4858.

McAleer, J.P. and Kolls, J.K., 2018. Contributions of the intestinal microbiome in lung immunity. *European journal of immunology*, *48*(1), pp.39-49.

McBrien, C.N. and Menzies-Gow, A., 2017. The biology of eosinophils and their role in asthma. *Frontiers in medicine*, *4*, p.93.

McManus, J.F.A., 1948. Histological and histochemical uses of periodic acid. *Stain technology*, *23*(3), pp.99-108.

Melo, R.C., Liu, L., Xenakis, J.J. and Spencer, L.A., 2013. Eosinophil-derived cytokines in health and disease: unraveling novel mechanisms of selective secretion. *Allergy*, *68*(3), pp.274-284.

Mesnil, C., Raulier, S., Paulissen, G., Xiao, X., Birrell, M.A., Pirottin, D., Janss, T., Starkl, P., Ramery, E., Henket, M. and Schleich, F.N., 2016. Lung-resident eosinophils represent a distinct regulatory eosinophil subset. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *126*(9), pp.3279-3295.

Mickael, C.S. and Graham, B.B., 2019. The role of type 2 inflammation in schistosoma-induced pulmonary hypertension. *Frontiers in immunology,* 10.

Miguel, R.D.V., Calla, N.E.Q., Dixon, D., Foster, R.A., Gambotto, A., Pavelko, S.D., Hall-Stoodley, L. and Cherpes, T.L., 2017. IL-4–secreting eosinophils promote endometrial stromal cell proliferation and prevent Chlamydia-induced upper genital tract damage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(33), pp. E6892-E6901.

Mims, J.W., 2015, September. Asthma: definitions and pathophysiology. In *International forum of allergy & rhinology* (Vol. 5, No. S1, pp. S2-S6).

Minton, K., 2008. What'drives' IL-4 versus IL-13 signalling?. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 8(3), pp.167-167.

Mishra, P.K., Palma, M., Bleich, D., Loke, P. and Gause, W.C., 2014. Systemic impact of intestinal helminth infections. *Mucosal immunology*, 7(4), pp.753-762.

Mizuno, N. and Itoh, H., 2009. Functions and regulatory mechanisms of Gq-signaling pathways. *Neurosignals*, *17*(1), pp.42-54.

Mochizuki, M., Bartels, J., Mallet, A.I., Christophers, E. and Schröder, J.M., 1998. IL-4 induces eotaxin: a possible mechanism of selective eosinophil recruitment in helminth infection and atopy. *The Journal of Immunology*, *160*(1), pp.60-68.

Moffatt, M.F. and Cookson, W.O., 2017. The lung microbiome in health and disease. *Clinical Medicine*, 17(6), p.525.

Mohrs, K., Harris, D.P., Lund, F.E. and Mohrs, M., 2005. Systemic dissemination and persistence of Th2 and type 2 cells in response to infection with a strictly enteric nematode parasite. *The Journal of Immunology*, *175*(8), pp.5306-5313.

Mookerjee, S.A., Nicholls, D.G. and Brand, M.D., 2016. Determining maximum glycolytic capacity using extracellular flux measurements. *PloS one*, *11*(3).

Moqbel, R. and Odemuyiwa, S.O., 2008. Allergy, asthma, and inflammation: which inflammatory cell type is more important?. *Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology*, *4*(4), p.150

Morampudi, V., Dalwadi, U., Bhinder, G., Sham, H.P., Gill, S.K., Chan, J., Bergstrom, K.S.B., Huang, T., Ma, C., Jacobson, K. and Gibson, D.L., 2016. The goblet cell-derived mediator RELM-β drives spontaneous colitis in Muc2-deficient mice by promoting commensal microbial dysbiosis. *Mucosal immunology*, *9*(5), pp.1218-1233.

Moro, K., Yamada, T., Tanabe, M., Takeuchi, T., Ikawa, T., Kawamoto, H., Furusawa, J.I., Ohtani, M., Fujii, H. and Koyasu, S., 2010. Innate production of TH 2 cytokines by adipose tissue-associated c-Kit+ Sca-1+ lymphoid cells. *Nature*, *463*(7280), pp.540-544.

Morrison, D.J. and Preston, T., 2016. Formation of short chain fatty acids by the gut microbiota and their impact on human metabolism. *Gut microbes*, 7(3), pp.189-200.

Mukherjee, M., Lacy, P. and Ueki, S., 2018. Eosinophil Extracellular Traps and Inflammatory Pathologies—Untangling the Web!. *Frontiers in immunology*, *9*, p.2763.

Mulder, B., Pouwels, K.B., Schuiling-Veninga, C.C.M., Bos, H.J., De Vries, T.W., Jick, S.S. and Hak, E., 2016. Antibiotic use during pregnancy and asthma in preschool children: the influence of confounding. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, 46(9), pp.1214-1226.

Munitz, A., Cole, E.T., Karo-Atar, D., Finkelman, F.D. and Rothenberg, M.E., 2012. Resistin-Like Molecule–α Regulates IL-13–Induced Chemokine Production but Not Allergen-Induced Airway Responses. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*, *46*(5), pp.703-713.

Munitz, A., Waddell, A., Seidu, L., Cole, E.T., Ahrens, R., Hogan, S.P. and Rothenberg, M.E., 2008. Resistin-like molecule α enhances myeloid cell activation and promotes colitis. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *122*(6), pp.1200-1207.

Murphy, C.A., Langrish, C.L., Chen, Y., Blumenschein, W., McClanahan, T., Kastelein, R.A., Sedgwick, J.D. and Cua, D.J., 2003. Divergent pro-and antiinflammatory roles for IL-23 and IL-12 in joint autoimmune inflammation. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, *198*(12), pp.1951-1957.

Nagai, Y., Garrett, K.P., Ohta, S., Bahrun, U., Kouro, T., Akira, S., Takatsu, K. and Kincade, P.W., 2006. Toll-like receptors on hematopoietic progenitor cells stimulate innate immune system replenishment. *Immunity*, *24*(6), pp.801-812.

Nagre, N., Cong, X., Pearson, A.C. and Zhao, X., 2019. Alveolar Macrophage Phagocytosis and Bacteria Clearance in Mice. *JoVE (Journal of Visualized Experiments)*, (145), p.e59088.

Nair, M.G., Du, Y., Perrigoue, J.G., Zaph, C., Taylor, J.J., Goldschmidt, M., Swain, G.P., Yancopoulos, G.D., Valenzuela, D.M., Murphy, A. and Karow, M., 2009. Alternatively activated macrophage-derived RELM-α is a negative regulator of type 2 inflammation in the lung. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 206(4), pp.937-952.

Nakagome, K., Matsushita, S. and Nagata, M., 2012. Neutrophilic inflammation in severe asthma. *International archives of allergy and immunology*, *158*(Suppl. 1), pp.96-102.

Nakagome, K., Okunishi, K., Imamura, M., Harada, H., Matsumoto, T., Tanaka, R., Miyazaki, J.I., Yamamoto, K. and Dohi, M., 2009. IFN-γ attenuates antigen-induced overall immune response in the airway as a Th1-type immune regulatory cytokine. *The Journal of Immunology*, *183*(1), pp.209-220.

Natchiar, S.K., Suguna, K., Surolia, A. and Vijayan, M., 2007. Peanut agglutinin, a lectin with an unusual quaternary structure and interesting ligand binding properties. Crystallography Reviews, 13(1), pp.3-28.

Nathan, A.T., Peterson, E.A., Chakir, J. and Wills-Karp, M., 2009. Innate immune responses of airway epithelium to house dust mite are mediated through β-glucan–dependent pathways. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 123(3), pp.612-618.

Nelms, K., Keegan, A.D., Zamorano, J., Ryan, J.J. and Paul, W.E., 1999. The IL-4 receptor: signaling mechanisms and biologic functions. *Annual review of immunology*, *17*(1), pp.701-738.

Nguyen, H.T.T. and Merlin, D., 2012. Homeostatic and innate immune responses: role of the transmembrane glycoprotein CD98. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 69(18), pp.3015-3026.

Nguyen, H.T.T., Dalmasso, G., Torkvist, L., Halfvarson, J., Yan, Y., Laroui, H., Shmerling, D., Tallone, T., D'Amato, M., Sitaraman, S.V. and Merlin, D., 2011. CD98 expression modulates intestinal homeostasis, inflammation, and colitis-associated cancer in mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 121(5), pp.1733-1747.

Ni, J.X. and Gao, S.H., 2012. Understanding the viscera-related theory that the lung and large intestine are exterior-interiorly related. *Journal of Traditional Chinese Medicine*, *32*(2), pp.293-298.

Nicholson, L.B., 2016. The immune system. Essays in biochemistry, 60(3), pp.275-301.

Ning, F., Takeda, K., Schedel, M., Domenico, J., Joetham, A. and Gelfand, E.W., 2019. Hypoxia enhances CD8+ TC2 cell–dependent airway hyperresponsiveness and inflammation through hypoxia-inducible factor 1α. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *143*(6), pp.2026-2037.

Noor, Z., Watanabe, K., Abhyankar, M.M., Burgess, S.L., Buonomo, E.L., Cowardin, C.A. and Petri, W.A., 2017. Role of eosinophils and tumor necrosis factor alpha in interleukin-25-mediated protection from amebic colitis. *MBio*, *8*(1), pp.e02329-16.

Norzila, M.Z., FAKES, K., HENRY, R.L., SIMPSON, J. and GIBSON, P.G., 2000. Interleukin-8 secretion and neutrophil recruitment accompanies induced sputum eosinophil activation in children with acute asthma. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, *161*(3), pp.769-774.

Noverr, M.C., Falkowski, N.R., McDonald, R.A., McKenzie, A.N. and Huffnagle, G.B., 2005. Development of allergic airway disease in mice following antibiotic therapy and fungal microbiota increase: role of host genetics, antigen, and interleukin-13. *Infection and immunity*, 73(1), pp.30-38.

Ober, C. and Hoffjan, S., 2006. Asthma genetics 2006: the long and winding road to gene discovery. *Genes & Immunity*, 7(2), pp.95-100.

Odemuyiwa, S.O., Ghahary, A., Li, Y., Puttagunta, L., Lee, J.E., Musat-Marcu, S., Ghahary, A. and Moqbel, R., 2004. Cutting edge: human eosinophils regulate T cell subset selection through indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase. *The Journal of Immunology*, *173*(10), pp.5909-5913.

Ogawa, Y. and Calhoun, W.J., 2006. The role of leukotrienes in airway inflammation. *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, 118(4), pp.789-798.

Olbrich, C.L., Bivas-Benita, M., Xenakis, J.J., Maldonado, S., Cornwell, E., Fink, J., Yuan, Q., Gill, N., Mansfield, R., Dockstader, K. and Spencer, L.A., 2020. Remote allergen exposure elicits eosinophil infiltration into allergen nonexposed mucosal organs and primes for allergic inflammation. *Mucosal Immunology*, pp.1-11.

Orivuori, L., Mustonen, K., De Goffau, M.C., Hakala, S., Paasela, M., Roduit, C., Dalphin, J.C., Genuneit, J., Lauener, R., Riedler, J. and Weber, J., 2015. High level of fecal calprotectin at age 2 months as a marker of intestinal inflammation predicts atopic dermatitis and asthma by age 6. *Clinical & experimental allergy*, *45*(5), pp.928-939.

Ost, K.S. and Round, J.L., 2017. A Few Good Commensals: Gut Microbes Use IFN-γ to Fight Salmonella. *Immunity*, *46*(6), pp.977-979.

Page, S.M., Gleich, G.J., Roebuck, K.A. and Thomas, L.L., 1999. Stimulation of neutrophil interleukin-8 production by eosinophil granule major basic protein. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*, 21(2), pp.230-237.

Pandey, S., Hoselton, S.A. and Schuh, J.M., 2013. The impact of Aspergillus fumigatus viability and sensitization to its allergens on the murine allergic asthma phenotype. *BioMed research international*, 2013.

Park, J., Kim, M., Kang, S.G., Jannasch, A.H., Cooper, B., Patterson, J. and Kim, C.H., 2015. Short-chain fatty acids induce both effector and regulatory T cells by suppression of histone deacetylases and regulation of the mTOR–S6K pathway. Mucosal immunology, 8(1), pp.80-93.

Parkin, J. and Cohen, B., 2001. An overview of the immune system. *The Lancet*, 357(9270), pp.1777-1789.

Pastorelli, L., Garg, R.R., Mattioli, B., De Salvo, C., Corridoni, D., Vecchi, M. and Pizarro, T.T., 2011. Interleukin-17 producing CD11b+ population is selectively expanded by interleukin-33 in an experimental model of spontaneous intestinal inflammation. *Gastroenterology*, *140*(5), pp.S-115.

Patel, B.V., Tatham, K.C., Wilson, M.R., O'Dea, K.P. and Takata, M., 2015. In vivo compartmental analysis of leukocytes in mouse lungs. *American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, 309(7), pp.L639-L652.

Paul, W.E. and Zhu, J., 2010. How are T H 2-type immune responses initiated and amplified?. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *10*(4), pp.225-235.

Pease, J.E. and Williams, T.J., 2019. Tipping the balance: A biased nanobody antagonist of CCR3 with potential for the treatment of eosinophilic inflammation. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *143*(2), pp.552-553.

Perrone, E.E., Jung, E., Breed, E., Dominguez, J.A., Liang, Z., Clark, A.T., Dunne, W.M., Burd, E.M. and Coopersmith, C.M., 2012. Mechanisms of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia-induced intestinal epithelial apoptosis. *Shock (Augusta, Ga.),* 38(1), p.68.

Peterson, C.G., Jörnvall, H. and Venge, P., 1988. Purification and characterization of eosinophil cationic protein from normal human eosinophils. *European journal of haematology*, *40*(5), pp.415-423.

Phipps, S., Lam, C.E., Mahalingam, S., Newhouse, M., Ramirez, R., Rosenberg, H.F., Foster, P.S. and Matthaei, K.I., 2007. Eosinophils contribute to innate antiviral immunity and promote clearance of respiratory syncytial virus. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology*, *110*(5), pp.1578-1586.

Pichery, M., Mirey, E., Mercier, P., Lefrancais, E., Dujardin, A., Ortega, N. and Girard, J.P., 2012. Endogenous IL-33 is highly expressed in mouse epithelial barrier tissues, lymphoid organs, brain, embryos, and inflamed tissues: in situ analysis using a novel II-33–LacZ gene trap reporter strain. The Journal of Immunology, 188(7), pp.3488-3495.

Pinelli, E., Withagen, C., Fonville, M., Verlaan, A., Dormans, J., Van Loveren, H., Nicoll, G., Maizels, R.M. and Van Der Giessen, J., 2005. Persistent airway hyper-responsiveness and inflammation in Toxocara canis-infected BALB/c mice. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, *35*(6), pp.826-832.

Plitas, G. and Rudensky, A.Y., 2016. Regulatory T cells: differentiation and function. *Cancer immunology research*, *4*(9), pp.721-725.

Pochard, P., Gosset, P., Grangette, C., Andre, C., Tonnel, A.B., Pestel, J. and Mercenier, A., 2002. Lactic acid bacteria inhibit TH2 cytokine production by mononuclear cells from allergic patients. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 110(4), pp.617-623.

Polosukhin, V.V., Cates, J.M., Lawson, W.E., Milstone, A.P., Matafonov, A.G., Massion, P.P., Lee, J.W., Randell, S.H. and Blackwell, T.S., 2011. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 signalling promotes goblet cell hyperplasia in airway epithelium. *The Journal of pathology*, *224*(2), pp.203-211.

Porter, L., Toepfner, N., Bashant, K.R., Guck, J., Ashcroft, M., Farahi, N. and Chilvers, E.R., 2018. Metabolic Profiling of human eosinophils. *Frontiers in immunology*, *9*, p.1404.

Powell, N., Walker, M.M. and Talley, N.J., 2010. Gastrointestinal eosinophils in health, disease and functional disorders. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, 7(3), p.146.

Pozuelo, M., Panda, S., Santiago, A., Mendez, S., Accarino, A., Santos, J., Guarner, F., Azpiroz, F. and Manichanh, C., 2015. Reduction of butyrate-and methane-producing microorganisms in patients with Irritable Bowel Syndrome. *Scientific reports*, *5*, p.12693.

Qiu, Y., Nguyen, K.D., Odegaard, J.I., Cui, X., Tian, X., Locksley, R.M., Palmiter, R.D. and Chawla, A., 2014. Eosinophils and type 2 cytokine signaling in macrophages orchestrate development of functional beige fat. *Cell*, *157*(6), pp.1292-1308.

Raes, G., De Baetselier, P., Noël, W., Beschin, A., Brombacher, F. and Hassanzadeh Gh, G., 2002. Differential expression of FIZZ1 and Ym1 in alternatively versus classically activated macrophages. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, *71*(4), pp.597-602.

Ramirez, G.A., Yacoub, M.R., Ripa, M., Mannina, D., Cariddi, A., Saporiti, N., Ciceri, F., Castagna, A., Colombo, G. and Dagna, L., 2018. Eosinophils from physiology to disease: a comprehensive review. *BioMed research international*, *2018*

Randall, T.D., Lund, F.E., Howard, M.C. and Weissman, I.L., 1996. Expression of murine CD38 defines a population of long-term reconstituting hematopoietic stem cells.

Randolph, D.A., Stephens, R., Carruthers, C.J. and Chaplin, D.D., 1999. Cooperation between Th1 and Th2 cells in a murine model of eosinophilic airway inflammation. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *104*(8), pp.1021-1029.

Rao, V.S.R., Lam, K. and Qasba, P.K., 1998. Three dimensional structure of the soybean agglutinin-Gal/GalNAc complexes by homology modeling. Journal of Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics, 15(5), pp.853-860.

Richards, I.M., Eady, R.P., Jackson, D.M., Orr, T.S., Pritchard, D.I., Vendy, K. and Wells, E., 1983. Ascaris-induced bronchoconstriction in primates experimentally infected with Ascaris suum ova. *Clinical and experimental immunology*, *54*(2), p.461.

Rintoul, R.C., Buttery, R.C., Mackinnon, A.C., Wong, W.S., Mosher, D., Haslett, C. and Sethi, T., 2002. Cross-linking CD98 promotes integrin-like signaling and anchorage-independent growth. *Molecular biology of the cell*, *13*(8), pp.2841-2852.

Rivas, M.N. and Chatila, T.A., 2016. Regulatory T cells in allergic diseases. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 138(3), pp.639-652.

Romagnani, S., 2000. T-cell subsets (Th1 versus Th2). *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 85 (1), 9-18

Rose, C.E., Lannigan, J.A., Kim, P., Lee, J.J., Fu, S.M. and Sun-sang, J.S., 2010. Murine lung eosinophil activation and chemokine production in allergic airway inflammation. *Cellular & molecular immunology*, 7(5), pp.361-374.

Rosenberg, H.F. and Domachowske, J.B., 2001. Eosinophils, eosinophil ribonucleases, and their role in host defense against respiratory virus pathogens. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *70*(5), pp.691-698.

Rosenberg, H.F., Phipps, S. and Foster, P.S., 2007. Eosinophil trafficking in allergy and asthma. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 119(6), pp.1303-1310.

Rosenwasser, L.J., Zimmermann, N., Hershey, G.K., Foster, P.S. and Rothenberg, M.E., 2003. Chemokines in asthma: cooperative interaction between chemokines and IL-13. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 111(2), pp.227-242.

Roufosse, F., 2018. Targeting the interleukin-5 pathway for treatment of eosinophilic conditions other than asthma. Frontiers in medicine, 5, p.49.

Ruane, D., Brane, L., Reis, B.S., Cheong, C., Poles, J., Do, Y., Zhu, H., Velinzon, K., Choi, J.H., Studt, N. and Mayer, L., 2013. Lung dendritic cells induce migration of protective T cells to the gastrointestinal tract. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 210(9), pp.1871-1888.
Saetta, M. and Turato, G., 2001. Airway pathology in asthma. *European Respiratory Journal*, *18*(34 suppl), pp.18s-23s.

Santiago, H.C. and Nutman, T.B., 2016. Human helminths and allergic disease: the hygiene hypothesis and beyond. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 95(4), pp.746-753.

Scaldaferri, F., Vetrano, S., Sans, M., Arena, V., Straface, G., Stigliano, E., Repici, A., Sturm, A., Malesci, A., Panes, J. and Yla–Herttuala, S., 2009. VEGF-A links angiogenesis and inflammation in inflammatory bowel disease pathogenesis. *Gastroenterology*, 136(2), pp.585-595.

Schmitz, J., Owyang, A., Oldham, E., Song, Y., Murphy, E., McClanahan, T.K., Zurawski, G., Moshrefi, M., Qin, J., Li, X. and Gorman, D.M., 2005. IL-33, an interleukin-1-like cytokine that signals via the IL-1 receptor-related protein ST2 and induces T helper type 2-associated cytokines. *Immunity*, 23(5), pp.479-490.

Schroeder, B.O., Birchenough, G.M., Ståhlman, M., Arike, L., Johansson, M.E., Hansson, G.C. and Bäckhed, F., 2018. Bifidobacteria or fiber protects against diet-induced microbiota-mediated colonic mucus deterioration. *Cell host & microbe*, *23*(1), pp.27-40.

Sedhom, M.A., Pichery, M., Murdoch, J.R., Foligné, B., Ortega, N., Normand, S., Mertz, K., Sanmugalingam, D., Brault, L., Grandjean, T. and Lefrancais, E., 2013. Neutralisation of the interleukin-33/ST2 pathway ameliorates experimental colitis through enhancement of mucosal healing in mice. *Gut*, *62*(12), pp.1714-1723.

Seneviratne, S.L., Black, A.P., Jones, L., Di Gleria, K., Bailey, A.S. and Ogg, G.S., 2007. Interleukin-4 promotes human CD8+ T cell expression of CCR7. *Immunology*, *120*(1), pp.66-72.

Serafini, N., Xu, W. and Di Santo, J.P., 2014. Innate lymphoid cells: of precursors and products. *Current Biology*, 24(12), pp. R573-R576.

Sferruzzi-Perri, A.N., Robertson, S.A. and Dent, L.A., 2003. Interleukin-5 transgene expression and eosinophilia are associated with retarded mammary gland development in mice. *Biology of reproduction*, 69(1), pp.224-233.

Shi, H.Z., Humbles, A., Gerard, C., Jin, Z. and Weller, P.F., 2000. Lymph node trafficking and antigen presentation by endobronchial eosinophils. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 105(7), pp.945-953.

Shimokawa, C., Kanaya, T., Hachisuka, M., Ishiwata, K., Hisaeda, H., Kurashima, Y., Kiyono, H., Yoshimoto, T., Kaisho, T. and Ohno, H., 2017. Mast cells are crucial for induction of group 2 innate lymphoid cells and clearance of helminth infections. *Immunity*, *46*(5), pp.863-874.

Shin, M.H., Lee, Y.A. and Min, D.Y., 2009. Eosinophil-mediated tissue inflammatory responses in helminth infection. *The Korean journal of parasitology*, *47*(Suppl), p.S125.

Shirazi, T., Longman, R.J., Corfield, A.P. and Probert, C.S., 2000. Mucins and inflammatory bowel disease. *Postgraduate medical journal*, *76*(898), pp.473-478.

Shreiner, A.B., Kao, J.Y. and Young, V.B., 2015. The gut microbiome in health and in disease. *Current opinion in gastroenterology*, *31*(1), p.69.

Shukla, S.D., Budden, K.F., Neal, R. and Hansbro, P.M., 2017. Microbiome effects on immunity, health and disease in the lung. *Clinical & translational immunology*, *6*(3), p.e133.

Simson, L. and Foster, P.S., 2000. Chemokine and cytokine cooperativity: eosinophil migration in the asthmatic response. *Immunology and cell biology*, *78*(4), pp.415-422.

Sinclair, L.V., Neyens, D., Ramsay, G., Taylor, P.M. and Cantrell, D.A., 2018. Single cell analysis of kynurenine and System L amino acid transport in T cells. *Nature communications*, 9(1), pp.1-11.

Singh, N., Gurav, A., Sivaprakasam, S., Brady, E., Padia, R., Shi, H., Thangaraju, M., Prasad, P.D., Manicassamy, S., Munn, D.H. and Lee, J.R., 2014. Activation of Gpr109a, receptor for niacin and the commensal metabolite butyrate, suppresses colonic inflammation and carcinogenesis. *Immunity*, 40(1), pp.128-139.

Sjöberg, L.C., Nilsson, A.Z., Lei, Y., Gregory, J.A., Adner, M. and Nilsson, G.P., 2017. Interleukin 33 exacerbates antigen driven airway hyperresponsiveness, inflammation and remodeling in a mouse model of asthma. *Scientific reports*, 7(1), pp.1-10.

Slifman, N.R., Loegering, D.A., McKean, D.J. and Gleich, G.J., 1986. Ribonuclease activity associated with human eosinophil-derived neurotoxin and eosinophil cationic protein. *The Journal of Immunology*, *137*(9), pp.2913-2917.

Smith, P.M., Howitt, M.R., Panikov, N., Michaud, M., Gallini, C.A., Bohlooly-Y, M., Glickman, J.N. and Garrett, W.S., 2013. The microbial metabolites, short-chain fatty acids, regulate colonic Treg cell homeostasis. *Science*, 341(6145), pp.569-573.

Sommariva, M., Le Noci, V., Bianchi, F., Camelliti, S., Balsari, A., Tagliabue, E. and Sfondrini, L., 2020. The lung microbiota: role in maintaining pulmonary immune homeostasis and its implications in cancer development and therapy. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, pp.1-11.

Song, C., Luo, L., Lei, Z., Li, B., Liang, Z., Liu, G., Li, D., Zhang, G., Huang, B. and Feng, Z.H., 2008. IL-17-producing alveolar macrophages mediate allergic lung inflammation related to asthma. *The Journal of Immunology*, 181(9), pp.6117-6124.

Song, X., Ju, H., Lasanajak, Y., Kudelka, M.R., Smith, D.F. and Cummings, R.D., 2016. Oxidative release of natural glycans for functional glycomics. *Nature methods*, *13*(6), pp.528-534.

Spangrude, G.J., Heimfeld, S. and Weissman, I.L., 1988. Purification and characterization of mouse hematopoietic stem cells. Science, 241(4861), pp.58-62.

Spencer, L.A. and Weller, P.F., 2010. Eosinophils and Th2 immunity: contemporary insights. *Immunology and cell biology*, *88*(3), pp.250-256.

Stock, P., DeKruyff, R.H. and Umetsu, D.T., 2006. Inhibition of the allergic response by regulatory T cells. *Current opinion in allergy and clinical immunology*, *6*(1), pp.12-16.

Stokes, K., Wood, A. and August, A., 2015. The microbiome regulates the eosinophil requirement for development of allergic lung inflammation (HYP2P. 337).

Stolarski, B., Kurowska-Stolarska, M., Kewin, P., Xu, D. and Liew, F.Y., 2010. IL-33 exacerbates eosinophil-mediated airway inflammation. *The Journal of Immunology*, *185*(6), pp.3472-3480.

Subbarao, P., Mandhane, P.J. and Sears, M.R., 2009. Asthma: epidemiology, etiology and risk factors. *Cmaj*, 181(9), pp.E181-E190.

Sugawara, R., Lee, E.J., Jang, M.S., Jeun, E.J., Hong, C.P., Kim, J.H., Park, A., Yun, C.H., Hong, S.W., Kim, Y.M. and Seoh, J.Y., 2016. Small intestinal eosinophils regulate Th17 cells by producing IL-1 receptor antagonist. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *213*(4), pp.555-567.

Sugaya, H., Abe, T. and Yoshimura, K., 2001. Eosinophils in the cerebrospinal fluid of mice infected with Angiostrongylus cantonensis are resistant to apoptosis. *International journal for parasitology*, *31*(14), pp.1649-1658.

Sutherland, T.E., Logan, N., Rückerl, D., Humbles, A.A., Allan, S.M., Papayannopoulos, V., Stockinger, B., Maizels, R.M. and Allen, J.E., 2014. Chitinase-like proteins promote IL-17-

mediated neutrophilia in a tradeoff between nematode killing and host damage. *Nature immunology*, *15*(12), p.1116.

Sutherland, T.E., Rückerl, D., Logan, N., Duncan, S., Wynn, T.A. and Allen, J.E., 2018. Ym1 induces RELMα and rescues IL-4Rα deficiency in lung repair during nematode infection. *PLoS pathogens*, *14*(11), p.e1007423.

Suzuki, M., Hara, M., Ichikawa, S., Kamijo, S., Nakazawa, T., Hatanaka, H., Akiyama, K., Ogawa, H., Okumura, K. and Takai, T., 2016. Presensitization to Ascaris antigens promotes induction of mite-specific IgE upon mite antigen inhalation in mice. *Allergology International*, *65*(1), pp.44-51.

Sze, M.A., Tsuruta, M., Yang, S.W.J., Oh, Y., Man, S.P., Hogg, J.C. and Sin, D.D., 2014. Changes in the bacterial microbiota in gut, blood, and lungs following acute LPS instillation into mice lungs. *PloS one*, *9*(10).

Takai, T., 2012. TSLP expression: cellular sources, triggers, and regulatory mechanisms. *Allergology International*, *61*(1), pp.3-17.

Tan, J., McKenzie, C., Potamitis, M., Thorburn, A.N., Mackay, C.R. and Macia, L., 2014. The role of short-chain fatty acids in health and disease. In *Advances in immunology* (Vol. 121, pp. 91-119). Academic Press.

Taylor, C.T. and Colgan, S.P., 2007. Hypoxia and gastrointestinal disease. *Journal of molecular medicine*, *85*(12), pp.1295-1300.

Theiler, A., Bärnthaler, T., Platzer, W., Richtig, G., Peinhaupt, M., Rittchen, S., Kargl, J., Ulven, T., Marsh, L.M., Marsche, G. and Schuligoi, R., 2019. Butyrate ameliorates allergic airway inflammation by limiting eosinophil trafficking and survival. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 144(3), pp.764-776.

Thio, C.L.P., Chi, P.Y., Lai, A.C.Y. and Chang, Y.J., 2018. Regulation of type 2 innate lymphoid cell–dependent airway hyperreactivity by butyrate. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 142(6), pp.1867-1883.

Thompson-Souza, G.A., Gropillo, I. and Neves, J.S., 2017. Cysteinyl leukotrienes in eosinophil biology: functional roles and therapeutic perspectives in eosinophilic disorders. Frontiers in medicine, 4, p.106.

Thorburn, A.N., McKenzie, C.I., Shen, S.J., Stanley, D., Macia, L., Mason, L.J., Roberts, L.K., Wong, C.H., Shim, R., Robert, R. and Chevalier, N., 2015. Evidence that asthma is a

developmental origin disease influenced by maternal diet and bacterial metabolites. *Nature communications,* 6(1), pp.1-13.

Thorburn, A.N., Tseng, H.Y., Donovan, C., Hansbro, N.G., Jarnicki, A.G., Foster, P.S., Gibson, P.G. and Hansbro, P.M., 2016. TLR2, TLR4 and MyD88 mediate allergic airway disease (AAD) and Streptococcus pneumoniae-induced suppression of AAD. *PloS one*, *11*(6).

Timmons, B.C., Fairhurst, A.M. and Mahendroo, M.S., 2009. Temporal changes in myeloid cells in the cervix during pregnancy and parturition. *The Journal of immunology*, *182*(5), pp.2700-2707.

To, T., Stanojevic, S., Moores, G., Gershon, A.S., Bateman, E.D., Cruz, A.A. and Boulet, L.P., 2012. Global asthma prevalence in adults: findings from the cross-sectional world health survey. *BMC public health*, *12*(1), pp.1-8.

Toh, Z.Q., Anzela, A., Tang, M.L. and Licciardi, P.V., 2012. Probiotic therapy as a novel approach for allergic disease. *Frontiers in pharmacology*, *3*, p.171.

Tomkinson, A., Duez, C., Cieslewicz, G. and Gelfand, E.W., 2001. Eotaxin-1-deficient mice develop airway eosinophilia and airway hyperresponsiveness. *International archives of allergy and immunology*, *126*(2), pp.119-125.

Trolle, S., Chachaty, E., Kassis-Chikhani, N., Wang, C., Fattal, E., Couvreur, P., Diamond, B., Alonso, J.M. and Andremont, A., 2000. Intranasal immunization with protein-linked phosphorylcholine protects mice against a lethal intranasal challenge with Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Vaccine*, *18*(26), pp.2991-2998.

Trompette, A., Gollwitzer, E.S., Pattaroni, C., Lopez-Mejia, I.C., Riva, E., Pernot, J., Ubags, N., Fajas, L., Nicod, L.P. and Marsland, B.J., 2018. Dietary fiber confers protection against flu by shaping Ly6c- patrolling monocyte hematopoiesis and CD8+ T cell metabolism. *Immunity*, *48*(5), pp.992-1005.

Trompette, A., Gollwitzer, E.S., Yadava, K., Sichelstiel, A.K., Sprenger, N., Ngom-Bru, C., Blanchard, C., Junt, T., Nicod, L.P., Harris, N.L. and Marsland, B.J., 2014. Gut microbiota metabolism of dietary fiber influences allergic airway disease and hematopoiesis. *Nature medicine*, *20*(2), p.159.

Tsang, M.S.M., Cheng, S.W., Zhu, J., Atli, K., Chan, B.C.L., Liu, D., Chan, H.Y.T., Sun, X., Chu, I.M.T., Hon, K.L. and Lam, C.W.K., 2018. Anti-Inflammatory Activities of Pentaherbs formula and Its Influence on Gut Microbiota in Allergic Asthma. *Molecules*, *23*(11), p.2776.

Tsuzuki, H., Arinobu, Y., Miyawaki, K., Takaki, A., Ota, S.I., Ota, Y., Mitoma, H., Akahoshi, M., Mori, Y., Iwasaki, H. and Niiro, H., 2017. Functional interleukin-33 receptors are expressed in early progenitor stages of allergy-related granulocytes. *Immunology*, 150(1), pp.64-73.

Tulic, M.K., Piche, T. and Verhasselt, V., 2016. Lung–gut cross-talk: evidence, mechanisms and implications for the mucosal inflammatory diseases. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, *46*(4), pp.519-528.

Tulic, M.K., Vivinus-Nébot, M., Rekima, A., Medeiros, S.R., Bonnart, C., Shi, H., Walker, A., Dainese, R., Boyer, J., Vergnolle, N. and Piche, T., 2016. Presence of commensal house dust mite allergen in human gastrointestinal tract: a potential contributor to intestinal barrier dysfunction. *Gut*, 65(5), pp.757-766.

Tunaru, S., Kero, J., Schaub, A., Wufka, C., Blaukat, A., Pfeffer, K. and Offermanns, S., 2003. PUMA-G and HM74 are receptors for nicotinic acid and mediate its anti-lipolytic effect. *Nature medicine*, *9*(3), pp.352-355.

Uhm, T.G., Kim, B.S. and Chung, I.Y., 2012. Eosinophil development, regulation of eosinophilspecific genes, and role of eosinophils in the pathogenesis of asthma. *Allergy, asthma & immunology research*, *4*(2), p.68.

Ulfman, L.H., Joosten, D.P., van der Linden, J.A., Lammers, J.W.J., Zwaginga, J.J. and Koenderman, L., 2001. IL-8 induces a transient arrest of rolling eosinophils on human endothelial cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, *166*(1), pp.588-595.

van den Biggelaar, A.H., van Ree, R., Rodrigues, L.C., Lell, B., Deelder, A.M., Kremsner, P.G. and Yazdanbakhsh, M., 2000. Decreased atopy in children infected with Schistosoma haematobium: a role for parasite-induced interleukin-10. *The Lancet*, *356*(9243), pp.1723-1727.

van Schayck, O.C., 2013. Global strategies for reducing the burden from asthma. *Primary Care Respiratory Journal*, 22(2), pp.239-243.

van Tilburg Bernardes, E. and Arrieta, M.C., 2017. Hygiene hypothesis in asthma development: is hygiene to blame?. *Archives of medical research*, 48(8), pp.717-726.

Varsano, S., Segev, D. and Shitrit, D., 2017. Severe and non-severe asthma in the community: a large electronic database analysis. *Respiratory medicine*, *123*, pp.131-139.

Vercelli, D., 2008. Discovering susceptibility genes for asthma and allergy. *Nature reviews immunology*, *8*(3), pp.169-182.

Verheijden, K.A., Henricks, P.A., Redegeld, F.A., Garssen, J. and Folkerts, G., 2014. Measurement of airway function using invasive and non-invasive methods in mild and severe models for allergic airway inflammation in mice. *Frontiers in pharmacology*, *5*, p.190.

Vermeer, P.D., Harson, R., Einwalter, L.A., Moninger, T. and Zabner, J., 2003. Interleukin-9 induces goblet cell hyperplasia during repair of human airway epithelia. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*, 28(3), pp.286-295.

Waddell, A., Ahrens, R., Steinbrecher, K., Donovan, B., Rothenberg, M.E., Munitz, A. and Hogan, S.P., 2011. Colonic eosinophilic inflammation in experimental colitis is mediated by Ly6Chigh CCR2+ inflammatory monocyte/macrophage-derived CCL11. *The Journal of Immunology*, *186*(10), pp.5993-6003.

Walker, A.W., Duncan, S.H., Leitch, E.C.M., Child, M.W. and Flint, H.J., 2005. pH and peptide supply can radically alter bacterial populations and short-chain fatty acid ratios within microbial communities from the human colon. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, *71*(7), pp.3692-3700.

Walsh, E.R., Stokes, K. and August, A., 2010. The role of eosinophils in allergic airway inflammation. *Discovery medicine*, *9*(47), pp.357-362.

Wang, H., Liu, J.S., Peng, S.H., Deng, X.Y., Zhu, D.M., Javidiparsijani, S., Wang, G.R., Li, D.Q., Li, L.X., Wang, Y.C. and Luo, J.M., 2013. Gut-lung crosstalk in pulmonary involvement with inflammatory bowel diseases. *World Journal of Gastroenterology: WJG*, *19*(40), p.6794.

Wang, H., Ochkur, S.I., McGarry, M.P., O'Neill, K.R., Colbert, D.C., Cormier, S.A., Lee, N.A., Shen, H.H. and Lee, J.J., 2004. CD69 expression on eosinophils is a marker of activation in the lung following allergen provocation. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *113*(2), p.S188.

Wang, H.B. and Weller, P.F., 2008. Pivotal advance: eosinophils mediate early alum adjuvantelicited B cell priming and IgM production. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, *83*(4), pp.817-821.

Wang, J., Li, F., Wei, H., Lian, Z.X., Sun, R. and Tian, Z., 2014. Respiratory influenza virus infection induces intestinal immune injury via microbiota-mediated Th17 cell–dependent inflammation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *211*(12), pp.2397-2410.

Wang, J. and Jia, H., 2016. Metagenome-wide association studies: fine-mining the microbiome. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, *14*(8), pp.508-522.

Wang, J., 2018. Neutrophils in tissue injury and repair. *Cell and tissue research*, 371(3), pp.531-539.

Wang, M., Gao, P., Wu, X., Chen, Y., Feng, Y., Yang, Q., Xu, Y., Zhao, J. and Xie, J., 2016. Impaired anti-inflammatory action of glucocorticoid in neutrophil from patients with steroidresistant asthma. *Respiratory research*, *17*(1), p.153.

Watanabe, N., Tamauchi, H., Ozawa, H., Ito, M., Ovary, Z. and Habu, S., 2003. Th2 immune responses in GATA-3-transgenic mice infected with Heligmosomoides polygyrus. *International archives of allergy and immunology*, *131*(Suppl. 1), pp.11-14.

Weatherhead, J.E., Porter, P., Coffey, A., Haydel, D., Versteeg, L., Zhan, B., Guimarães, A.C.G., Fujiwara, R., Jaramillo, A.M., Bottazzi, M.E. and Hotez, P.J., 2018. Ascaris larval infection and lung invasion directly induce severe allergic airway disease in mice. *Infection and immunity*, *86*(12).

Weber, J., Illi, S., Nowak, D., Schierl, R., Holst, O., von Mutius, E. and Ege, M.J., 2015. Asthma and the hygiene hypothesis. Does cleanliness matter?. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, 191(5), pp.522-529.

Wechsler, M.E., Fulkerson, P.C., Bochner, B.S., Gauvreau, G.M., Gleich, G.J., Henkel, T., Kolbeck, R., Mathur, S.K., Ortega, H., Patel, J. and Prussin, C., 2012. Novel targeted therapies for eosinophilic disorders. *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, 130(3), pp.563-571.

Wei, L., Laurence, A., Elias, K.M. and O'Shea, J.J., 2007. IL-21 is produced by Th17 cells and drives IL-17 production in a STAT3-dependent manner. *Journal of biological chemistry*, 282(48), pp.34605-34610.

Weller, P., Spencer, L., 2017. Functions of tissue-resident eosinophils. *Nat Rev Immunol* 17, 746–760

Wen, T. and Rothenberg, M.E., 2017. The regulatory function of eosinophils. *Myeloid Cells in Health and Disease: A Synthesis*, pp.257-269.

Wesemann, D.R. and Nagler, C.R., 2016. The microbiome, timing, and barrier function in the context of allergic disease. *Immunity*, *44*(4), pp.728-738.

West, C.E., Renz, H., Jenmalm, M.C., Kozyrskyj, A.L., Allen, K.J., Vuillermin, P., Prescott, S.L., MacKay, C., Salminen, S., Wong, G. and Sinn, J., 2015. The gut microbiota and inflammatory noncommunicable diseases: associations and potentials for gut microbiota therapies. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *135*(1), pp.3-13.

Willebrand, R. and Voehringer, D., 2016. IL-33-induced cytokine secretion and survival of mouse eosinophils is promoted by autocrine GM-CSF. *PloS one*, 11(9).

Willemsen, L.E.M., Koetsier, M.A., Van Deventer, S.J.H. and Van Tol, E.A.F., 2003. Short chain fatty acids stimulate epithelial mucin 2 expression through differential effects on prostaglandin E1 and E2 production by intestinal myofibroblasts. *Gut*, *52*(10), pp.1442-1447.

Willetts, L., Parker, K., Wesselius, L.J., Protheroe, C.A., Jaben, E., Graziano, P., Moqbel, R., Leslie, K.O., Lee, N.A. and Lee, J.J., 2011. Immunodetection of occult eosinophils in lung tissue biopsies may help predict survival in acute lung injury. *Respiratory research*, *12*(1), p.116.

Wilson, M.S., Taylor, M.D., Balic, A., Finney, C.A., Lamb, J.R. and Maizels, R.M., 2005. Suppression of allergic airway inflammation by helminth-induced regulatory T cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, *202*(9), pp.1199-1212.

Wilson, T.M., Maric, I., Shukla, J., Brown, M., Santos, C., Simakova, O., Khoury, P., Fay, M.P., Kozhich, A., Kolbeck, R. and Metcalfe, D.D., 2011. IL-5 receptor α levels in patients with marked eosinophilia or mastocytosis. *Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, 128(5), pp.1086-1092.

Withers, S.B., Forman, R., Meza-Perez, S., Sorobetea, D., Sitnik, K., Hopwood, T., Lawrence, C.B., Agace, W.W., Else, K.J., Heagerty, A.M. and Svensson-Frej, M., 2017. Eosinophils are key regulators of perivascular adipose tissue and vascular functionality. *Scientific reports*, *7*, p.44571.

Woerly, G., Roger, N., Loiseau, S., Dombrowicz, D., Capron, A. and Capron, M., 1999. Expression of CD28 and CD86 by human eosinophils and role in the secretion of type 1 cytokines (interleukin 2 and interferon γ) inhibition by immunoglobulin a complexes. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, *190*(4), pp.487-496.

Wong, T.W., Doyle, A.D., Lee, J.J. and Jelinek, D.F., 2014. Eosinophils regulate peripheral B cell numbers in both mice and humans. *The Journal of Immunology*, *192*(8), pp.3548-3558.

Wu, D., Molofsky, A.B., Liang, H.E., Ricardo-Gonzalez, R.R., Jouihan, H.A., Bando, J.K., Chawla, A. and Locksley, R.M., 2011. Eosinophils sustain adipose alternatively activated macrophages associated with glucose homeostasis. *Science*, 332(6026), pp.243-247.

Wu, W., Sun, M., Chen, F., Cao, A.T., Liu, H., Zhao, Y., Huang, X., Xiao, Y., Yao, S., Zhao, Q. and Liu, Z., 2017. Microbiota metabolite short-chain fatty acid acetate promotes intestinal IgA response to microbiota which is mediated by GPR43. *Mucosal immunology*, *10*(4), pp.946-956.

Wynn, T.A., 2015. Type 2 cytokines: mechanisms and therapeutic strategies. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *15*(5), pp.271-282.

Wynn, T.A., Chawla, A. and Pollard, J.W., 2013. Macrophage biology in development, homeostasis and disease. *Nature*, *496*(7446), pp.445-455.

Xenakis, J.J., Howard, E.D., Smith, K.M., Olbrich, C.L., Huang, Y., Anketell, D., Maldonado, S., Cornwell, E.W. and Spencer, L.A., 2018. Resident intestinal eosinophils constitutively express antigen presentation markers and include two phenotypically distinct subsets of eosinophils. *Immunology*, *154*(2), pp.298-308.

Xu, Y., Wang, N., Tan, H.Y., Li, S., Zhang, C. and Feng, Y., 2020. Function of Akkermansia muciniphila in Obesity: Interactions With Lipid Metabolism, Immune Response and Gut Systems. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *11*, p.219.

Xue, F.M., Zhang, H.P., Hao, H.J., Shi, Z.Y., Zhou, C., Feng, B. and Yang, P.C., 2012. CD98 positive eosinophils contribute to T helper 1 pattern inflammation. *PloS one*, *7*(12).

Yamabayashi, S., 1987. Periodic acid—Schiff—Alcian Blue: A method for the differential staining of glycoproteins. *The Histochemical Journal*, *19*(10-11), pp.565-571.

Yang, X., Li, H., Ma, Q., Zhang, Q. and Wang, C., 2018. Neutrophilic asthma is associated with increased airway bacterial burden and disordered community composition. *BioMed research international*, 2018.

Yang, Y., Loy, J., Ryseck, R.P., Carrasco, D. and Bravo, R., 1998. Antigen-induced eosinophilic lung inflammation develops in mice deficient in chemokine eotaxin. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology*, *92*(10), pp.3912-3923.

Yerlikaya, S., Meusburger, M., Kumari, R., Huber, A., Anrather, D., Costanzo, M., Boone, C., Ammerer, G., Baranov, P.V. and Loewith, R., 2016. TORC1 and TORC2 work together to regulate ribosomal protein S6 phosphorylation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Molecular biology of the cell*, *27*(2), pp.397-409.

Yousefi, S., Gold, J.A., Andina, N., Lee, J.J., Kelly, A.M., Kozlowski, E., Schmid, I., Straumann, A., Reichenbach, J., Gleich, G.J. and Simon, H.U., 2008. Catapult-like release of mitochondrial DNA by eosinophils contributes to antibacterial defense. *Nature medicine*, *14*(9), pp.949-953.

Yu, C., Cantor, A.B., Yang, H., Browne, C., Wells, R.A., Fujiwara, Y. and Orkin, S.H., 2002. Targeted deletion of a high-affinity GATA-binding site in the GATA-1 promoter leads to selective loss of the eosinophil lineage in vivo. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, *195*(11), pp.1387-1395.

Yu, Q.L. and Chen, Z., 2018. Establishment of different experimental asthma models in mice. *Experimental and therapeutic medicine*, *15*(3), pp.2492-2498.

Zaiss, M.M., Rapin, A., Lebon, L., Dubey, L.K., Mosconi, I., Sarter, K., Piersigilli, A., Menin, L., Walker, A.W., Rougemont, J. and Paerewijck, O., 2015. The intestinal microbiota contributes to the ability of helminths to modulate allergic inflammation. *Immunity*, *43*(5), pp.998-1010.

Zandi-Nejad, K., Takakura, A., Jurewicz, M., Chandraker, A.K., Offermanns, S., Mount, D. and Abdi, R., 2013. The role of HCAR2 (GPR109A) in regulating macrophage function. *The FASEB journal*, *27*(11), pp.4366-4374.

Zhang, D., Li, S., Wang, N., Tan, H.Y., Zhang, Z. and Feng, Y., 2020. The Cross-Talk Between Gut Microbiota and Lungs in Common Lung Diseases. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 11.

Zhang, M., Angata, T., Cho, J.Y., Miller, M., Broide, D.H. and Varki, A., 2007. Defining the in vivo function of Siglec-F, a CD33-related Siglec expressed on mouse eosinophils. *Blood*, *109*(10), pp.4280-4287.

Zhang, N. and Bevan, M.J., 2011. CD8+ T cells: foot soldiers of the immune system. Immunity, 35(2), pp.161-168.

Zhang, Y.L., Han, D.H., Kim, D.Y., Lee, C.H. and Rhee, C.S., 2017. Role of Interleukin-17A on the chemotactic responses to ccl7 in a murine allergic rhinitis model. *PloS one*, 12(1).

Zhou, G.X. and Liu, Z.J., 2017. Potential roles of neutrophils in regulating intestinal mucosal inflammation of inflammatory bowel disease. *Journal of digestive diseases*, 18(9), pp.495-503.

Zhou, X. and Moore, B.B., 2017. Lung section staining and microscopy. *Bio-protocol*, 7(10).

Zhu, C., Xia, L., Li, F., Zhou, L., Weng, Q., Li, Z., Wu, Y., Mao, Y., Zhang, C., Wu, Y. and Li, M., 2018. mTOR complexes differentially orchestrates eosinophil development in allergy. *Scientific reports*, *8*(1), pp.1-14.

Zhu, J., 2017. GATA3 regulates the development and functions of innate lymphoid cell subsets at multiple stages. *Frontiers in immunology*, *8*, p.1571.

Zimmermann, N., McBride, M.L., Yamada, Y., Hudson, S.A., Jones, C., Cromie, K.D., Crocker, P.R., Rothenberg, M.E. and Bochner, B.S., 2008. Siglec-F antibody administration to mice selectively reduces blood and tissue eosinophils. *Allergy*, 63(9), pp.1156-1163.

Zosky, G.R., Von Garnier, C., Stumbles, P.A., Holt, P.G., Sly, P.D. and Turner, D.J., 2004. The pattern of methacholine responsiveness in mice is dependent on antigen challenge dose. *Respiratory research*, *5*(1), p.15.